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We have partnered with CarbonClick to help our passengers offset the carbon from their journeys
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Chair’s foreword

This year has been characterised by
changing international travel rules as
governments around the world navigated
their way through vaccination programmes
and new variants.

We should not forget that, at the beginning
of the 2021/22 financial year, overseas
leisure travel was illegal. As the year began,
MAG jeined calls from across the industry for
a clear roadmap to the removal of
restrictions when conditions allowed.

While the eventual introduction of the
Government’s Traffic Light System was a
positive development, successive changes to
the framework created uncertainty and
undermined consumer confidence for large
parts of the year. That was reflected in
significantly suppressed passenger volumes
at all airperts, including those operated

by MAG.

The easing of travel rules, due in no small
part to the success of the UK's vaccination
programme, led to a spike in traffic. MAG
saw passenger volumes reach 58% of pre-
pandemic levels heading into November.

However, the emergence of the Omicron
variant set back the recovery of the aviation
sector once more. A new set of temporary
restrictions saw confidence knocked again in
the run up to Christmas.

This constantly shifting landscape created
unprecedented challenges for our
management teams, but we were pleased to
play a leading role within our industry in
demonstrating the case for testing and
quarantine requirements being removed
entirely, which was confirmed during the final
quarter of the period.
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| am encouraged that the Government has
indicated that such restrictions are more
likely than not to remain a thing of the past.
This direction of travel has given consumers
the confidence to kick-start aviation’s
recovery.

While recovering at rapid pace has brought
some challenges, as a Board we are looking
forward to working with the management
team to lead a strong recovery, maximising
our wider contribution to the communities
and regions we serve,

With that recovery already well underway, we
remain committed to playing a leading role
in the decarbonisation of aviation. We

are pleased to report a series of key
developments in that arena, which will

help us work towards our overall ambition
making MAG’s airport operations net zerc

carben by 2038.

In parallel, we look forward to the 4 1st
Assembly of the International Civil Aviation
Organisation {ICAQ) later this year, and the
prospect of a global commitment to
achieving net zero aviation.



None of these achievements — the work to
protect the business through the pandemic,
the drive to support the recovery, and the
investment in the future of our business and
our sector — would be possible without the
tireless commitment of everyone at MAG.

The Board and | want to put on record our
thanks to everyone who has supported the
business through this challenging year.

| also want to personally thank Sir Richard
Leese, who stood down from our Board and
as the Leader of Manchester City Council in
late 2021. He has made an extraordinary
contribution to our company, Greater
Manchester and the whole of the MNorth. We
wish him well for the future and look forward
to working just as closely with his successor,

Cllr Bev Craig.
o
[ Mo

Sir Adrian Montague CBE

UEPARTun55

We opened our new Terminal 2 extension at Manchester Airport on 14 July 2021
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Chief Executive’s introduction

For the second censecutive year, this report
paints a picture of an aviation sector that was
severely impacted by the international travel
restrictions introduced in response to the
coronavirus pandemic.

At the start of April 2021, all non-essential
travel te and from the UK was prohibited,
with many of MAG's most important markets
effectively closed. We were joined by others
in our industry in calling for a risk-based
approach to restrictions, so that travel to
different markets could be opened up
depending on factors such as case rates and
vaccination levels.

The Government's Global Travel Taskforce
responded to this with its “traffic light
system,” which categorised countries as red,
amber or green, with different restrictions
applying in each case. While this appeared a
positive development, a succession of
changes — both to the categories themselves
and to the countries within each designation
— continued to cause uncertainty for the
industry and consumers.

This meant that, for long periods of this year,
passenger volumes remained significantly
lower than they were pre-pandemic, with
British travellers often subject to maore
stringent controls than those experienced in
other countries. These measures resulted in a
slower recovery in demand over Summer
2021 compared to most European countries.

The eventual relaxation of restrictions, in
eorly October, had an almost immediate
positive impact on demand. MAG's recovery
at this time outstripped that of much of the
UK market, underlining the strength of our
proposition and the pent-up demand

for travel.
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However, the emergence and rapid spread
of the Omicron variant in November

hindered the sector’s recovery once more,
with the temporary re-introduction of
complex, multi-stage testing requirements for
people travelling to the UK. This change
dramatically reduced passenger volumes and
impacted our ability to plan ahead for a

meaningful recovery.

Faced with these challenges, we were at the
forefront of research to demonstrate the
ineffectiveness of testing and quarantine
requirements in preventing the spread of new
variants, and highlight the significant
economic impact caused by holding back the
recovery of aviation.

The Government recognised these findings
when it removed the remaining restrictions
for fully vaccinated passengers at the turn of
the calendar year, while also indicating such
controls will only be re-introduced in
exceptional circumstances.



This development sparked a rapid return of
demand to the market, with passenger
numbers rising sharply towards the end of the
tinancial year. That trend has continued into

the new period, with traffic across MAG in
April 2022 reaching 80% of 2019 levels.

Like all airports across the UK, it has been
challenging to build back our staffing levels
quickly enough to meet this returning
demand. This has meant we have at times
seen disruption at some of our airports. But
our major recruitment campaigns at all three
MAG airports are delivering results, and we
expect to have the resources we need in
place ahead of the busy summer season.

The fact this improved outlook only
materialised in the final month of the
financial year means it has had limited
impact on the performance of the Group
during the period covered by this report.

Passenger volumes across the Group in
FY22 were 20.5m. While this was up on the
6.3m served in FY21, it was still significantly
lower than the 5%.6m recorded in FY20.

Group revenue climbed to £462.Tm, up
from £178.6m in the prior year. Importantly,
MAG returned to positive adjusted EBITDA*
of £125.6m during the period, compared to
a £149.4m loss in FY21.

While international passenger travel was
heavily restricted for most of the year, it is
worth recognising the strong performance of
our airports when it comes fo cargo, most
notably East Midlands, the largest airport in
the UK for freight-only {lights.
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Despite suppressed passenger volumes, we
took the decision to open the extension of
Manchester’s Terminal Two — the centrepiece
of cur £1bn Transtormation Programme — in

July 2021.

Feedback from our passengers and
colleagues about the new facility has been
very positive and, as the year progressed, a
growing number of airlines have moved into
the terminal. New retailers and tood and
beverage operators have also

opened, adding to the enhanced

passenger experience.

MAG also continued to invest in its
infrastructure, paving the way for a strong
recovery in the new financial year. This
included the delivery of a new £70m
baggage system at London Stansted. We
also secured approval for the next phase of
growth at London Stansted, with permission
granted by the Planning Inspectorate in May
2021 to increase the airport’s passenger
capacity from 35 to 43 million passengers
per year.

We are always on the lookout for new ways
we can add value for customers as they
travel. That curiosity and innovation is what
has led us to develop new products
throughout the airport experience, such as
airport hospitality, car parking and digital
booking engines — and to deploy these

not only at our three airports but around
the world.

This year we have taken the next step on that
journey with the creation of our new global
distribution agency, CAVU. We are excited
about the potential this new venture has to
offer both for MAG and cur partners in the
wider travel sector.

* Adjusted EBITD A s explained on page 1638



The past two years have been exceptionally
difficult and we know that our recovery over
the coming months will not be without its
challenges. Our immediate focus is on
rebuilding resource in our operation but we
cannot ignore the strategic risks presented by
external tactors such as geopolitical stability
and the war in Ukraine, the growing cost of
living crisis here in the UK, and the relative
insecurity of energy and fuel supplies. We are
monitoring these and other risks closely to
ensure we are ready for any further
disruption we might face in due course.

Throughout this year, we have maintained
our focus on building a sustainable future for
our business. We remain committed to
decarbonising aviation and are on track to
achieve our goal of net zero for our
operations by 2038.

More detail is contained in the relevant
section of this report, but it is important to
note several key developments including the
launch of a partnership with CarbonClick,
which gives all MAG passengers the chance
to offset the emissions of their flights; and the
signing of a Memorandum of Understanding
with Fulerum BioEnergy UK to support the
development of Sustainable Aviation Fuel

(SAF) in the North West.
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We also remain committed to supperting the
communities that surround our airports. We
were pleased to re-open our Aerozone
education facilities, which were forced to
close during the pandemic. Our Airport
Academies have also played a critical role in
giving local jobseekers access to the
thousands of job opportunities being created
as our airports recover.

Finally, 1 would like to thank all MAG
employees for their hard work and
dedication during what has been another
extremely challenging year for our industry.
We are confident of a bright future for MAG
as we continue on our recavery journey, and
our people sit at the heart of our plans to
achieve that.

G\ar?eh \/ Em'qL

Charlie Cornish



MAG at a glance
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Our strategy

QOur business

At MAG, we believe that our core purpose is
to provide the airpon facilities and travel
services that people need to connect

with the world.

The last two years of CQOVID-19 related
disruption have shown just how important air
travel is to modern living. The freedom to
travel to see friends and family, to meet with
colleagues and customers, and to
experience different cultures brings with it
enormous benefits.

By connecting people and places, air travel
supports economic and social development
at a global, national and local fevel.
Projections are for the demand for air travel
to continue to increase both in the UK and
overseas, with more of the world’s
population able to take advantage of the
benefits of international connectivity.

Advances in technology will play a pivotal
role in supporting the future of air travel.
They will be essential in enabling air travel to
decarbonise and achieve net zero by 2050,
driving significant improvements in aircraft
design and the development of alternatives
to fossil fuels. Decarbonisation will be the
aviation industry’s biggest single challenge in
the years ahead. To succeed, governments
and aviation businesses will need to work
together at a global level to make air travel
truly sustainable and enable future
generations to benefit in the same way that
current generations have.
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We are looking forward to air travel
becoming even easier and more pleasant
than it is today, so that people can spend
more time relaxing and doing the

things they enjoy.

At a local level, the way we operate our
airports really matters to people living in
surrounding communities and regions. We
recognise how important it is to listen to local
voices on a range of local impacts, such as
noise and congestion. We know that these
issues must be managed carefully and
responsibly to minimise the impact on those
living nearby.

Qur girports also provide employment, skills
and career opportunities for their local areas
and support economic growth and
investment in their regions by providing
connectivity to international markets. We
want our airports to be brilliant and diverse
places to work and build a career, fully
representing the communities they serve.

Taken together, these issues are the key
influences on how we run our business and
provide the context for our strategy.



Our stakeholders

We recognise that the way we fulfil our
purpose is important fo a wide range of
stakeholders, including:

» the passengers and businesses who
rely on our airports to provide the
services they need to connect with
the world

o the airlines that we work in partnership
with to develop new routes and
services for our passengers

o colleagues — both our own and those
of partners operating on our sites —
who work at our airports today in a
wide range of skilled rofes, as well as
people seeking employment and
looking to build careers in aviation

¢ the communities who are impacted
by operational activities at each
of our airports

¢ the regional economies that prosper
through our supply chains and sectors
of the UK economy that our airports
suppont, such as tourism and
leisure services

We are clear that we will create shareholder
value by managing and developing our
business in a responsible and sustainable
way that recognises the needs of all our
stakeholders and maintains the highest
standards of safety and security.
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Qur strategic goals

The Group's strategy is designed to create
sustainable value for our shareholders,
customers and other stakeholders.

Qur strategy responds to the leng-term
outloak for the Group outlined above, and
is focused on delivering four strategic goals:

Enakle air travel

Serve passengers by offering facilities and
travel services that provide a seamless and
enjoyable airport experience

Leverage technology to create products and
services that make air travel even easier
and more enjoyable

Deliver value and remain competitive to
attract airlines and passengers

Generate shareholder value

Generate shareholder value by developing
o strong, growing and sustainable business

Provide a compelling investment
proposition for shareholders by
developing profitable and sustainable
growth opportunities

Operate safely and responsibly

Operate airports in a safe and responsible
way to protect customers, staff, the
environment and local communities

Achieve net zero*

Work with our partners and government to
reach net zero emissions for our operations

by 2038, and for the wider UK aviation
industry by 2050

¢ Mare detail on our plan to deliver this goal 1s set oot in o
CSR Strategy, "Vorking together for a brighter tuture”



In the short term, we will also focus on our
recovery from the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic, which has had a significant
adverse impact on the performance of the
Group over the last two years.

In the years leading up to the pandemic, the
Group delivered sustained growth in
shareholder value, significant investment in
new facilities and improved levels of
customer service. Through this recovery
period, we will lock to drive the Group back
to previous levels of performance

as soon as we can,

This will include working with airlines to grow
passenger numbers and the choice of
services available from our airports.

it will also mean recruiting hundreds of new
colleagues to deliver an improved passenger
experience and bringing forward

investment in new facilities to enable

longer term growth,

As we move through this period, we will
progressively increase our focus on driving
forward our long-term strategic agenda and
lock for opportunities to grow shareholder
returns through the development of new
solutions and products to secure future
revenue streams. We will seek out
opportunities to work with others to drive the
industry’s progress towards achieving net
zero by 2050 and our own transition to net

zero by 2038.
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As passenger demand grows back above
pre-pandemic levels, our long-term strategy
will focus on investing, fransforming and
connecting across three focus areas:

s Continued growth at our three
airports, supported by sustainable
infrastructure improvements

«  Our Group transformation
programme, providing improved
levels of service and productivity
at cur airports

¢ Investing in other opportunities
including complementary airport
services and digital businesses
that will accelerate growth



Climate change and sustainability

Over the last 12 months we have continued
to demonstrate our commitment to delivering
our five-year CSR Strategy — “Working
together for a brighter future”.

Despite the challenges of the pandemic, the
Group has made progress towards
decarbonising our business and the wider
aviation industry, ensured that education and
training resources remained accessible, and
provided support to our local communities
when they needed it most.

Zero Carbon Airports

We understand the responsibility we have to
reduce the environmental impacts of our
business, and our ambitious target for our
operations to be net zero carbon by 2038
demonstrates our commitment to a more
sustainable future.

We are also proud to be founding members
of the let Zero Council, working together

with Government and the rest of our industry
for UK aviation to achieve net zero by 2050.

Ovur tirst pricrity is working with our

industry partners to directly reduce aviation
emissions, and in November we announced
a partnership with Fulerum BioEnergy UK
to support our use of Sustainable Aviation

Fuels {SAF}.

The partnership will make Manchester Airport
the first in the UK to have a direct pipeline of
SAF, transported directly from Fulcrum’s new
"NorthPoint’ Biorefinery at Stanlow.

CLIMATE 4
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As a result of the partnership, we anticipate
around 10% of the fuel used at Manchester
airport will be SAF within five years of the
NorthPoint site becoming aperational

in 2026.

The new refinery will also create more than
1,000 green jobs in the northwest,
promoting the region’s role as a SAF cluster.

We are also doing what we can to reduce
emissions at our qirports in the near term. In
October, we launched a carbon offsetting
tool in partnership with CarbonClick, which
allows passengers from all three of our
airports to offset their flight emissions
regardless of their airline or destination.

The high-quality offsets purchased by our
passengers go towards improving biodiversity
in the Lake District, and the production and
distribution of efficient charcoal cookstoves
in Ghana and Nigeria. We believe in the
short term offsetting schemes like these are
an important tool to aid the overall reduction
of carbon emissions in our atmosphere.

Qur progress towards aviation
decarbonisation also gained independent
recognition this year, with MAG being
named a Financial Times European Climate

Leader for both 2021 and 2022,

carbon
accredited

NEUTRALTY




Opportunity For All

Providing diverse and exciting development
opportunities for the communities closest to
us is o keystone of our approach to CSR.
Despite ongoing COVID-19 restrictions
across the year, we have worked hard to
ensure these career and education
oppontunities remained available

and accessible.

Since January we have been recruiting
rapidly as passenger numbers recover
following the lifting of international travel
restrictions. QOur Airport Academies have
been instrumental in this drive, helping
jobseekers in our local communities to
understand the roles available at cur
airports, We supported 15 local and regional
jobs fairs in the last quarter of the year,
where MAG colleagues have been
ambassadors for an exciting career path in
the aviation industry.

Mayor of Greater Manchester, Andy Burnham opened
the Aerozone at Manchester Airport in February
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In the first half of the year, our Aerozone
teams worked hard to deliver a range of
virtual events for students across our local
communities. In-person sessions then began
again in the avtumn and 1,404 students
have attended our East Midlands and
London Stansted airport Aerozones since
November 2021. We were proud to officially
launch our Manchester Airport Aerozone in
January, and by the end of March had
welcomed over 800 students.

We want to accelerate diversity in the
aviation industry, and our virtual ‘Girls in
STEM’ event brought together schools from
across our three local communities, where
over 500 students learned more about
science and engineering roles at our airports
and the importance of gender equality.




Local Voices

At MAG, we believe that the success of our
airports should be shared with the regions
and communities they serve. Qur teams work
to ensure that our engagement means local
groups dre heard and understood, so that we
can respond to their feedback.

Virtual engagement has played a large role
in our work this year, as we continued to
hold regular Airport Consultative Committees
and support the management of cur
Community Trust Funds.

This year our Funds supported vulnerable
people in our local communities with over

£200,000 in donations.

We commissioned an independent study
earlier this year to ensure that our CSR
priorities remain in line with those of lecal
stakeholders. We are now using the results of
the study to review how we work with our
local communities to ensure we reach g
more diverse and representative audience.
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diverted from
landfill this year



Manchester Airport

Manchester Airport handled 9.1 million
passengers in FY22, equivatent to only 32%
of FY19 levels. However, the lifting of
restrictions in January means the airport
ended the financial year well placed to
support wider economic recovery as the UK's
global gateway in the North.

Passenger numbers have grown sharply at
Manchester since all remaining testing
requirements were scrapped in England. By
the start of the new financial year, volumes
had returned to nearly 70% of pre-pandemic
levels, with the return of demand once again
outstripping that seen by many UK airports.

Like other businesses across the sector,
labour market challenges and the process
involved in clearing people to work in airside
environments meant we were not able to
recruit quickly enough to meet rising
demand. We therefore saw some pericds

of disruption at Manchester Airport in the
spring months.

However, we launched o large-scate
recruitment campaign and, working closely
with local partners and our own Airport
Academy, we have welcomed hundreds of
new colleagues into the operation.

Manchester's recovery has been driven by
the return of many popular routes served by
our most prominent carriers from before the

pandemic, such as easylet, JetZ.com,
Ryanair and TUI.

The short-haul market has seen the strongest
recovery, but Manchester has also been
pleased to welcome back a wide range of
direct long-hau! services that connect the
region to the world.
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Alongside routes to destinations including
Dhaka, Toronto and Jeddah, we were proud
to welcome Aer Lingus to Manchester as the
home of its new UK base, launching new
services to Barbados, New York and
Orlande, in a significant vote of confidence
for the North of England.

Virgin Atlantic launched a new direct route to
Montego Bay, while the airport also
announced the arrival of a succession of new
carriers during the period, including Kuwait
Airways and Gulf Air, with their respective
services set to siart in the new financial year.

In July 2021, Manchester Airport marked a
major milestone in its 83-year history with the
opening of its extended Terminal Two, the
centrepiece of its £1bn transformation
programme. While the impact of the
pandemic meant the terminal opened with
fewer services than originally anticipated, the
{aunch has been well received by customers,
with more routes added during the year. A
wide range of new retailers and food and
beverage outlets have also started operating,
increasing the choice for passenger travelling
from the terminal.

All three of Manchester’s terminals are now
back in operation, along with beth runways.

The year also saw key CSR milestones
including the launch of Manchester’s new
Aerozone education centre. This fantastic
facility was delivered as part of its
Transformation Programme but the
pandemic has stopped it from welcoming
schools for most of the last two years.



The first families set off on holiday from the new
Manchester Airport Terminal 2 extension on 14 July 2021

17 Manchester Airport



London Stansted Airport

With its wide range of European connections
and robust passenger demographic, London
Stansted has seen a very strong recovery as
pandemic restrictions were lifted. in FY22 the
airport served 10.3m passengers, bouncing
back to more than 80% of pre-pandemic
levels by March.

We have been investing in London Stansted
to prepare for the full-scale return of
international travel. In May 2021, we
unveiled a £70m state-of-the-art baggage
system upgrade, and in March this year we
cut the ribbon on a £12m makeover to the
international departure lounge with new
bars, restaurants and retail outlets including
Superdry, Comptoir Libanais and an
‘InMotion” branch of WHSmith.

The airport has also continued to attract new
routes and carriers, with PLAY airline’s
announcement in June 2021 that it would
faunch a four-weekly service to Reykjavik. In
November, Ryandir announced a suite of
new destinations including Stockhelm,
Copenhagen, Helsinki, Zagreb and Treviso.

In May 2021, the Planning Inspectorate
corfirmed approval for the airport to
increase its passenger capacity from 35 to
43 million passengers per year. This
important milestone will allow the airport to
continue to grow sustainably, without
changes to flight limits or disruption to
local communities.

Like our other airports, London Stansted has
been busily recruiting since January this year
to get ready for the summer season. We
reached out to jobseekers in the local area
and have hosted virtual and in-person jobs
fairs to hire more than 300 people,
alongside even more roles with our partners
including airlines, baggage handlers

and retailers.

18 London Stansted Airport

We have been proud to host several aid flights
bound for Ukraine since February 2022

As part of our programme of sustainability
and community outreach initiatives, we
launched a consultation to create an on-site
solar farm at London Stansted. The new farm
will help to power the airport’s operations
and support our goal of reaching net zero

carbon by 2038.

The pandemic meant we could not continue
with much of our in-person community
outreach activity but, in November 2021, the
airport’s Aerozone reopened to students after
18 months of virtual events.

London Stansted is one of the main freight
qirports in the South East and we have been
proud to support charities and the UK
Government with several shipments of aid
and vital medical supplies to Ukraine, in
partnership with Titan Airways.



East Midlands Airport

After its passenger operations returned in
May 2021, East Midlands Airport welcomed
1.1m passengers this year, with traffic
returning to 58% of pre-pandemic levels in

March 2022.

Airlines identified the pent-up demand for
travel from the airport as restrictions eased,
and announced a variety of new routes. In
June, easylet launched a four-weekly service
to Belfast, and Ryanair announced in
November that it would operate 31 routes
this summer to popular European holiday
destinations including Alicante, Barcelona,

Rhodes, and Chania.

The airport is also home to the relaunch of
Flybe from April 2022, with the carrier
offering a daily route to Amsterdam which
will connect East Midlands’ passengers to
hundreds of global destinations from the

Dutch hub.

East Midlands” carge operation continues to
go from strength to strength, with more
tonnes flown by dedicated freight aircraft
than any other UK airport. Businesses have
increased their usage of air cargo specialists
based at the airport to meet growing

19 East Midlands Airport

demand from consumers for e-commerce,
Cargo loads increased by 3.7% this year,
with the airport handling over 455,000
tonnes of freight.

On a visit to the airport’s evening cargo
operations in December, Aviation Minister
Robert Courts MP talked about East
Midlands as a “key facilitator of UK trade” as
he witnessed the handling of the growing
demand for air freight from the site.

The national significance of the freight
operation at East Midlands was recognised in
March 2021 with its shortlisting for Freeport
status. Much of this year has been spent
working with the Government on the detailed
proposals and delivery of the site, which will
act a key enabler for international business
within the region and is expected fo create

60,000 jobs.

In early 2022, East Midlands Airport became
the first airport in the UK to publish noise
league tables. These tables will help us to
work with our airlines to reduce local noise
impacts by removing noisier aircraft types

over fime.

East Midlands Airport is the largest airport
. in the UK for dedicated freight flights



CAVU

One of our biggest strengths has always
been a passion for developing and
expanding our offering to customers, both
directly to passengers and through the
services we provide to partners in the
travel sector.

Over the years, our combination of
commercial agility and digital prowess has
allowed us to find and secure new product
opportunities including airport hospitality and
car parking, as well as back-of-house travel
services such as e-commerce platforms.

As we look to the future, we are committed
to continuing this journey of innovation. We
want to enhance our passenger offering
through our industry-leading digital tools
and, in March 2022, we announced the
creation of a new digital business - CAVU.

CAVU was created from the union of MAGO
(MAG's digital division), MAG US and our
direct-to-consumer distribution brands
including Airport Parking Reservations.com
and ParkSleepFly. Separately, these
companies have driven MAG's role as an
airport innovator across three continents

since 2015.

4
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Together as CAVU, they make a global
organisation with proven success, ambition,
and an understanding of how to transform
the modern, end-to-end airport journey.

Born within the aviation sector and backed
by years of MAG expertise, CAVU has a
crucial advantage over competitors. With
detailed knowledge about airport operations,
the new company aims fo revolutionise the
passenger journey.

CAVU operates as an agency serving MAG
airports and external clients around the
world. The organisation will help airports and
others within the sector to develop solutions
to enhance their offering to travellers. CAVU
will focus on delivering products including
E-commerce Platforms, Digital Marketing
services and the deployment of premium
passenger experiences such as lounges.

CAVU is @ meteorology term,

‘Ceiling and Visibility Unlimited’ (CAVU),
which designates the perfect flying
condition, where the ceiling is more

than 10,000ft and the visibility

is more than ten miles.

More than just a name, CAVU is a
mindset. It represents all that the company
stands for. Its proud aviation heritage,

its drive to push boundaries, and the

very essence of what it does: creating
seamless, enjoycble travel experiences
for airport passengers.
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Our people

“Qur people are the beating heart of our
business. Their enthusiasm and dedication keep
our airports running, and after another difficult
year | want to thank every colleague across
MAG for their hard work.”

Charlie Cornish, MAG CEO




Our people

Qur colleagues are at the heart of ocur
business, and we know that the pandemic
has been particularly challenging for
everyone working in the aviation sector. We
have been working hard over the last 12
months to bring in new initiatives to support
and protect our people at work.

After taking the difficult decision in October
2020 to reduce the size of our business, we
have been focused on recruitment since late
2021 and have so far created more than
1,000 jobs across the Group to help meet
the pent-up demand for international travel.

Qur employment teams and Airport
Academies have worked with local colleges,
Job Centres and councils to host an intensive
programme of virtual and in-person jobs fairs
for each of our airpors. We have also
worked closely with the UK Government to
ensure those who accept jobs with us can
start as quickly as possible following
appropriate security vetting processes.

The challenge of recruitment has been felt by
MAG and businesses across our industry,
and it is testament to the work of our teams
that we have made such significant progress
in our efferts to bring our business back to
{ull strength. To date, we have welcomed
over 1,500 new colleagues to MAG since

January 2022.

Our relationships with our trade unions
continue fo be strong and constructive. Pay
was temporarily reduced for everyone across
MAG in 2020/21 as part of our response to
the pandemic, and we reached an
agreement with our trade unions during the

2021/22 which allowed colleagues who

were not furloughed to return to full pay.

22 Qur people

We believe that everyone should feel able
and encouraged to be their authentic self at
work, in a welcoming and supportive
environment. Over the last year, we have
made progress in delivering our Equity,
Diversity and Inclusivity Strategy, setting up
Colleague Resource Groups focused on
Women, LGBTQIA+, Race and Ethnicity,
and Men’s Mental Health to support
colleagues, raise awareness and help to
foster an inclusive culture across MAG.

The long-term success of our business will
rely on our work to help our people develop
and grow. This year, we launched a Group-
wide mentoring scheme that partners
colleagues with senior leaders to support
them in their careers at MAG.

We also announced our Data Literacy
Programme for colleagues, in parnership
with Multiverse. The programme is a key part
of MAG’s strategy to enhance on-the-job
training and skills development opportunities
for staff, while also supporting our ambition
to use digital tools to maximise our airport
operations. More than 100 colleagues have
joined the programme and will receive expert
support and training over a 12-36 month
course in data skills and analytics.



Key Performance Indicators

We focus on a number of key performance measures to ensure we build value for cur shareholders on a consistent
basis over the long term

Measure Aim Context Progress in Progress in
2022 2022
Revenue Achieve long-term and steady We aim 1o deliver sustainable £462 Tm ¢ 158 7%
(confin‘uing growth in revenue growth across all areas of our 2021: £178.6m
opwralians) business - aviation, car parking,
and refail
Adjusted Generote a level of profit that We cover the cost of using our £125.6m ¢ N/A
EBITDA! allows re-investment in our assets with income from our 2021:
[continuing infrastructure operations £(149.4)m
operalicns)
Result from Achieve steady ond increasing We expect all our operations to £{130.3)m ¢ 64 3%
operations? profit from operations positively contribute to the Groug's 2021.
[confinuing result. Result presented before L(36:4.8)m
operations) impact of adjusted items
ROCE' Achieve a healthy ROCE which | We generate profits which cover the (2.4)% * 70.4%
exceeds our cost of capital cost of investing in our asset base 2021 8.11%
Investment Generate growth in capital We manage our property portfolio £191.0m @ 13.1%
property value’ value of our property portfclio to realise maximum value from 2021: £168.9m
disposals and re-invest in new
developments
Capital Provide effective investment in We nvest in opportunities that £68.7m ¢ (55.4)%
investment operational assets to improve generate the best shareholder 2021: £154 Om
efficiency and support growth valve, and enhance the quality of
our airport services
Adjusted cash Convert our operating profits We focus on converting our £3166.5m ¢ N/A
generated from into cash operating profits info cash to fund 2021: £(188.7)m
operations' further investment and returns te
shareholders
Shareholder Generate growth in We provide returns to reward the £nil - -
retum distributions for shareholders shareholders’ investment 2021 £nil
Passengers Maximise passenger volumes Increasing the number of passengers 20.5m ¢ 225.4%
through our airports contribules to growth in our aviaticn 2021: 6.3m
and commercial revenue streams
Departure Maintain a high level of on- We maximise our service to airline 85.5% ¢ (8.5)%
puncfuulify‘ time departures partners by providing efficient airport 2021: 93.4%
operations
Destinations. Provide access to all major As a premier qirport services 234 ¢ 21.2%
global holiday and business company, we aim to provide access 2021193
destinations to anywhere in the world from our
airports
Carbon Reduction | Minimise the environmental We closely monitor cur CO; 0.48 * (52.9)%
- CO, emissions® |impact of cur operations emissions and environmental impact. 2021:1.02
Area of noise Being good neighbours with Minimising the impact of our 35.3km? ¢ 41 8%
footprint’ our communities operations on the lecal community 2021: 24 9km?
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Measure i Context Progress in Progress in

2022 2022

Number of Supporting work in our Create opportunity by offering jobs, 10,757 590.0%
education, skills, | communities and support with skills by 2021: 1,559 ¢

and employment developing the scope of our airport

engagements® academies

Health and Safety | Maintain robust health and The safety of our customers and 7 ¢ 250.0%
RIDD{OR - safety standards colleagues is extrernely impartant to 2021: 2

reportable us, and we value a safe working

accidents’ and operating environment for all

I As erplogned il nate A0 o the Inonaal statements “Allernative Pertormance tleasoes’ an poge 166,

2. Reults from operations s revinue net od emplopes and tperoting ¢t neluding deprecntion amldjusted iten s,
a3 tnvastment property relaled s the Craup’s core property and ochively morketed imvestiment property assets axpected to be sold within the next 12 menths, dassibed as

assets held lor sate

1, Measured as a percentace of depaduies wibin 13 minutes of scheduled deportune time. The decrease on the prior year s dnan largely by external factors and
grownd handling protocol and contmctunl changes. %We contmue 1o work clasely wath all our aidline portners and serace agents fo mismnise the ket of disraphon aned
elays.

5. Bashnetions relute to mdvidual gisports with greater than 2000 passengers per annum [exciudes cargn airpots).

6 O enengy und emission perfurmance have been restated for previcus years to make use of the inost recent ond complete dotusat, Ve misasure carbon ke nsty

agoust rofhe vans, which meJebnod by the ntemahonal Cail Amonon Srgoneobcon [1AC) os equsolent o 1,000 possengers or 100 Jonnes of height Cver the

lasl fows yeors, e coussion intenaily of vur cpeanons bos nceosed by 27%. Last year, 0w comnnerciat ai frallic increosed aoss ur oeporis, our eneigy use

W

increased by 3%, Wath prissenger numbiers sgmibicantly below pre-pandemic levels, our euesgy wee doenng FYZ2 vamains |1% bower thon FY20 A< such, our
ermission intensily lasl year woy A7%, fower than 1 F Y2 1 but obove pre-pandemc levels Al residual ennssinns have been obset, nnd our SR Snategy ncludes a
commutment 1o kansdion 16 26, cotbon operahons, Muore imfsrmation about uur carbon fuotpant s provded o poge 41 ol this Kepert.

/. The: 1emoval of travel resineitcng and setarm of ar naffic has impoacted Lo paidormonce this year, leading o incrcased education, skills und employment actraty, the
return of o tralhe and assecigted noise footpnnts and increased working fune with gssocioied BRI R inadents Our Health & Sofoty management remains a key

prionty, wher comparad to pre-pandemic levels, there are no significant findings, 15sues or trends that have heen wennbod Far full detonls of what is called as
reportable inadent, see htp e f o biegoe ukersddaages postable anadenss him,
. Cduration, skils, and enployment engugements include a range of skills and education sernces such as foimal traimesy, ermpdoyment inducions, LV guidance, job

referials, assistng with 1ok apphcanons, mack intesviess, provding infonnamicn an access to rameeshups and appreniic eships, career talks 1o schools and <olleges,
swutplacement support, nned siynposhng to external agencies ond charlyscommunity groups.
@, MAGs Iealth and sufely perforimance ramains strang with a consstently low acodent frequency rote. The number of RIDDCR reponnble inaidents has shghtly

increnased i the reporiing petiod which canelates 1o the th the signifrcont mcrease in aperations across FAAG.
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Chief Finance Officer’s introduction

Throughout this year, as the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the aviation industry
have fluctuated, at MAG we have balanced our
ability to manage our costs and liguidity against
maintaining our infrastructure to enable

future growth.

The end of UK Cavernment restriclions on
international travel in March 2022 released the
latent demand for travel among people living
here in the UK. By the end of the financial year,
our airports were seeing 70% of pre-pandemic
traffic levels.

This recovery meant that, for the year overall, the
Group catered for 20.5m passengers (2021:
6.3m), which was 33% of FY 1@ passenger
numbers. This drove a 158.7% increase in
revenue and adjusted EBITDA” increased to
£125.6m (2021 loss of £149.4m). The Resuit
from Operations also improved by £234.3m, to
loss of £130.3m. As we move into Summer 2022, we are working
hard with our partners to recruit the staff we need

The Group's strategic financial responses to the

. . d back st dy f
pandemic and caretul stewardship has allowed us and grow back stronger, ready for a sirong

to maintain strong levels of liquidity with Cash recovery this year.

and Cash Equivalents at 31 March 2022

amounting to £462.9m (20621: £530.2m). o B
¥
Jan Bramall
Results from Operations Adjusted EBITDA*
£{130.3)m
E(364.6)m 2021 £149.4m 2021
2020 £1827m 2020 £382.1m
2019 £1945m 2019 £357.7m
Passengers Revenue
720 5m
2021 6.3m 2021 €1784m
2020 59 6m 2020 £8934m
2019 61.8m 2019 £861.7m
¢ As caplamed in the note 40 to the financial statements “Alternative Parfonnaince $Measvres” on puage 166
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Financial Review

Introduction

The following financial review, based on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, provides
commentary on the pedformance of the Group’s operations. The Group prepares its consolidated financial
statements under Internationat Financial Reporting Standards in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards ('UK-adopted IFRS’).

Headline financials

The sustained but gradual recovery from the severe impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in FY22 saw MAG
deliver a relatively strong performance maximising the upticks in demand as restrictions were eased. This
resulted in a 225.4% increase in passenger levels to 20.5m (33% of pre-COVID-19 levels) and an uplift in
revenue of £283.5m in comparison to FY21, MAG has also benefited from the carry forward of cost
mitigation measures it initialed in its strategic finance response to the pandemic. Consequently, £275.0m of
the benefit from increased activity levels has flowed through to adjusted EBITDA* which delivered a profit of
£125.6m (in comparison to a loss in FY21 of £149.4m).

MAG has alse exercised strong cash management throughout FY22 to maintain liquidity despite the resicual
impacts of the pandemic and ensure the long-term viability of the business, Additionally, full draw down of
the available banking facilities; and the deferral of interest an the Group’s shareholder loans have enabled
MAG, despite the passenger lad trading shertfall, to maintain a strong cash position of £462.9m (FY21:
£530.2m).
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Year ended Yaar ended Change Change
31 Mar 2022 31 Mar 2021 (£m) (%)
(Em) (£Em)

Passenaer numbers 20.5 14.2 225.4%
Revenue _conhnuing operations 4462.] 283.5 158.7%
Revenue - discontinued operations | - (8.5} {100.01%
Adjusted EBITDA® — confinuing operations 125.6 (149.4) 275.0 N/A.
Adjusted EBITDA™ - discontinved operations 7.9 (7.9} {100.01%
Result frem operations® _continuing operations {130.3) (364.6) 234.3 64.3%
Result from operations” - discontinued operations 7.9 (7.9 (100.0)%
Result belore taxation — continuing operations {288.6) {477.6) 189.0 39.6%
Result before taxation — discontinued aperations (1.7 4.3 6.0} N/A
Result after taxation  continuing operations (319.6) (435.2) 115.6 26.6%
Result after taxation — discentinued operations 1.7 41.9 (43.6) ON/A
Adjusted cash generated from operations’ 166.5 {188.71) 355.2 N/A
Capital investment 68.7 154.0 {85.3} (55.4)%

Lividends paid in period - - -
Net Cash ond Cash Equivalenis* 462.9 530.2 (67.3) (12.7)%
Net Debt - including IFRS 16 2,956.1) (2,794 .4) {16171 5.8%
Net Debt - excluding IFRS 16* {2.520.3) (2,358.1) 162.2) 6.9%
Equity shareholders’ funds 724.9 997.9 {273.0) (27.4%

" As cxplained wthe nofe 40 1o the finonesl statements 'Altemate Pedomwnce Measures’ on poge 166,




Measures used to assess performance

The Group uses a number of measures fo assess financial performance that are not defined within IFRS and
are widely referred to us ‘Alternative Pedormance Measures’ (“APMs”). The Group's accounting policies
related to APMs are detailed at page 114. Additionally, note 4C to the Annual Report at page 166 details a
full description of all of the Group’s APMs, their purpose and definition along with a reconciliation to the

nearest {FRS measurement.

APMs are defined by management and should not be considered as comparable with similarly titled
measures provided by other companies. They are not considered superior to IFRS measures but are issued
by management ta provide additional information which may prove useful to the readers of the accounts.
Many of the Group’s APMs are referred to as ‘adjusted’ meaning prior to the impact of ‘adjusted items’.
Adjusted items are separately disclosed and relate to items that are significant in size and/or infrequent in
nature, and where, in the directors’ view, their separate disclosure gives additional information on the
Group’s underlying financial performance.

For example, casts incurred owing to restructuring activities, financial instrument modification gains,
additional expenditure owing to Group transformation aclivities, and Merger & Acquisition activity are
considered infrequent and are presented within Adjusted items as adjustments to the IFRS measures of
financicl perfermance.

Reconciliation of APMs

The reconciliation of APMs used within these staternents are accompanied by a reference to the relevant IFRS
measure and the adjustments made and is provided at page 166 in note 40 to the financial statements.

Adjusted EBITDA

The directars use these measures to review the performance of the Group, most notably the Group's

performance targets. These are based on a number of measures, but the predominant ane applied is

adjusted EBITDA.

2022 2021
- . Before Adjusted After Before Adjusted After
Continuing operations - . . ) . -
adjusting iterns adjusted adjusted items adjusted
items items items items
£m Em Em £m Em
Adjusted EBITDA® 125.6 6.1) 119.5 (149.4) (38.3) (187.7)
Depreciation ond amortisation {238.8) (11.0) (249.8) {176.9) - (176.9)
Adjusted Result from Operations* 1113.2) (7.1 (130.3) 1326.3) (38.3) (364.6)
' Ay axplumed i fhe nate 4010 the hnanasl shfements "Alterniiee Petlormance Meosures” on puge 166,
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Summary trading performance

Year ended 31 Year ended 31 Change Change

Summary of Revenue Stream March 2022 tarch 2021 £m %

£m Cm

Aviation income 179.9 74.3 105.6 142.1%
Retail concessions 81.2 16.2 65.0 401.2%
Car parking 126.7 395 872 220.8%
Property & property related income 21.1 20.5 0.6 2.9%
Gther 53.2 28.1 251 89.3%
Total Revenue - continving operations 462.1 178.6 283.5 158.7%
Total Revenue - discontinued operations - 8.5 {8.5) {100.0)%

Year ended 31 Year ended 31 Change Change
Summary of Revenue by Division rMarch 2022 Farch 2021 £m %
Manchester Airport 188.5 70.8 117.7 166.2%
Londen Stansted Airport 180.8 66.1 114.7 173.5%
East Midlands Airpon 57.6 36.3 213 58.7%
MAG US 31.4 5.0 25.4 423.3%
Group, Consolidation and other 3.8 {0.6) 4.4 MN/A
Total Revenue - continuing operations 462.1 178.6 283.5 158.7%
Total Revenue - discontinued operations - 8.5 (8.5) {100.0)%

This year's business performance reflects the industry’s gradual emergence from the severe impact of the
pandemic experienced in FY21. During the early part of the year the travel sector was impacted by the UK
Government’s “stay in the UK’ guidance which was only revoked on 17 May 2021. The UK Government’s
traffic light system provided a partial resumption of international travel but supressed demand during the
2021 Summer months. Autumn sow an increase in passenger volumes though this was briefly curtailed by
the O'micron variant in the winter.

In 2022, the appreciation of the benefits of the UK vaccine roll-out coupled with the less virulent nature of
the virus enabled an easing of restrictions. By mid-March 2022 all travel restrictions hod been abolished and
the latent UK demand to ravel was evidenced as MAG experienced passenger volumes at 70% of pre-
COVID-19 levels by the end of the financial year. The overall impact on the year resulted in passenger
numbers being 33% of pre-COVID-19 levels. Whilst all airports experienced growth in FY22, the recovery in
passenger numbers was noticeable at the Group's larger airports, especially London Stansted.

The Group has experienced an overall revenue increase of 158.7% in comparison to the prior period. The
increases in the airport divisions are largely driven by passenger tootfall through the airports, with car
parking and retail recoveries driving revenue uplifi beyond the pure impact of passenger volumes.
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Summary trading performance continued

The revenue increase of 58.7% at East Midlands relates largely to the continuing strong development of
cargo income, which increased by a further £9.5m in the year, demonstrating the airport’s importance as a
cargo hub in the UK. MAG US contributed strongly in the year leveraging off the resilient passenger numbers
in the US throughout the pandemic along with a tull year contribution from the distribution businesses
acquired by the Group in FY21,

Aviation revenue increased by 142.1% in comparison to the prior year. Increases are largely driven by the
uplift in passenger volumes - however the increase in passengers is not proportionale 1o the revenue
increase due to o higher proportion of low-cost carriers within the passenger mix. Cargo continues fo
pravide an increasing contribution to aviation revenues and cargo income has increased by £9.7m to

£45.3m.

The Group's retail revenue stream, which experienced the largest reductions in FY21, has rebounded the
most significantly increasing by 401.2% to £81.2m through: yield improvements; strang performance in the
duty-free sector; the opening of T2 at Manchester; and MAG’s pro-active work with its partners through the
past two years supporing the recovery. Car parking revenues increased with the uplift in passengers,
supported by the full year contribution of the US distribution businesses.

Property income remained relatively stable during the year, showing a 2.9% increase over the prior year.
Other income has increased by 82.3% with passenger related activities such as testing income, refueliing,
and retail travel services providing the main year on year improvements, along with improved (non-
passenger related) utilities recovery.

Year ended 31 Year ended 31 Change

March 202 March 20721 .
£im

Operating costs

Empioyment costs [182.9) (203.9) 21.0 10.3)%
Less: Job Retention Scheme income 18.2 58.9 {40.7) (69.11%
Net employment costs {164.7) {145.0) {19.7) 13.6%
Other operating charges (182.9) (202.4) 125 (6.2)%
Less: Airport and Ground Qperations Support Scheme 17.8 19.5 1.7) (8.71%
Net Other Operating Charges (172.1} {182.9) (10.8) {5.9)%
Net Overall Operating Costs (336.8} (327.9) 8.9) 2.7%
Profit/(Lass} on sale of property plant and equipment 0.3 0.1) 0.4 N/A
Depreciation and amortisation {238.8) {(176.9) 61.9) 35.0%
Net Total Costs - continuing operations * (575.3) {504.9) (70.4) 13.9%

before adjusted items

Excluding the impact of sale of fixed assets, depreciation and amortisation, the Group’s net overall
operating costs, comprising employee costs and non-employee costs, increased marginally to £336.8m
(2021: £327.9m). The prudent cost management actions, initiated by the Group’s strategic finance
responses in 2020 and 2021, enabling MAG to achieve cost savings in the year almost offsetting the
£42 Am reduction in government support provided through the Job Retention Schemes and Airport and
Ground Operations Support Scheme (AGOSS) in comparison fo the prior year.
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Summary frading performance continued

Employee costs increased by £19.7m resulting from: reduction in support from the UK Government's Job
Retention Scheme (£40.7m), and partially offset by £21.0m of other employee cost reduction activities
{initiatives to reduce overlime, temporary resources, recruitment, incentives and the full year impact of prior
year restructuring of the organisation to reflect demand levels expearienced by the Group). See note 4 to the
financial statements where costs are analysed further.

The Group has also achieved other operating cost savings of £12.5m. Whilst the Group’s non-employee
overhead base contains many fixed cost components management have sought to identify and negotiate
cost reduclions where the temporary fall in activity levels have merited it. The savings are in areas including:

discretionary spend; rent rates & utilities; airfield costs, insurence and marketing more than offselting the
reduction of £1.7m of UK Government support through the AGOSS.

Year ended 31 ded 3 Change
Adiusted EBITDA" by Division March 2022 arch 201 %
m

Manchester Ajrport 47.0 (91.5) 138.5 N/A
London Stansted Airport 51.7 (58.4) 110.1 N/A
East Midlands Airport 24.2 55 18.7 340.0%
MAG US 7.6 (1.3) 8.9 N/A
Group, consolidation and other : 4.9) 3.7 1.2y {32.4)%
Total adjusted EBITDA* - continuing operafions 125.6 {149.4) 275.0 N/A
Total adjusted EBITDA* - discontinuing operations - 7.9 (7.9 (100.0)%

Adjusted EBITDA* paosition for the Graup shows an increase of £275.0m to a profit of £125.6m driven by
the £283.5m pox driven revenue uplift, whilst strong cost control over the operaling cost base enabled costs
to rise by anly £8.9m in comparison to the prior year. Depreciation and amortisation costs before adjusted
items relating fo continuing operations are 35.0% higher than the prior year at £238.8m. This increase
reflects: the bringing inte use the Manchester Transformation Project (MAN-TP) and Stansted Transformation
Project (STN.TP) pre-pandemic phases of the programmes during the year; acceierated depreciation of
licence costs at Stansted relating o previous planning consents following the successful 43m+ planning
consent obtained during the year; accelerated depreciation on the legacy software of entities transferring
onto the new CAVU operating system, and a full year of amertisation of intangible assets arising as port of
the acquisition of the US online aggregator businesses in FY2 1. Additionally, an impairment charge of
£11.0m relating to: residual retail assets in Manchester Terminal 2 (£9.2m shown in “impairment of assets”
in adjusted items) and US contract assets (£1.8m shown in “Legal and other items” in adjusted items).

The Group has also recognised a charge of £8.3m of adjusted items in the current year's accounts in
comparisen to a credit of £15.9m in the prior year. In addition to the aforementioned impairment charge of
£11.0m, the accounts have recognised: a further £8.8m modification gain credit relating to the Group's
shareholder loans (as analysed in note 7 to the financial statements); a loss of £1.7m on discontinued
operations; and a charge of £6.1m relating to operating expenses which impact upon the Group’s adjusted
EBITDA* peformance metric.

* As explamed i the pote 40 6 the branceal ststermonts “Allsrmnantve Pedarmonce Measures” on page 166
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Summary trading performance coniinued

The principal components of the £6.1m charge recognised in the current year include: restructuring £2.6m;
net pension curailment & settlement charge of £1.6m; £0.9m on cosis related to historical acquisitions; and

£4.0m for legal and settlement costs for various claims spread across the three UK airports.

Change Change

Kesults trom operations by Division Parch 2022 tAarch 2021 £m %
m £m

Manchester Airport (84 9} (189.2) 104.3 155.14%,)
London Stansted Airpart (27.7) (143.8) 166.1 (80. 7%}
East Midlands Airpert 10.4 (.7) 20.1 MNAA
MAG US 10.8) 6.8) 6.0 (88.21%
Group, consclidation and other (27.3) (15.1) 12.2 (80.8)%
Total result from operafions - continuing operations {130.3) {364.6} 234.3 64.3%
Total result from operations -~ discontinued operations - 7.9 7.9 100.0)%

COVID-19 and recovery from the pandemic

FY22 has seen a sustained, but modest recovery from the severe impact on the airline sector from the
pandemic experienced in FY21. In considering the impact thet COVID-19 has had on the FY22 figures
management have had to consider the year as a whole. Whilst the end of March 2022 welcomed
passengers at 70% of pre-COVID-19 levels there has been gradual unwind of travel restrictions throughout
the period with the final barriers to recovery only being removed on 18 March 2022. The trading
performance highlights the impact of the pandemic such that over the whole year passenger levels were at
33% of pre-COVID-19 levels.

The business has continued to utilise the government support available in the form of the CIJRS and AGOSS
government grants, albeit at a lower level than in FY21. MAG has leveraged off the cost reduction activities,
in the prior year so that the reduction in government support has been absorbed by compensating
reductions in the Group’s operating cost base.

Whilst FY22 has seen us experiencing a maodest recovery from the pandemic, MAG has also considered the
risks of future variants of COVID-1% and macroeconomic considerations, such as the cost of living crisis and
the Ukraine war, on the Group as a going concern {covered in the Basis of Preparation at page 98), and the
carrying value of bath its non-financial and financial assets. COVID-19 remains arn impairment trigger that
has resulied in the Group reviewing the carrying value of ifs significant assets. Management acknowledge
the challenges of estimating the recoverable amounts of its assets given their dependency on tuture
cashflows, which depend upon potential future variants of the virus, macroeconomic factors in the short-term
and climate change in the mid 1o long term. As a result, the accounling policies section on page 107
provides more detail of the impairment testing process undertaken and the assumptions used in arriving at
the impairment assessment.

Additicnally, the pundemic has also given rise to the madification of MAG’s contractual arrangements. Most
notably, a further modification gain has been recognised on shareholder loans, owing to the revisior in
anticipated cashflows, but MAG has also negotiated contractual agreements with both customers and
suppliers fo reflect the impact of the pandemic on trading.
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Business outlock

in addition to the impact of COVID-19 an the financial resuits for the year ended 31 March 2022, MAG
have considered the prospects for the business beyond the reparting date including:

o Careful cost management leveraging off the strategic finance responses in 2020 and 2021,
coupled with the strong recovery that MAG is experiencing enables the directors to confirm that the
yuity concern ussurnplion can be applied in the preparation of these financial statements.
Management’s assessment of going concern, including the material uncertainty that the combined
residual impact of COVID-19 along with current macroecanomic concermns, is detailed in the Basis
of Preparation on page 98;

o Ta suppart the Group’s growth inte FY23 and beyond, MAG will be working with its partners 1o
recruit and train staff to enable us to grow back quickly and stronger;

e MAG can now look forward to a period of growth, rebuilding our financial strength and:
o refurning investment to our airports; and
o looking ot exciting new opportunities, such as the taunch of CAVU;

s Now, as we exit the pandemic, we are committed to ensuring our recovery is through sustainable
growth adhering to the four pillars of our CSR strategy leading the sector to meeting net zero
targets.

MAG continues to have strong fundamentals. Careful and prudent cost management have enabled us to
have the liquidity to not only navigate the recavery, but also to maintain flexibility going forward and both
identify and exploit opportunities for business growth. Our well invested infrastructure and talented people
will be key assets to maximising the opportunities.

Trading units

Manchester Airport

Manchester Airport delivered 9.1m passengers travelling through the airport in the year te 31 March 2022,
an increase of 225.0% over the prior year.

Change Change %
Passengers [million) 9.1 2.8 6.3 225.0%
Revenue (Em) 188.5 70.3 177 166.2%
Adjusted EBITDA* {£m) 47.0 (71.5) 138.5 N/A

* As explleninad in the note 40 10 the hnandal staterments "Altermabve Pedormoncs Measeres’ on poge 166,

£ per Passenger

Aviation 7.9 7.4 4.3
Commercial 12.8 175 2.0
Operating costs 15.5 57.1 8.2
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Manchester Airport continued

The 6.3m increase in passengers transtated into an £117.7m uplift in revenue at Manchester to £188.5m,
with increases seen in all the core revenue streams of aviation, retail and car parking due to principally
being volume related. Passenger growth was led by Ryanair, easyjet, Jet2.com and TUI. Revenue growth was
supported by improved year on year yields in retail and aviation and ar uplift in other income,

| he airport has leveraged off the active management of s cast base imihated in the prior year and has
delivered year on year cost reductions of £20.8m in FY22 compared to FY21, with the bulk of the savings
coming in rent, rates and utilities and cirfield costs. The relatively fixed nature of the cost base has ted
management to look fo renegotiate to achieve savings in the period to reflect the temporarily reduced
activity levels. These savings are net of the impact of reduced Government support during the year through
the CIRS and AGQOSS. Coupled with the increase in passenger numbers, these savings have given rise to the
reduction in cost per passenger,

The combined impact of improving revenue by £117.7m coupled with the further year on year operating
cost savings of £18.0m has resulted in Manchester’s adjusted EBITDA* increasing by £138.5m to a profit of
£47.0m (2021; £91.5m loss)

During the first half of FY22, the airport brought into use the first phase of MAN-TP resuliing in an increased
depreciation charge of £31.6m (40.1%).

London Stansted Airport

London Stansted Airport has experienced an increase of 232.3% in passenger numbers over the course of

the whole year with a total of 10.3m passengers.

Change Change %

Passengers (million) 10.3 31 72 232.3%
Revenue (Em) 180.8 656.1 114.7 173.5%
Adjusted EBITDA" (Em) 517 (56.4) 110.1 N/A
£ per Passenger Fyz22 F¥20
Aviotion 7.0 9.2 58
Commercial 10.5 12.3 7.8
Operating costs 12.5 40.6 7.2

The 7.2m increase in passengers franslated into an £114.7m uplift in revenue at Stansted with all key
revenue lines, aviation, retail and car parking experiencing increases driven by the passenger volumes
(principally through Ryanair). The increases in revenue were assisted by stronger retail yields along with a
£11.0m increase in other income.

Whilst passenger volumes have increased, the cost base has enly increased by £4.6m 1o £129.1m. This is
as a result of the airport’s careful cost management actions almost offsetting the reduction in Government
Support received through the CJRS and AGOSS and the business achieving its year on year savings in ifs
non-employee cost base in the areas of: rates & utilities, airfield costs, and insurance.

® Anexphaimed i the aote 4002 the fnoneol slitements Alternative Pefermance Measures” on page |06,
I pag
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London Stansted Airport continued

The combined impact of increased revenue by £114.7m was partially offset by the operating cost increment
of £4.6m and has resulted in Stansted’s adjusted EBITDA" increasing by £110.1m to a profit of £51.7m
(2021: £58.4m loss)

Whilst the airport slowed the pace of its work on STN-TP, the new £70.0m hold baggage system has been
brought into use in the year. This has led to an increase In depreciation charge of 17.9% to £81.8m.

East Midlands Airpart

East Midlands Airpart has a very important dual role as the biggest airport for dedicated cargo traflic in the
UK, and as a passenger airport.

Change Change %
Passengers [million) 11 0.4 0.7 175.0%
Revenue {£m) 57.6 36.3 21.3 58.7%
Adjusted EBITDA® [£m) 242 55 18.7 340.0%

* As explamad in the note 4016 the finanaal statements ‘Alternative Performance Meosures’ on page 166

Aviation 32.7 60.3 58
Commercial 19.6 27.5 10.0
Operating cosls 304 74.5 10.3

Passenger numbers have improved by 0.7m compared to FY21, increasing from 0.4m to 1.1m and
defivering a £1.7m uplift in passenger aviation income. However, it is the growth in carge activity over the
period, increasing by £9.5m to £32.9m, that has been the primary driver of the increase in aviation
revenues. Significant cargo activity growth at EMA (40% increase] reflects the airport’s position as a key
cargo hub for the UK and the increased demand for dedicated cargo flights during the COVID-19
pandemic. Strong growth in commercial yields from the airport’s car parking and retail operations have also
contributed to an overall increase in revenue of £21.3m. This, coupled with strong cost management, and
savings secured in rates and utilities has helped East Midlands improve its adjusted EBITDA" position by
£18.7m 1o £24.2m (2021: £5.5m).

MAG US

MAG 1S performed strongly during FY22 with the integration of the recently acquired distribution businesses
adding to the uplift in revenue and positive adjusted EBITDA* of £7.6m (2021: {1.3m)). This was supported
by a good recovery in its Fscape Lounge business which has leveraged off the increased US passengers to
deliver an adjusted EBITDA™ at 75% of pre-COVID-19 levels.

Change Change %
Revenue {£m) 31.4 6.0 254 423.3%
Adjusted EBITDA* {Em) 7.6 (1.3) 8.9 N/A

* s explainad in the note 40 to tha financial statements “Alteraative Performance Measures” on page 166,
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MAG US continued

As at 31 March 2022, all of MAG's US businesses, incorporating both the legacy lounge business and the
online aggregator businesses acquired in FY21, formed part of the newly lounched CAYU business segment.

Property

The MAG Property division manages the Group's core property investment portfolio comprising offices,
hotels and cargo properties, ond is also responsible for managing the Group's invesiment in the Airport City
project.

The investment properties are revalued to fair value at each reporting date by independent property valuers
and factored in the Group’s anticipated proceeds from the sale of the non-core property portlolic. During
the year ended 31 March 2022 the Group's investment properties experienced a £22.1m upward
revaluation to £191.0m (including assets held for sale), representing @ 13.1% underlying increase in the
value of the portfolio.

MAG continues to retain a 20% interest in the Airpart City development. As MAG exercises neither
contractual control nor joint control of the joint venture, the Group has continued to account for its
investmant on an equity basis as an associate. The additional investment during the year of £1.3m and a
profit of £0.4m increased the carrying value to £11.8m and is attributed to the Group’s shareholding as at
31 March 2022 (2021: £10.1m).

CAVU

On 31 March 2022 MAG launched its new digital business, CAVU. CAVU comprises the legacy MAG-O
and MAG US businesses which have been bolstered in the pasi four years through acquisitions in both the
UK and the US. These businesses have a track record of developing and delivering products for airport
hospitality and car-parking. CAVU will continue to work with both MAG companies and external clients to
develop and provide services to aviation customers across the whole customer journey.

MAG see this innovative area, where the Group has a proven track record, as an area where the Group can
provide service to the wider travel sector as well as MAG's core airport businesses. Management will regard
this business as a separate reportable segment in the FY23 accounls to align with the structure of
management reporting within the Group.

Cashflow

Adjusted cash generated from continuing operations* has increased to a net inflow of £166.5m, a
significant improvement in comparison 1o the cufflow of £188.7m in FY21. Adjusted cash generated from
operating aclivities” represented 132.6% of adjusted EBITDA*, with the increase principally arising owing to
strong working capital management by the Group.

Cver the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s net cash position reduced by £67.3m to £462.9m.
£166.5m of cash generated by operations was more than offset by: a net outflow of £84.Tm for tax and
inferest, investing activities oufflow of £118.4m, financing outflow of £10.5m, and an outflow of £20.8m in
relation to adjusted items.

* As eaplamed m the note 40 12 the hnancal stalements “Altermatice Performans « Measuras” an paga 166,
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Cashflow continued

Group Cash flow (£m) FY22 FY21 % Change
Adjusted cash generated from/ (used by) operations* 166.5 (188.7) N/A
Adjusted itemns {20.8) (39.1} 46.8%
Cash generated frem/ (used by) operations 1457 (227.8) N/A
Net operating cash from discontinued operations 0.7 {100.0)%
Interest (83.7) (80.0} 4.6%
Tax paid/{refund) (0.4) 421 {101 .0%)
Net cash used in investing activities 1118.4) {2014} 41.2%
Sale of investment In discontinued operations 400.1 {100.0)%
Dividends paid

Net cash {used in}/ from financing octivities (10.5) 325.2 N/A
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cosh equivalents (67.3) 258.9 N/A
Year end position:

Met cash and cash eguivalents* 462.9 530.2 (12.7)%

* As explained i the nete 40 10 the hnonaal statements ‘Aleinasive Perdormance Measuras” on page 166
Financing and interest

MAG's financing strategy incorporates maintaining its strong investment grade ralings with Fitch and
Moaody's and a long-term financing structure to support growth. This strang foundation has been
fundamental to the Group’s financial resilience in the past, including throughout the COVID-19 pandemic,
This same platform will also be key in enabling the Group to maintain its eperational capabilities and benefit
from the upturn in demand levels as it occurs.

Group net debt (excluding leases) has increased to £2,520.3m (2021: £2,358.1m). The movement during
the year reflects the cash inflow from cperating activities after interest and tax of £61.6m offset by the
outflow from investments of £118.4m resulting in a net £56.8m outflow hefore financing. Consequently,
after taking into account IFRS 16, Group net debt of £2,956.1m comprises: long-term fixed rate bonds
{£1,438.0m); shareholder loans (£1,062.0m); drawdown funds from the £500.0m Secured Revolving Credit
Facility (£483.2m) and lease liabilities {£435.8m); offset by net cash of £462.9m at 31 March 2022,

Group net interest payable in the financial statements amounts to £187.3m and reflects an increase of
69.8% in comparison to the prior year {2021: £106.8m). Both current and prior year interest charges are
impacted by modification gains on the Group’s shareholder loans (2022: £8.8m, 2021: £54.2m). These
modification gains arise as a result of the deferral in payment of loan interest as part of the FY21 strategic
finance response. As the deferred interest attracts a lower interest charge than the effective interest rate on
the loans, the further into the future that the repoyment of the interest is estimated, the larger the
modification gain. The modification gains have been classified in the accounts as adjusted ltems. The Group
currently forecasts that the accrued shareholder loan interest will start to be repaid commencing in FY24 and
will continue until FY27.
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Financing and interest continued

Excluding modification gains, the underlying interest payable has increased by 18.1% to £190.1m (2021:
£161.0m), whilst interest paid in the year amounted to £83.7m (2021: £80.0m}, comprised of interest on
senior debt and lease liabilities. £106.4m (2021: £81.0m) of residual inferest costs relate primarily to
accrued shareholder loan interest. Interest on the Group’s secured funding increased marginally, due 1o the
full year impuact of the additional £300.0m shareholder loan funding secured in FY21, along with payment
deferral, which caused interest to increase by £16.0m. FY22 saw lower capitalisation of borrowing costs of
£0.6m (2021: £10.4m) relating to capital investment programmes, in line with IAS 23 and the Group's
accounting policies, owing to the completion of existing phases of MAN-TP. IFRS 16 lease interest (net of
interest income on the long-term lease receivable) increased marginally to £22.7m {2021: £22.4m}, and
IAS 19 interest on the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes reduced to £0.9m (2021: £1.1m).

Capital expenditure

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, MAG focused its capital expenditure programmes o complete the
phases of the fransformation programres which were in progress, with the existing phases of both MAN-TP
and STN-TP practically completing in FY21. Consequently, the Group's investment of £68.7m (2021:
£154.0m) in infrastructure during the year reflected the Group's strategy to ensure that capitat expenditure is
focused upon essential and regulatory requirements, such as maintenance and security. MAG’s praperty
plant and equipment balance has reduced marginally at £3,140,9m (2021: £3,296.5m) with depreciation
of £209.5m more than offsetting the invesiment made during the year.

Leases {IFRS 16)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s lease liability reduced slightly to £435.8m (2021:
£436.3m), as did the Group's right-of-use asset position which amounted to £417./m (2021: £419.5m)
with £11.0m depreciation charge more than offsetting the additions, medifications and remeasurements of

£9.6m.

Pensions

The accounting deficit is calculated by the Directors and supported by independent scheme actuaries, PwC,
who incorporate data taken from a number of sources in calculating the closing position at the year-end
across the four defined benefit schemes. During the year all of the Group’s defined benefit schemes were

closed to future salary accruals following a period of censultation.

Summary of changes in aggregate pension scheme deficit

Deficit as at 31 March 2021 (54.9)
Current service & past service cost 1.9)
Other financial expenses 2.2)
Contributions 15.2
Curtailment gain 10.4
Settlement loss 7.5)
Actuarial gain 896
Impact of asset ceiling [26.6)
Surplus as at 31 March 2022 22.1
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Pensions continued

As part of MAG's pension risk management strategy, and following consultation with scheme members, the
Group’s defined benefit pension schemes were closed to future accrual during the year. All members
ransitioned into the defined contribution plan administered by Legal & General. This amendment to the
schemes resulted in a curtailment gain of £10.4m. As part of the scheme closure with GMPF MAG also
settled liabilities for three Group companies which resulted in a setflement loss of £7.5m. Both the
curtailment gain and the settlement loss have been recognised within adjusted items in the Income
Statement.

MAG's exit from GMPF, which is a local government multi-employers scheme, resulted in MAG entering into
a Deferred Debt Arrangement {DDA} with GMPF. Following the signing of the DDA, the Group continues to
fund obligations in relation to assets and liakilities in the GMPF in respect of Manchester Airport Plc on an
ongoing basis. The Group continues to contribute to support the GMPF in future {with no immediate exit

debt).

During the year the aggregate of the Group’s defined benefit schemes moved with the IAS 19 accounting
deficit of £54.9m transforming into a surplus of £22.1m. In additicn to the setflement loss and curtailment
gain this reflects a £63.0m actuarial gain refating to a reduction in scheme liabilities of £33.3m, principally
driven by the increase in the discount rate, and return on schemes assets of £46.1m above the expecied
return. The £11.1m residual movement relates to the surplus of contributions paid info the scheme in
comparison to expenditure recognised through the income statement.

The net surplus of £22.1m in the accounts reflects a net liability of £6.2m in the EMIA and GMPF scheme
and a surplus of £28.3m in the STAL scheme. The surplus in GMPF of £25.0m has not been recognised, in
line with ‘IFRIC 14°, based on the DDA and LGPS regulations and due to the closure of GMPF to future
accrual in the year. A liability of £1.6m hes been made to reflect the present value of future agreed deficit
recovery contributions into GMPF in line with ‘IFRIC 14’ The total of £22.1m shows the net position across
the Group, however the surplus in Stansted cannot be offset against the deficit of the other schemes, so
these are presented separately,

Taxation

The total tax charge in the consclidated income statement is £31.0m compared to a £42.4m credit in the
prior year. The principal driver behind the tax charge is the increase in corporation tax rate from 1 April
2023, which received Royal assent during the year. The resultant impact on the Group’s deferred tax
balances gave rise to an additional charge of £55.5m. The underlying effective current tax rate of (10.7%)
{2021: 8.5%) is higher than the standard rate of corporation tox of 19%, largely due 1o the level of non-
deductible interest and disallowable depreciation in excess of capital allowances. The total tax paid in the
year of £0.4m relates to tax on US profits. The prior year refund of £42.1m primarily relotes to a UK tax
refund of amounts paid in respect of FYZ20 profits which were sheltered by FY21 losses.

Equity Shareholders funds and dividends

Equity shareholders” funds are £724.9m as at 31 March 2022 (2021: £997.9m). The movement comprises
£321.3m loss after tax and adjusted items, a gain on remeasurement of pension liabilities (net of tax) of

£48.4m, alass of £1.3m due fo the effect of change in rate of corporation tax and @ foreign exchange gain
of £1.2m on the investment in MAG US.
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Equity Shareholders funds and dividends continued

Whilst the Group has a long-term objective to grow dividends to shareholders in @ sustainable manner,
owing to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon the Group’s current trading outlook there is ne proposed
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022,

Post-balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end, on 27 May 2022 the Group completed the refinancing of its revalving credit
and liquidity facilities, comprising a £500m revolving credit facility and £90m in standby liquidity facilities,
each with g five-year term, maturing in May 2027, with optional extensions. The liquidity facility is sized fo
cover 12 months interest on secured debt and is a 364-day revolving focility with a five-year term on each
annual renewal. The facilities replace similar facilities that were due to mature in June 2023. These new
facilities ensure sufficient headroom throughout the business plan period to ensure compliance with the
Group's internal treasury policy.

e
¥

Jan Bramall
Greup Chief Financial Officer
6 July 2022
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Corporate Social Responsibility

“Working together for a brighter future’

In this time of recovery and transition, we are thankful to our colleagues and partners who have warked
tirelessly to deliver our 2020-2025 Corporate Social Responsibility {CSR) Strategy "Working together for a
brighter future”. The impacts of the pandemic continue to be felt across our business and our local
communities, and sa delivering our CSR Strategy is more important now than ever. As we enter the third year
of aur CSR Strategy, we continue fo be led by our clear strategic priorities of; achieving zero carbon airports,
providing oppotlunily for all, and listening to local voices, to lead our industry and the regions our airports
serve toward a brighter future.

Due to the turbulence of the last 18 months, we have re-evaluated the most material CSR topics for our
business. The re-evaluation was informed by our stakeholders’ views, which in turn shaped our assessment
of matericiity for our business. Whilst priority corporate social responsibility issues remain largely unchanged
since 2020, stakeholders highlighted the importance of effective community relations 1o support the business
as our aclivities recover. The feedback we have received demonstrates that our CSR Strategy remains
relevant to our business and stakeholders. We will continue to review and reflect changing priorities as we
work together for a brighter future.

The third year of our CSR Strategy will build on our achievements and also introduce new tocus areas,
including:
e Develop zero carbon transition plans and associated emissions trajectories to secure the delivery of

our farget to be net-zero by 2038

e Deliver our current Noise Action Plans (NAPs) for each of our airports, developing and consulting
on new NAPs to be effective from 2025 in fine with regulatory requirements

¢ Consider the embeodied carbon within airport infrastructure, identifying and implementing
opportunities to minimise this

»  Develop our Good Work Charter to consolidate our programmes on access to upskilling
opportunities, employee welibeing, working conditions, pay and benefits.

s Maximise the benefit of our MAG Connect Airport Academies to support the recovery of our girports
and business partners, as well as addressing social mobility, access to quality work, and career
development.

» Expand our outreach and engagement to increase representation from o younger demographic
through the infroduction of youth forums across each of our airports
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Zero Carbon Airports

] We continue to wark hard to reduce the environmental impact of
Our commitment: .
our industry. For more than 16 years, MAG has placed the
decarbonisation of our girports and the wider aviation sector at the
hear of our sustainability commitment. We comprehensively
reduce emissions from our operations whilst recognising that our

Building on our platform of curbon inlluence and responsibility extend across our value chain. With

neutrality, we are committed to cutting this in mind, we continue to work with our industry pariners to build
any remaining reliance on fossil fuels, a more sustainable future far transport.

whilst working alongside our pariners to

reduce the waste and emissions of Cur target to make our airport operations nel-zero carbon by

tivities ralated b ' . ) .
achivilies related fo our operatian. 2038 demonstrates our industry leading commitment to

Our influence extends beyord our own decarbonisation, and doing so, 12 years ahead of Government’s
business, and we commit to working in national target. Our leadership was recognised by the Financial
partnership with the wider aviation Times’ Furopean Climate Leader list in both 2021 and 2022, and
industry to build a more sustainable ked he high i, ing busi ‘n the t "
future of transport. we ranked as the highest performing business in the transpo
category. We continue to advance our contribution to the UK
Government’s Jet Zero Council on which our Chief Executive Officer, Charlie Cornish, has been a member

since 2020.

Last year, our gross market-based carbon emissions decreased by 52.9% and our emission intensity
decreased from 1.02 tonnes CO2e per traffic unit (TU) to 0.48 tonnes CO2e/TU. Whilst commercial
recovery was high on our agenda, our decarbonisation efforts were uncompromising. Each of our three
girporls maintains Airport Carbon Accreditation, recognising our status as a carbon neutral airport group. In
October, we launched a new initiative in partnership with CarbonClick. Through this online tool our
passengers can calculate their carbon footprint and offset emissions from their flights using high quality
credits from UK-based woadland creation in the Lake District and the production and distribution of efficient
charcoal cookstoves in Ghana and Nigeria.

We have pursued innovative pathways to deliver sur Zero Carbon Airports programme. We received positive
feedback from airlines on our programme including our competition for five years of landing fees for the first
rero-emission commercial aircraft to be based at one of our airports. This reflects our commitment to play a
leading role in the UK's Sustainable Aviation Decarbonisation Road-Map. We have worked closely with the
Airspace Technology Institute’s FlyZero project 1o explore the feasibility ot operating commercial aircraft with
zera carbon emissions. We are proud that Manchester Airport featured as a key case study for investigating
the impact of zero-emission hydrogen aircraft on airport infrastructure.

Over the coming year, we will continue to focus on aur contribution to the UK Sustainable Aviation
Decarbonisation Road-Map. We are excited about the prospect of @ solar farm project at London Stansted
Airport. This will mark another milestone in our journey to net-zero, creating o framework from which we can
develop similar projects at Manchester Airport and East Midlands Airport. We will also be undertaking full
lifecycle embodied carbon analysis of an upceming construction project, with pians to integrate this analysis
further going forward. This will provide a mare comprehensive picture of the carbon cost of each project and
help us to identify key areas in aur supply chain to focus our decarbonisation efforts.

in October 2021 we signed a memorandum of understanding within our partnership with Fulcrum BioEnergy
UK which will make Manchester Airpart the first airport in the UK to have a direct supply of Sustainable
Aviation Fuels (SAFs) from o new refinery plant.
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Zero Carbon Airports continued

[nvestment in SAF production and distribution has huge potential to support our local communities,
especially in the North-West region. Industry assessments indicate the potential for up to three plants
supporting areund 1,500 jobs and adding more than £200m to the regional economy. This presents a
significant opportunity for MAG to act as a national leader in the provision of skilled green skills and jobs for
all.

Airspace modernisation is a priority for airport decarbenisation, whilst reducing air-traffic congestion and
noise. At Landon Stansted Airport we successfully submitted our airspace change design options for
appraisal by the Civil Aviation Authority {CAA). This takes us one step claser to introducing new ways of

flying.

We are continually building our understanding and mitigation of the financial implications of climate change
to our business. This year, we have improved our reporting against the recommendaiions of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. See page 77 of this report for more detail. in Autumn 2022 we
will be publishing our annual Corporate Sacial Respansibility (CSR} Report, which will include further detail
about the progress we have made as we work towards our ambitious climate change commitiments and
research into climate adaptation.

At COP26 in October 2021, the UK demaonsirated great leadership in embracing the growing need for
financial stakeholders to integrate climate change into their decision-making processes. Looking ahead, the
United Nations International Civil Aviation Organization General Assembly, considered to be ‘aviation’s
COP’, will be held in September this year. This event marks an opportunity for national governments to align
international policy with a more ambitious long-term decarbenisation target. Beyond reducing our carbon
emissions, our approach to reducing our overall environmenial impact and improving the management of
energy, waste and water efficiency has centred on the expansion of our accredited management systems
across the three agirports,

Our appreach to environmental management at all of our airports is fully aligned with the international
standard 1SO 14001 which provides a framework to continually improve environmental perdformance. Our
focus this year will be on transitiening to a group-wide management system certified to ISO 14003 . London
Stansted Airport also maintained cerification fo the SO 50001 Energy Management System, and we aim for
all our airports to be certified to this standard by December 2023.

We recognise our impact on nature and biodiversity, and how vital it is to preserve and restore nature. As
well as nature and biodiversity becoming an increasing area of focus for our communities and stakeholders.
In response, we will be aligning to the Biodiversity Net-Gain requirements on new developments in the
impending UK Environment Bill, along with a host of further commitments included in our new group
Conservation Strategy due to be published later this year. We also welcome the infreduction of reporting
standards from the Task Force for Nature-related Financial Disclosures.
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Opportunity for ali

Our commitment:

We commit to creating quatity
employment. We believe in providing
opportunity for all, in a safe, inclusive and
diverse environment where colleagues are
able to fulfil their potential and better
meet the needs of our customers.

Our influence extends beyond our awn

Providing great opportunities to our colleagues and business
partners, and ensuring we return benefits to the peaple who live
closest to our airports, is central to our values. We collaborate to
provide opportunities in and around each of our airperts by
fostering @ culture of inclusivity, equality, and diversity; investing in
the skills, training and education development; and inspiring the
next generation of talent in the aviation sector. Our CSR Strategy
continues to position MAG as a provider of high-quality
employment and oppertunity for all. Last year, we worked hard to
showcase MAG as an employer of choice, and aviation as a
destination career to increase the pipeline of talent that will be
necessary to support aur recovery. Changes to our operating

business, and we commit to working with
all of our partners on our airport sites to
ensure high standards are upheld by all.

model| during the pandemic have led to increased colicboratian,
idea sharing and the expansion of our education and
employability initiatives across the three airports.

We worked hard to maintain engagement with local students
through virtual events and were pleased to see our Aerozones reopen in late 2021. The demand for
Aerozone engagement from local schools was high and by final quarter of the year there were over 2,298
young visifors af the Aerozones across our airports, with 76% coming from priority areas, We were incredibly
excited by Manchester Airport Aerozone receiving its first students in January of this year. Last year, we also
hosted several educational events aimed at inspiring the next generation of aviation professionals as well as
tackling gender biases. Our group-wide *Girls in STEM' virtual event marks a key initiative, with over 500
pupils in attendance, reaching 17 secondary schools frem local communities, and was open to all genders.
The event was highly successful in showcasing the variety of STEM (science, technology, engineering, and
mathematics) roles at our airports and premoting gender equality in the sector. As part of our community
outreach and mission to support local schools in priority areas on topics such as literacy, we are grateful for
the support of WHSmith on World Bock Day, which allowed us to provide 1,500 books and £450 in book
vouchers to schools in the local communities in greatest need of support.

Our MAG Connect Airport Academies provide a focal point for pecple looking to begin or develop o career
within aviation. This year, they promoted training opportunities and tailored courses for 10,757 individuals
from our local communities. Qur effors to support employment in our local communities have heen led by
our pre-employment programmes in partnership with local colleges and the Jobcentre Plus, aimed at
providing fully funded oppartunities to individuals in need of additional support to enter employment. We
also expanded the upskill oppertunities available to our colleagues through our academies. This included
offering over 100 training courses covering a range of topics including 1T, GCSE level English and maths,
logistics programmes, and many more, in response to employee demand. Last year we ran a number of
successful airport-wide and sector-specific recruitment events including 12 virtual and three in person jobs
fares. We strive for our colleagues to have an enjoyable work experience across the three airports, free from
unnecessary obstructions. Transport connectivity is a key example of a common concem for cur commuting
colleagues. As such, sustainable transport connecting colleagues to work is a key priority and we have
worked to agree travel discounts of up to 80%.

The health, satety, security and wellbeing of all who work and travel through our airporis is our top pricrity at
MAG. ‘Safe hands’ remains one of our core business values, encompassing our ethos of henesty,
responsibility and total accountability for cur decisions.
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Opportunity for all continued

Due to the angoing risk of COVID-19 1o our staff, passengers and business partners, we developed bespoke
risk assessments at each of our airports which are regularly updated in line with Public Health England, NH3
and government guidance. Qur management processes approach for health and safety was recognised by
the Civil Aviation Authority’s public health accreditation and independently certitied to the international
health and safely standard 1SO 45007 across all three of our airparts.

In April 2022, we launched our new three-year, group-wide health, safety and operational resilience
strategy; Visior Zero 2: The Next Chapter’. Vision Zero 2 is a transformational programme that will initially
concentrate on the continued mitigation of the impacts of the pandemic in FY22. And then shift focus to
growing creafivify and innavation in FY23, and culminate in FYZ4, further embedding healfh and safefy into
our culture and cperations. The new strategy is being infegrated into the business through detaited action
plans bespoke to eoch airport and will extend beyond the initial time horizons into the long term.

We believe that o strong culture of equality, diversity, inclusion and equity can unify teams and creates an
environment in which everybody can flourish. This year, we are excited to announce the appointment of a
new role of Head of Diversity and inclusion. We are also proud to have launched our new target-led
Diversity and inclusion strategy in July 202 1. The strategy focuses on four pillars of activity to inspire women
in aviation, drive equity and diversity at leadership levels, cultivate more early talent in the business, and
create an equitable and inclusive culture where averyone can thrive.

We further responded to the needs of our colleagues by launching various employee diversity networks;
having trained ?7 colleagues on mental health first-aid training courses; launching our group-wide
wellbeing series to support collengues’ mental wellbeing and 1o provide coping strategies and build
resilience; and launching our Employee Assistance Programme for all staff. We also signed up to the
Disability Confident employers’ scheme to inspire creative and inclusive thinking about disahility and how we
can take action to improve the recruitment, retention and development of disabled people. Beyond our staff,
we recognise the importance of diversity, inclusion, equality and equity to our passengers. This year, we ran
diversity forums to ensure our services provide support for passengers with additional needs. We were
pleased that the CAA recognised our work, providing a rating of ‘Good” in line with cur CSR Strategy target.

A largely turloughed workforce in April 2021 meant there was only a small community of fully working
employees to inform our statutory Gender Pay Gap reporting requirements!. In order to provide a
meaningful comparison to earlier years we also calculated our Gender Pay Gap as if all our employees
were fully working. On this basis, we are pleased that for 2021 our median pay gap reduced from 4.6% to
2.3%, and the mean reduced from 10.2% to 7.2%.

At MAG, we seek to provide a great work-life balance for all of our staff. In 2022 we launched our Flexible
Working Policy which provides structure and enables the provision of flexible and hybrid working. We have
also undertaken a review of our maternity, paternity and adeption policies. With an increase in hybrid
working as a result of the pandemic, we have responded through the provision of health and safety self-
assessments and occupational health and safety training to improve home working environments. The
ultimate goal of our training and engagement is for each of our colleagues across the airports fo recognise
their strengths to aid their professional development.

We are committed to maintaining strong and trusting relationships with our supply chain partners. Last vear,

as the effects of the pandemic continued to be felt across our supply chain, we minimised the impact on our

iocal suppliers by maintaining our strong relafionships and, where possible, providing support during pericds
of low activity.
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Opportunity for all continued

Although we were unable to deliver our annual engagement events in person, we were able to transform our
Meet the Buyers event to a virtual platform with great effect. This allowed us to engage with our local supply
chain whilst providing a platform for our stakeholders to highlight their excellent work.

We aim to continually raise our professional standards to promote sustainable practices across our airports
ond their supply chains. To increase our mitigation of modern slavery risks, a new expanded Modern Slavery
Working Group has been established which includes a range of senior leaders, business partners and
control authorities. This Tollowed the updates to our Modern Slavery Transparency Stotement? in September
2021. Through our relationship with the Slave Free Alliance, in place since 2019, together we delivered
awareness sessions with executive committee members. This was then expanded to all senior leaders across
the airports. We recognise the risk of trafticking within our industry, therefore we brought in Slave Free
Alliance to run tailored training for our procurement team to identity risks in the supply chain and on-site
(see our Modern Slavery Statement). We are commitied to improving the transparency of our payment
practices; our thorough payment baich review process has enhanced the visibility of our payment practices
allowing a consistent approach towards prempt payment for cur external partners.

! Our Gender Pay Gap Report 1s avalloble online at: https://www.magaoirpers.com/respons:ble- business,’

? Our Modern Stavery Statement is available online at* hitps: 7 fw ~v. magoirparts. com/responsible . business/modern-slavery-frunspaorency-statements

ender-poy-gap-repading/

Local voices

The success of our airports is rooted in the collaborative and

Our commitment: trusting relationships that we heold with our local cammunities. In
RN engaging with local communities listen first, to understand, and
' respand to the issues of highest importance. Our CSR Strategy is

vnderpinned by a focus on ensuring the successes of our airports

‘ are shared with the regions they serve.
We are dedicated to addressing the local
issues which matler most to the people In January 2022 we commissioned an independent study to assess

living near us. how our stakeholders’ views have evolved over recent years, as

. ) ) well as their level of awareness and trust in our ability fo deliver on
We commit to engaging local voices,

addressing noise and olher locdl our commitmentis. The survey was sent to over 2,000 community

priarities, and providing opportunities for stakeholders which will allow us to inform how we rebuild our

local people and businesses. community engagement inifiatives and enable stronger levels of

We will build trust with our communitias trust with our local communities. Going forward, we will review
and aim ta improve their quality of life. our outreach processes 1o ensure we are listening and responding

to the comments we receive and that we capture the voices of all

our stakeholders.

A key commitment of our CSR strategy is to expand the scope of our community outreach to be inclusive of
a more diverse group of local community stakeholders. This includes an exciting commitment to infroduce
youth forums at each of our airports, providing a platform through which we can listen to the voices of
young people representing customers, communities and prospective employees. This year, we have warked
with stakeholders to develop an approach to youth forums which will be piloted this spring. Alongside the
reinfroduction of wide-ranging outreach opportunities, the coming year will see us respond to feedback from
the pilot Youth Forum, intreducing a ferum at each airport to enhance the diversity of our consultation
exercises. This will be particularly important us we embark up a review ot cur airports” Sustainable
Development Plans, Noise Action Plans and continue our Future Airspace Programme,
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Local voices continued

Throughout last year we supported the continued operation of the Airport Consuliative Committees to ensure
our local communities remained informed about the latest developments and our plans. As in-person
meetings were not always possible, we introduced hybrid virtual meetings to ensure their continuation, which
also served to improve accessibility for the attendees. The format proved to be extremely sffective with high
levels of attendance that enabled us to inform large audiences of key developments.

Our colleagues demonstrated an outstanding commiiment to support their local communities thraugh
individually led volunteering efforts throughout the pandemic. In 2021, our Community Funds continued to
provide grant funding to support local community organisations around each of our airports. On an
ongoing basis, we are working to understand the evolving needs of our communities. Through our ocutreach
channels we listened to our communities need for our business to provide greater support to charities
providing support services for mental health and wellbeing. We responded by addressing this concern and
amending the application criteria to facilitate funding for related digital and technical services at the
applicable airports.

We recognise that noise disturbance is one of the most imporiant issues for the communities who live closest
to our airports. In the first half of last year, air traffic remained below pre-pandemic levels. However, with
commercial activity recovering, noise complaints are rising to levels comparable to FY20. Our efforts to
mitigate the noise impact at our airports have been led by the development of Noise Action Plans; setting
out the controls we have put in place to minimise noise disturbance. We remain committed to the delivery of
thase plans and te regularly engaging with local communities an this important issue. QOur Flight Evaluation
Unit investigate and respond to enquiries received from local residents and work closely with our air fraffic
control and airline partners to ensure aircraft operations are sensitive to our local seftings.

Ta disincentivise the use of noisier aircraft, this year we introduced a new surcharge for "QC4" agircralt such
as the Boeing 747-400 operating at night at East Midlands Airport. Proceeds from this surcharge are
contributed ta the East Midlands Airport Community Fund, enabling the airport to launch an Eco-Gardens
competition for local schools. This initiative aims to provide students with the opportunity to experience first-
hand the tangible value of nature and learn about the real impact of climate change.

In the coming year, we will continue te expand our engagement programmes and are committed o
reaching a more diverse and representative section of our local communities to ensure we are reflective of
the most important needs. We aim to utilise the broad range of skill sets from across our teams to the benefit
of our local communities working in partnership to engage local voices.
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Our sustainability perfformance

Objective

Indicator

Status

2021/22

2020/21

Change

Carbon reduction Minimise the ‘SECR’ Scope 1, 2 and 3 ¢
environmentat greenhouse gas emissions®, market
impact of our based emissions per traffic unit
airports {tonnes COxse)
Area of naise Being good Arca of doytime 57dB LAeg noisc ¢ 353 249 142%
footprint” neighbours within contour
cur communities
Number of Supporting work Number of people supported by ¢ 10,757 1,569 L 590%
education, skills, within our MAG Connect Airport Academies
and employment communilies
engage ments'-?
Health and safety Maintain robust Number of 'RIDDOR' reportable ¢ 7 2 +250%
‘RIDDOR’ health and safety incidents
reporiable standards
accidents’
! bducatiun, shills, and employment engogements mcludes o range of skills ond education services such as foonal traiming, employment nductions, OY audance, ©b 1eteruls,
assising vath job applicakons, mock interviess, provding informanon on occess 1o trmneeships and appreniceships, carsear nlks 1o schoals and colleges, outplacenient suppert,
and signpasting 1o external agencies and Chanty/community groups
? The comoval of trevel restig ians and retars of aw rethic has impae ted our perdormane e thes year, lendug o increosed educotion, skills ok amployment acety, the et of on
tiathe and ussociated nosse looiprints and maeased working e wath asse ciated RIDDGR incidents. Our Health & Safety maonagement samams o key pnonty, when cempared 1o
pro-pundente levels, there are ns significant findings, 1ssues or ends that heree been dentified.
T SFOR scope 1, 2 and 3 Greerhiouse gos cmiswons are defied i our latest errssions coporl, which cen Be found bera: Bl ¢ e ewamoguiner s medig LAV sy

T Ly £ A AN

Our energy and emission performance

MAG has reported the climate impacts of its operations for many years. An overview of energy use and
emissions is published in this Report, which fulfils our obligations under the Companies {Directors’ Report)
and Limited Liability Partnerships {Energy and Carbon Report} Regulations 2018.

The information presented below sets out the energy use and emissions for which MAG is responsible,
including the energy and emissions associated with the operation of our buildings and vehicle fleets. Our
energy use and associated climate impacts are presented in absolute terms and os a measure of ‘intensity’
compared to our passenger and cargo throughput measured as ‘Traffic Units! {which are defined by the
International Civil Aviation Orgenization (ICAQ) as equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of
freight).

In preparing this report we have followed environmenial reporing guidelines published by the Government,
we have also adopled the principles of the World Resources Institute’s Greenhouse Gas Protocol, Our
energy use and associated emissions have been gathered largely from a collection of primary data, where
this has not been possible, we have estimated consumption by extrapolating historic energy use. This year
0.4% of our energy use, 0.3% of our location-hased and 0.8% of our market-bused emissions have been

estimated. Reported figures have been independently verified by TUY NORD CERT GmbH.

We know that information about our greenhouse gas emissions is important to stakehelders and believe that
providing this will support a more informed discussion about climate change. As such, alongside this year's
CSR Repont, we will publish a supplement providing detailed information about emissions from MAG's
activities and other emissions indirectly associated with our business.
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Our energy and emission performance continued

2021/22 2020/212  2019/20?  2018/19?

Energy consumpticon used to calculale emissions (kWh}? 178,771,261 | 174,147 424 | 200,230,145] 190,474,808
Emissions from combustion of gas (Scope 1, +CC2e} 11570 11.905 9806 9,752
Emissions from combustion of tuel for tronsport purposes
(Scope 1, 1ICO2a} 2,063 2,322 5,523 4,665
Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-
awned vehicles where MAG is responsible for purchasing the 58 7 90 98
fual (Scope 3, tCO2e)
Emissions from purchased electricity”
{Scope 2, location-based, tCCO0e) 22,737 23,407 32,023 30,367
Emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2, market-based,
1CO2e) 49 59 74 5
issi Location-based,
Total gross emissions based on the above {Location-base 36,428 37.641 47,4472 44,882
1COZe)
issi Market-based,

Total gross emissions based on the above {Market-base 13.740 14,293 15.493 14,520
1CO7e)
Intensity measure (Traffic units') 258,448 13,986 66,899 69,167
Intensity ratio
{Location-based emissions, t1CO2e ftraffic unit) 128 2.69 0.71 065
Infensity ratio”
{Market-based emissions, 1CO2e /traffic unit) 0.48 1.02 023 021
Carbon offsets
tpurchased and refired, 1CO2¢) 13,740 14,288 15,439 14,520

| issions b Location-based,
Total net emissions based on the above (Location-base 22 488 23,353 31,950 30,367
1CO7e)
Total net emissions based on the above (Market-bused,
1WCO7%e) ) ) ' i

' We measare carbon infensity agasnst frafhe units, wlich are defined by the Internationul Cral Aviation Orgamizanan [{CAD) as equre alent to 1,000 passengers or

00 tonnes of fruight.
F O enetgy and emission perfonmance have been restaled for previaus yeais to make use of the most ecent and complets dataset. This appraach follesws best pracbee outlined in
the World Resources Inshtute Greenhouse Gas Protacal and guidance issued by the UK Sovesmnant. As a resull, our previausly pubhished coergy consumpbon for 2020-21 has
drcreased by 4%, 2019-20 has deceased by 3 7% and energy consumphion for 2018-19 hos decreased by 8./%.

M Location-bosed cnwssions ate based on the average emission inlensily of the K alectkicity grd. MAG proaclively chases to purchose renewnble electnaty which s backed by
Renewable [nergy Guarantees ol Onagin. To demonstrate the corbon saving of aur precurement deison we ‘dueal report’ our locchen and markel-based greenhonse gas erussions,

+ Over the last four years, the emission intensity of our operations has increased by 97%. Last year, as
commercial air traffic increased across our airports, our energy use increased by 3%. With passenger
numbers significantly below pre-pandemic tevels, our energy use during 2021/22 remains 11% lower than
2019/20. As such, our emission intensity last year was 53% lower than in 2020/21 but above pre-pandemic
levels. All residual emissions have been offset, and our CSR Strategy includes a commitment to transition to
zero carbon operations.

CECR seope £ 2 amd T greenfiuuse gos ermussiorm are dofimed m ot badest enpssions seport, whuch con be fovnd hees Wipe | eecomogonr pees cony rediad 1S 34 ming cienisaeonse

s DU | peds
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Leadership and governance

This year has again seen shifting restrictions on international travel, culminating in the remova! of all
remaining restrictions on travel to the UK in March 2022. These changing conditions have continued to
present challenges to how we do business, and we have needed fo adjust our operations to respond to the
latest regulations and manage costs while always protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our
customers, staff and partners.

We have been able to navigate these challenges by drawing on the skills, expertise and dedication of our
staff at every level of the Company. This is supported by robust business resilience plans, governance
processes and internal control framewarks, and bolstered by the diverse insights and advice we receive from
our Board.

Strong corporate governance is a core foundation for any successtul company, and we are committed to
maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and adopting best practice as it emerges. The
fellowing Corporate Governance Report, including the Board Committees’ Reports and Directors’ Reports,
sets out how MAG applies governance standards in practice and reports against the Wates Principles, which
MAG has adopted as its corporate governance code.

MAG places great importance on the Board’s role in embedding a positive culiure and values across the
organisation. The views of stokeholders are monitored by the Company’s CSR Committee, chaired by Vanda
Murray, and the Board's consideration of stakeholder views is described more fuily in the 5172 statement
belOW.

Furthermore, MAG recognises that diversity in its workforce provides access to a wider range of talents,
experience and skills, promoting greater creativity, innovafion and high performance. Further information is
provided in the Nomination Committee section on page 59.

This year, we have carried out a tull review of our strategic risks. We were pleased to welcome two new
Non-Executive Directors to our Board this year in the form of Clir Bev Craig in December 2021, and Paul
Venables in February 2022 {Audit Chair designate). Sir Richard Leese retired trom our Board in November
20271. The Board Evaluation process was deferred due to COVID-19 pricrities and planned changes to the
Board and as such a full Board Evaluation programme will commence over the course of the year.

Stakeholder Intraduction

Statement by the Directors in Performance of their Statutory Duties in Accordance with s172(1} Companies

Act 2006

Section 172(1} of the Companies Act 2006 requires directors to promote the success of the company for the
benefit of its stakeholders and to achieve the Company’s purpose. The Board of Directors are aware of their
responsibilities and consider they have acted in accordance with their statutory duties. This section sets out
how they have discharged this obligatian.
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Stakeholder Introduction centinued

The company’s key stakeholders, and our interaction with them, is summarised below.

Stakeholder

y they matier to MAG

hat matters to them

Hew the Board interacts

Shareholders

Qur shareholders provide the equity
finance necessary to support the
operation and future development
of the business.

Shareholders also eppeint Mon-
Executive Directors who are critical
to overall governance and make o
valuable contribution 1o the working
of the Board.

Qur shareholders have invested in
the long-ferm success of MAG. In
retumn they seek predictable and
sustainable returns on their
investment.

QOur shareholders require high
standards of governance,
responsible business practices and
transparent disclosure of
information to inform their decision
making.

Shareholders are directly
represented on the Beard and
oversee the appointment of Non-
Executive Directors. They receive
regular reports from the
management team on all aspects
of the business. Shareholders
receive regular reports from the
CSR Committee, which considers
responsible business practices,
including environmental and
community impacts, health, safety
and wellbeing as well as equity,
diversity and inclusivity (ED&]).

Colleagues

Colleagues are our greatest asset.
They make our strategy o reality and
deliver services to our customers.
Their energy and ideas are critical
to the continued innovation and
improvement of the services we
offer.

Our colleagues want a workplace
that is safe, inclusive and offers
them opportunities to develop their
career. They expect to be treated
fairly and 1o be rewarded
appropriately for their contribution
to the success of the company.

Colleagues want to be a part of the
decisions that affect them and to be
supported by effective systems of
internal communication.

The Board receives regular reports
on safety matters and scrutinises
safety perfarmance. The CSR
Committee, which is attended by
the Chief People Officer, provides
an opportunily for workplace
issues, including fair pay, equality,
diversity and inclusion to be
discussed.

Passengers

Passengers provide much of ocur
income. They are the foundation for
our business. It is important that,
working with our airline partners, we
provide an appropriate range of
services to meet their transport
needs.

Qur customers want our airports to
be accessible; to provide a safe,
secure, clean and welcoming
environment, and to experience an
efficient service.

The Board receives regular reports
on passenger feedback, including
our use of the Net Promoter Score.
The Board’s consideration of
passenger experience includes
detailed reports on the service
provided to passengers who
require cdditional support to
Qaccess our services.

Communities
and the
environment

Many of our colleagues and
customers are drawn from local
communities and the economic
impact of our operations is greatest
in the regions we serve

Maise, congestion and local air
auality impacts that arise due to our
operations have greatest impact on
communities closest to our airports,
though some of the impacts of our
operations, including climate
change, have wider implications.

It is vital that we understand the
pricrities of communities and ensure
our operations take place within
acceptable environmental fimits. By
doing so we earn our social licence
to operate and grow.

Local communities want to share
the economic success of our
airports. They expect us to take all
reascnable steps to reduce locol
impacts, including noise and
emissions.

Communities are concerned by
climate change and expect us to
progressively reduce the emissions
of our airports and work with
airlines to ensure that together we
play a full part in delivering the
government’s net zero targets.

The Board has established the
CSR Commitiee to allow extensive
discussion of these issues. The
Board regularly considers
environmental impacts, including
climate risks and considers the
views of local communities
through an independently
facilitated materiality survey.
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Stakeholder Introduction continued

Stakeholder

Customers,
partners and
suppliers

Why they matter to MAG

We deliver our services with the
support of our airline customers,
business partrers and suppliers.
Having effective relationships with
them supports the long-term success
of our businesses and maximises
mutual benefit.

It is important that those that we
work with adopt responsible and
sustainable practices, to minmise
the risk to our operations and
reputation.

What matters to them

QOur customers, pariners and
suppliers want to work with us to
maximise mutual benefit.

How the Board interacts

We work collaboratively
including one-to-one key
account management meetings
with all cur business partners
including girtines, retailers,
tenanis and aviation service
partners. Cur Airport
Consuitative Committees bring
these customer groups together
with passenger and community
representatives, whilst our Airport
Operator Committees bring
airlines together to consider
operational practices and
management policies. Significant
issues are drawn to the attention
of the Board and associated risks
are captured in our risk register.

Our approach to procurement is
accredited te the Corporate
Certification Standard of the
Chartered Institute of
Procurement and Supply. This
incorporates practices to make
responsible procurement
decisions which treat suppliers
fairly, mitigate modern slavery,
and ensure prompt payment.
The Board receives regular
reports on the management of
the risks of modern slavery.

Industry,
regulatory
bodies,
government and
government
agencies

Qur operations are highly
reguloted. The policy and regulatory
framework is an important factor
that determines how we operate
including ensuring that we operate
safely and securely, that competition
is fair and that our environmental
impacts are within acceptable limits.

Government and industry regulators
seek to work closely with industry
partners and their associations to
ensure that the policy and
regulatory framework is informed by
and takes full account of relevant
1SSUES.

The Board receives regular
updates an government policy
ond cversees our work to
engage with government,
government agencies and
regulatery bedies to help
formulate and implement their
policies.
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Having regard to the likely consequences of decisions in the long term

As set out on page 69, the Board oversees a risk management process, including a dedicated Audit
Committee that oversees the management and implementation of the risk framework. The regular review
and assessment of risk that is shared with the bourd protects the long-term interests of MAG. This year key
risks identified include the recruiiment of relatively large numbers of staff as the business recovers from the
impact of the pandemic, the uncertainty associated with the UK’s exist fram the European Union, climate
change, safety, security and the reyulalory environment.

Whilst it has been necessary in some instarces fo reduce and realign investment plans to respond to the
impact of the pandemic, the Board has continued to support the measures necessary to secure the long-term
recovery of the busihess, including the completion of phase one of the Manchester Transtormetion Project,
which will deliver new terminal capacity. The Board has also supported investment in a Future Airspace
Programme, fo ensure that airspace arrangements can support the objective to make best use of the
airports’ physical infrastructure.

Having regard to the interests of the company’s employees

This has been ancther challenging year for our colleagues. Despite taking full advantage of the
Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme {CJRS), it has been necessary to better match the size of
the workforce to the reduced passenger numbers using our airports in FY22. As passenger numbers began
to recover, the impact of the Omicron variant, including the reimposition of Government travel restrictions,
led to continued volatility. Where it has been necessary to make redundancies, this has been done only after
full consultation with recognised trade unions, and those colleagues that left the business have been
supported by our Airport Academies. Qur Airport Academies have provided affected colleagues with a range
of services, including job search, coaching, training and financial advice. The Board has overseen this

process and received regular progress reports throughout.

Through the CSR Committee, the Board has continued to receive regular reports on & wide range of
workplace issues, including gender pay gap, equality, diversity and inclusion and modern slavery. Safely
remains a critical pricrity for the Board and in addition to scrutinising regular safety performance reports, the
CSR Committee has overseen the implementation of a new health and safety strategy.

Having regard to the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and
others

As we recover from the impacts of the pandemic, our regular consultation forums have been maintained and
strengthened. Our airport consultative committees bring together customers, airpert users, government and
community groups. At an operational and commercial level, liaisen groups and regular one-te-ene account
management meetings ensure fimely exchange of information. This enables us to understand the priorities of
these important stakeholders and to ensure we take account of their views in decision making. This year we
were able to reinstate our ‘Meet the Buyer’ programme. By holding a virtual event we were able to infroduce
100 potential suppliers, drawn from lacal small and medium sized companies to the needs of our airports
and the opportunities to supply MAG.

This year we commissioned an independently facilitated materiality review to assess how stakeholders’ views
are evolving. This review has helped to build our understanding and inform our decision making.

The Board receives regular reports on all aspects of the business, including a specific report on the findings
of the materiality review,
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Having regard to the impact of the company’s operatians on the community and the environment

The company continues to maintain certification to the environmentai menagement systems standard 1SO
14001 This year we also made a first submission to the GRESB Real Estate Assessment, a global ESG
benchmark, achieving the highest {five star) rating and the highest rating for a UK based company. We were
also recognised by the Financial Times as one of Europe’s Climate Leaders. Through the CSR Committee,
the Board receives regular reports on environmental performance, considering o wide range of performance
indicators, including legisiative compliance. The Board continues to oversee the implementation of the CSR
Strategy and the detailed supporting programme of work to deliver the commitments that it contains.

This year the Board has received several reports on the issue of climaie change, considering the developing
policy framework, including the Government’s let Zero Strategy, the measures being taken to achieve net
zero operations and the assessment and reporting of climate risks consistent with the Taskforce on Climate
Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

The Board also recaived an updated assessment of the risks posed by the need to adapt to inevitable climate
change. As set out on page 48, the reporting of emissions and climate risk have been further improved in
this year’s report.

Having regard to the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business
conduct

The business continues to meet the requirements of the Global Reporting Initiative’s fully disclosed standard,
including reperting against the relevant sector supplement. The Board believes that full and transparent
disclosure is important to build and maintain the confidence of stakeholders. MAG continues to maintain
procedures fo minimise the risk of bribery and corruption and te provide all colleagues with an anonymous

service to report any instances of bullying or intimidation.
The Board tukes an active interest in issues that might impact MAG's reputation.
Having regard to the need to act faidy as between members of the company

MAG is owned jointly by the ten councils of Greater Manchester and IFM Investors. Shareholders appoint
representatives to the Board in equal number and oversee the appeintment of Non-Executive Directors, to
ensure goad governance. The Board meets regularly, providing full reports on al! relevant aspecis and the
company seeks, at all times, to ensure that appropriate information is made available to ail shareholders in

a timely and consistent way,
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MAG structure and governance armangements

[n ownership terms, the Group is structured as a joint venture between the ten local authorities of the
Greater Manchester regicn and IFM Global Infrastructure Furd (IFM GIF), which is advised by IFM Investors
PTY Ltd. In this way, MAG's ownership structure is unique and comprises an effective blend of public and
private shareholders, including Manchester City Council (35.5)%, IFM GIF (35.5)% and the nine other
Greater Manchester local authorities (29.0)%. Amongst those owners, Manchester City Council and IFM GIF
hald (in equal shares) the voting rights in board meetings of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (the
holding company of the Group), have certain matters reserved for their exclusive decision as shareholders,
and make two appointments each to the Board.

Convyers Trust Company
. (Cayman) Limited as
9 District Councils? Manchesmr C_'ty Trustee for IFM Global
Council (50% veting) Infastructure Fund
{50% voting)
]
Manchester Airports
Holdings Limited
(MAHL)
{The Bornugh Crunal of Bolton, the Barough Counce of Rury, the Cldham Breaugh Councl, the Rochdale Besaugh €oonal, the Counal of the Sy of Salfard, the fMetrapolitn
Boraugh Councd of Stockpor, the Tameside Metcopolitan Borough Couneil, the Traftord Borsugh Council end the Wigan Borough Councl
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Board of Directors
Board Committees
The rofe of the Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for developing, sefting and delivering the Group’s strategic
obijectives, safeguarding its reputation and maximising its multiple stakeholder relationships {as set out
further in the 5172 statement). The directors satisfy themselves that the necessary resources and controls are
in place to do this and to manage risks effectively, whilst at the same time setting and overseeing
maintenance of the Group’s values and standards.

The Board is comprised of 13 directors, being three MAG executive directors {including the Group Chief
Executive) and ter Non-Executive Directors (including the Chair)'.

It is considered that the size of the Board is uppropriate for the requirements of the business and that there is
a good balance of executive, independent and shareholder-appointed Non-Executive Directors on the
Board, with the Shareholder represeniative groups being equally represented. The Board is provided with
updates every month and normally meets formally six times a year. In addition, the Board considers specific
business matters on other occasions and met regularly during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Certain matters are reserved for decision by the Board and other matters reserved for decision of the voting

sharehoiders.
Chair and Chief Execulive
The roles of the Chair and Group Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined.

The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board. He orchestrates its work {in close consultation with
the Greup Chief Executive) and plays a critical role in ensuring that it delivers effectively on its
accountabilities and that the diverse capabilities of individual Board members are used to the best
advantage of the Group as a whale.

The Group Chief Executive is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group, the development
and implementation of strategy, and the delivery of Group financial and operational objectives. He is
supported by his executive committee which comprises: Deputy Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief of Staff, General Counsel and Company Secretary, Chief Information Officer, Chief Development
Officer, Chief Peaple Officer and Chief Executive of CAVU,

Non-Fxecutive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors bring extensive knowledge, skills and experience from both the privale and
public sectors, which allows the executive team to be supported in the development and execution of
strategy whilst ensuring that plans and proposals are censtructively challenged and the performance of
management in meeting agreed goals and objectives is scrufinised.

All Non-Exacutive Directors are appointed subject to objective capability criteria and the appointment of
every independent Non-Executive Director {including their remuneration) is, in common with that of executive
directors, subject to prior approval of the voting shareholders. The Non-Executive Directors appointed by the
voting shareholders hold office for so lang as the shareholders wish them to do so.

! Please note that these hgures include Paul Yenables «he aas apponted 0 March 2022 o Audit Chon designate and will assume the role ond responsitehties of the Audit Cher
when Ruberl Napwer refires at the cnd of lune 2027,
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Board Committees continued

The remaining Non-Executive Directors are appointed initially for a term of three years, with any renewal
thereof being o matter for the voting shareholders {on the recommendation of the Board and the
Nomination Committee). Any decision on such renewal will have regard to the contribution made by the
director in the immediately preceding period and relevant corporate governance best practice at the time to
ensure the ongoing efficacy of the Board.

Independent Non-Fxecutive Directors

The Board considers there to be five independent Non-Executive Directors, being Vanda Murray, Catherine
(Cath) Scheter, Robert Napier, Jonathan (Jon! Wragg and Paul Venables'. Vanda Murray has now served on
the Board for 11 years as of July 2021. Given the material issues that the business continues to contend with
as a consequence of COVID-19, together with her immense wealth of knowledge of the Company and
business acumen, the shareholders and Nomination Committee have concluded that her tenure should
continue. Sir Adrian Montague alsc meets the independence criteria set out in the Code, both on his
appointment as Chair, and at all times since. The shareholder appointed Non-Executive Directors during the
year were Clir Bev Craig (who replaced Sir Richard Leese following her becoming Leader of Manchester City
Council in December 2021}, Cllr John Blundell (representatives for the District Councils of Manchester) and
Maneoj Mehta and Christian Seymour {representatives for IFM GIF).

Board members background / bios

Furher infermation on all individual Board members, including their background and experience is availakle
at alt times on the MAG corporate website ot www.magairports.com

Board Effectiveness

To support quality decision-taking, prior to each meeting on a timely basis the Board receives a
comprehensive suite of executive reperts and papers covering commercial, operational and health and
safety matters across the Group. This is received together with a detailed Group finance review and, when
appropriate, an appraisal of current strategic opportunities and corporate risks. In the manths when it does
not meet an abridged reporting pack is provided.

The Board has established Audit, Corporate Social Responsibility and Remuneration committees with specific
delegated aquthorities {more information on the membership and remit of each of these is provided later in
this reper]. The Board also ensures, through the work of the Nomination Committee, that succession
planning at Board, executive and senior management levels reflects the changing needs of the Group's

businesses.

The Group has a formal induction programme comprising a cembination of introductory meetings, site
visits, briefing materials, and the opportunity to meet the shareholders, the external auditors and other key
stakeholders. The induction content includes corporate strategy and structure; current and recent board
topics; sectoral and competitive context; key operations; financial perfformance and funding; reputation and
brand; and stakeholder management.

" Poul Venables was appomted as Avdit Chan desigrate in March 2027 and will assune the b and responsibilities of the Audit Chair swhen Rabert Magier iolres at the end of
June 2022,
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Board Committees continued

The Group seeks to provide the necessary resources to enable directors to remain abreast of developments
relevant fo the Group’s business, aperation and their own responsibilifies. In addition, the directors may take
independent advice in relation fo their duties at the Company’s expense, it appropriate.

s172 Companies Act 2006

The Board take decisions with a long-term perspective and the annual business planning cycle assists in
focusing on the impact of decisions on the long-term strategy.

The Company Secretary plays an important role in advising the Board on the s172 requiremenis by setting
aut the substance of those requirements at appropriate times in order to ensure meaningful discussion with
regards to:

*  considering the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;
*  considering the interests of MAG employees;
e fostering and developing MAG business reiationships with suppliers, customers and others;

e assessing the impact of the operation on the community and the environment (as further explored on page 45
in the CSR Report);

e gassising MAG in maintaining & reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
s acting fairly as between members of MAG.

The separate Section 172 section at pages 50 to 52 illustrates how the Board and management have taken
account of these matters in decision making throughout the year. The impact of the MAG operation on the
community and environment (including climate change) in particular is addressed in detail in the Strategic
Report on pages 4( to 48.

Wates Principles

MAG keeps under review and seeks to adhere to the Wates Principles af alf times with regards the structure
and effectiveness of its internal governance arrangements and size and composition of the Board.

In particular, Principle 2 of the Wates Principles (Board Composition} advises: “Effective board composition
requires an effective chair and a balance of skills, backgrounds, experience und knowledge, with individual
directors having sufficient capacity to make a valuable contribution. The size of a board should be guided by
the scale and complexity of the company.” MAG considers that the structure cultlined above and the
individuals appointed to the Board adheres to the guidance set out in the Wales Principles (and in particular
this Principle 2) with regards the balance and diversity, size and structure and effectiveness of the Board.

Furthermore, in adherence to Principle 3 {Director Responsibilities) of the Wates Principles, MAG considers

that through the arrangements set out above the Board and individual directors have a clear understanding
of their accountability and responsibilities and that the corporate governance arrangements and procedures
support effective decision-making and independent challenge.
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Nomination Committee
Chair: Sir Adrian Montague CBE

in an organisation as varied and diverse as MAG, the Nomination Committee plays an impertant role in
ensuring that the structure, size and composition of the Board, manitaring the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity on the Board, leading the process for potential appointments to the Board, and
overseeing succession planning in respect of the directors (other than the shareholder-appointed directors)
and senior executives. The appointment of the Chair is undertcken by the voting sharehalders. As set out
below, | om satisfied that the Nomination Committee met its responsibilities. Alongside myself as the Chair,
the other Committee members are the Non-Executive Directors of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once per year and at other times as required. During the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 the Committee met five times. All of the members of the Commitiee attended
the meetings, at which the following was considered:

*  Renewql| of non-executive director cantracts of Sir Adrian Montague and Vanda Murray;
¢ Update on the business model during COVID-19 and succession planning following senior leadership exits;
» Update on the new e-commerce business CAVU; and

*+  Appointment of Paul Venables as Audit Chair designate following the planned retirement of Robert Napier in
june 2022,

In respect of its people mare generally, the Group recognises that diversity in iis workforce provides access
to a wider range of talents, experience and skills, promoting greater creativity and innovation. By
increasingly reflecting the communities and cultures that surround it, the Group continues to believe it can
become ever more responsive to the many and varied needs of its customers. MAG is commitied to
promoting inclusion and creating a positive and diverse enviroament, where all individuals are valued and
respected, but recognises that engendering and maintaining that environment requires constant aftention
and a strong emphasis on leadership awareness and capability. COVID-19 has had an impact on the
advancement of the MAG Diversity Programme and the Board, as a whole, will review progress as part of its
succession planning and Group People Strategy during the FY23 financial year.
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Audit Committee
Chair: Robert Napier CBE DL FRCS (Hon)

Alongside myself, membership of the Audit Committee at 31st March 2022 included Vanda Murray, lon
Wragg, John Blundeli and Mangj Mehta (all Non-Executive Directors with Manoj Mehta being shareholder
appointed).

The Audit Committee is responsible, primarily, for monitoring the Group's financial statements, the
adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control systems {including financial controls), the operation of its
risk management frameworks and whistleblowing procedures, and for reviewing the appointment,
independence, performance and cost effectiveness of the Group’s external auditor. During the year, the
Committee:

¢ reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts ond Interim Report including going concern and impairment
considerations;

o reviewed and updated the Treasury Policy;

¢ reviewed and updatfed the Tax Strafegy and Tax Policy;

*  monitored the Group’s cyber security activity and key controls;

e  considered the impact of changes to the accounting and financial reporting regimes applicable to the Group;

e reviewed the Group's internal control and risk management systems, and the outcomes of risk management

and risk-based internal oudit work;

s considered internal qudit skills and rescurces in the current situation and satisfied itself that these are adequate
1o meet the needs of the business and will be supplemented with co-sourced independent specialist support as
and when necessary;

s  reviewed and challenged management in relation to findings from internal audit reviews;
s  assessed the adequacy and basis of renewal of the Group’s insurance provision;
* review of alternative perfarmance measures and adjusted items;

e evaoluated the external audit activity, specifically in relation to the key risks (impairment of non-financicl assets,

going concern and valuation of investment property} and key judgemental areas {pensions and tax); and

» inthe course of safisfying itself as to the independence and cbjectivity of the external auditor, analysed the
level of fees paid to the external auditor for audit and non-oudit work, and the performance of the external
auditor.

In the assessment of the draft FY22 annual report and financial statements, given the continuing issues
created by the COVID-19 pandemic, there was o continued robust focus upon the evidence supporting the
ability of the company to release its financial statements on a going concern basis, the viability of the
company and ensuring that the annual report was fair, balanced and understandable. The directors consider
that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whaole is fair, balanced and understandable; and provides
the information necessary far shareholders to assess the company/group’s pesition and performance,
business model and strategy.

The Audit Committee met formally three times as part of its regular cycle in June 2021, November 2021
and April 2022.
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Audit Committee continued

All the members attended all meetings {with the exception of J Blundell who sent apalogises for the
Novembear 2021 meeting and Paul Venables joined the Committee in April 2022 as Chair designate). At
the November meeting the Committee decided fo re-tender MAG's external audit services and in January
2022 a sub-group of the Audit Committee alongside representatives from Management (the Sub-
Committee) met to evaluate the proposals received. Following a robust evaluation process the Sub-
Committee recommended to appeint Ernst Young LLP as statutory uuditor for a 5 year period cammencing
from FY23 which was subsequently approved by the full Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

The external auditor, the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Cflicer and the Chief Audit Officer all routinely
attend the Committee’s meetings. Each of the exterral auditor and the Chief Audit Officer have the
opportunity to meet the members of the Committee and/or the Cammittee’s Chair, without executive

management present.

The Board is satistied that, through the range of skills and business experience possessed by each member
of the Audit Committee, throughout this finoncial year, the Audit Commiitee as a whole had the competence
relevant to the sectors in which the Group operates.

CSR Committee

Chair: Vanda Murray OBE
Working together for a brighter future”

In 2020 the CSR Committee welcomed MAG's new Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Strategy, "Working
together for a brighter future’. Despite an extremely challenging period for MAG’s airports, their colleagues
and communities, the Commitlee has been pleased to see the progress that has been made, and how the
Strategy has informed MAG's response o the pandemic. MAG has listened to the vaices of its local
communities and wider stakeholders, gaining important insight to identify priority issued and guide it's CSR
Strategy. With trave! restrictions eased and the aviation sector now seeing a strong recovery, MAG's
longstanding commitment to corporate responsibility will be important to altracting and retaining talented
people, driving recruitment, operating sustainably, and returning value to the communities its airports serve.

With corporate responsibility a key issue for investors, the CSR Committee has been encouraged to see
MAG demonstrate how its CSR Strategy addresses environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues. Full
disclosure of perdoermance and policies provides a solid foundation for ESG and in MAG's first year of
participation, | was pleased to see the business recognised by the GRESB ESG benchmark as a ‘five star’
organisation and a ‘sector leader”. It has also been wonderful to see MAG achieving further recognition on
specific CSR issues. With climate change the defining issue of our time, it is paricularly notable that MAG
has been named a Financial Times Furopean Climate Leader for 2021 and 2022, recognising our
longstanding commitment fo decarbonise our business and the wider aviation industry.

This year MAG is continuing its approach fo transparent performance reporting. This report includes an
overview of MAG’s CSR programmes, performance against key measures and provides detailed climate
disclosures which fulfil many of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disciosures (TCFD). Further information will be provided in MAG’s detailed CSR Report later this year which
will continue to meet the ‘comprehensive’ standard for disclosures established by the Global Reporting
Initiative.
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CSR Committee continued

By placing CSR is at the core of MAG's recovery from the pandemic, MAG will deliver a sustainable
recovery which benefits its colleagues and communities, enriching the regions it serves. Strong governance
and effective leadership positicn the business well to deliver it’s CSR Strategy, creating opportunity for local
people, minimising impacts on the environment and responding to the needs of a diverse group of

stakeholders.
COVID-19

It is now more than & year since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemig, its impacts are clear to see both
within MAG and its communities. However, it has been pleasing to see that, during particularly difficult
times, MAG and its colleagues have risen to the challenge. Through generous volunteering programmes
and community funds that provide valuable financial support to community organisations, MAG has truly
demonstrated that it is a responsible corporate citizen,

Protecting passengers and staff from COVID-19 has been a key priority for MAG this year. MAG's science-
based approach, developed in partnership with health experis, implements, exceeds and verifies compliance
with government guidance. As a result, customers and colleagues can be confident that MAG's airports are

a sale environment and that all risks have been considered and appropriately mitigated.

Throughout the year, MAG's colleagues have demonstrated genuine strength and resilience. Amid difficult
circumstances they have adapted to different ways of working and, to protect the future of the business, large
numbers of colleagues have been furloughed. Supporting colieagues’ physical and mental wellbeing has
been an important focus this year. Sadly, the pandemic has led to some colleagues leaving the business.
However, it has been good to see MAG Connect’s Airport Academies step up fo the mark, providing
employability and skills support to affected colleagues and finking them to appropriate vacancies. MAG's
focus on wellbeing will corfinue over coming months, ensuring colleagues are supported during their
reintroduction into the workplace as passenger numbers return to normal levels.

A year in review

This year the CSR Commitiee met four limes, with my fellow Non-Executive Directors John Wragg and Cath
Schefer attending all meetings. We were pleased to be joined by the Chair of the Board, and senior
executives, including the Managing Directors of all MAG's airports. In addition to regular reporting of
performance, and extensive discussion regarding MAG's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Committee received reports considering o wide range of issues including:

¢ Health, safety and wellbeing;

. Business resilience;

& Diversity and inclusion, including gender pay gap:

¢ Climate change, including naticnal end inlernational carbon policy;

s Decarbonisation, renewable energy and low emission vehicles;

¢ Aircrah noise and dirspace modernisafion;

e Skills and education projects, including support for colleagues leaving the business due to COVID-19;

s Inclusive customer service for passengers with additional needs;
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CSR Committee continued
*  Modern slavery; and
¢ SR reporting, communications and engagement.

The ‘Sustainability at MAG' section of this report, at page 40, provides further information about the
Greup'’s work in this area. Later this year, MAG will again publish a full CSR Reponrt, including full disclosure
against the Global Reporting Initiative Comprehensive Option and associoted sectoral standard.

Remuneration Committee
Chair: Vanda Murray OBE

| am pleased to set out the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31st March 2022 This sets out details
of aur remuneration policy and principles alongside key activities undertaken in the year.

What are our reword principles and how do these link to MAG's sirategyé

The Committee considers the Group’s key strategic priorities when sefting remuneration and ensures that all
remuneration packages are linked to the long-term sustainable financial performance of the Group. The
Committee ensures that any incentive structure drives performance that will enhance the experience of our
customers, shareholder and our colleagues. As one of the largest employers in the region, MAG is also
committed to being a good corporate citizen and doing the right thing for our colleagues and local
communities and therefore supporis the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee in areas such as
fairness, gender pay and diversity and inclusion.

The Committee is alse guided by the following principles:

¢ aftract and retain talent — allow the Group to attract, motivate and retain senior executives of high-calibre wheo

are capable of delivering the Group's stretching cbjectives;

s perlormance-drven  link rewards to both individual and corporate performance, responsibility and

contribution over both the short and long term;

s market aligned position the Group competitively in the principal markets (both private and fisted companies)

where it competes for talent;

»  fair - fairly designed and applied with consideration to market positioning, internal relativity and individual
contribution, in the
context of pay within the wider warkforce; and

o  simple - rewards are simple and understandable with a clear link between performance expectations,

outcomes and rewards.
What were the Committee’s responsibilities and key activities undertaken in FYZ2Z22

The activities during FY22 were again influenced by the impact of COVID-19. Following the 10% pay cut
that was applied for all Directors and employees during the previous year, the palicy far pay in this year was
guided by the Pay Stability Agreement. This set out the principle that pay be linked to working patterns, the
categories being fully warking (100% pay), part working ($0% pay) or not working {80%) pay. This applied
throughout the Group for the entire year.
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Remuneration Committee continued

During the year, in addition to the regular duties the Committee performs year on year such as reviewing
policies, giving censideration to market trends in remuneration and considering pay in the context of the

wider waorkforce, the Committee:
*  reviewed market information on pay for Executive Directors and Senior Executives;

e implemented a pay freeze for the second year in succession. This applied to all Executive Directers and
Employees and reflected the continuing impact of COVID-19 on the Group;

» applied the principles of the pay Stability Agreement. JAs all Executive Directars were fully working from 1 April
2021 they have accordingly hove been on 100% pay for FY22.]

o deployed Short-Term and Long-Term Incentive awards during the year that are closely linked to the planned
recovery of MAG post pandemic

Directors’ Remuneration Report
Membership of the Commitiee, Remif and Aftendance at Meetings

The Committee’s members during the year were Vanda Murray (Chair), Christian Seymour, Cath Schefer
and Sir Richard Leese {all Non-Executive Directors, with Christian Seymour and Sir Richard Leese being
shareholder-appointed). During the year Richard Leese was repluced by Bev Craig pursuant to the change of
leader of Manchester City Council. The Committee met three times during the financial year.

How do we reward our Executives and how does this link to the Group’s strategyé

ard element and purpose in supporiing the Group's Dperc of reveard element for Fxecutive Directors and senior

Basic Salary The basic salaries of Executive Directors and Senior Executives are
Support the recruitment and retention of executive reviewed annually and set based on.

directors and other senior executives, recognising the size
and scope of the role and the individual’s skills and personal perfformance,
experience. Group size and performance;
responsibility levels;
affordability; ond

competitive market practice against @ comparator group

of similar sized organisations

Individuals who are recruited or promoted to the Board may, on
occasion, have their salaries set below the targefed policy level until
they hecome established in their role. In such cases subsequent
increases in salary may be higher until the target positioning is
achieved.

Along with all employees, no pay award was made in FY22 to
Executive Directors or Senior Executives.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Reward element and purpose in supporting the Group s

Cloeration of reward element for Executive Directars and senior

skategy

Short-Term Incentive Plan (STIF)

Ensures a market-competitive remuneration package.
Links total remuneration 1o achievement of the Group’s
strategy against measurable performance criteria in the
short-term, both driving individual performance and
creating shareholder vaive.

Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP)

Designed to incentivise executive directors and key senior
managers towards long-term sustainable results and
creating shareholder value, whilst acting as a retention
tool.

evecytives

Short Term Incentive awards were deployed during the year. These
awards vest subject to the achievemnent of key measures of recovery,
being financial, personal and strategic targets. Any incentive value
in excess of 80% of salary is paid in the form of deferred cash 1o be
released one year after the initial payment, subject to centinued
employment. In addition o the performance targets, the Committee
retain the discretion to reduce STIP owards in part or in full for this
year, based on an overall assessment of both Group and personal
performonce. In line with best practice, a clawback provision is
included in the STIP. This provision enables the Group to reduce
awards or reclaim payments made, in the event of a material
misstatement or error in the financial results, where the Group has
made an error in calculating the amount of award, or where there
has been gross misconduct on the part of the participant.

New Long-Term Incentive Awards were deployed during the year
closely aligned to MAG's anficipated recovery over the period to
FY23 and FY24. Vesting of awards is dependent on the
achievernent of financial targets, but awards can be reduced by up
1o 30% based on personal performance.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

Designed to incentivise participants towards sustainable
long term growth and shareholder value, whilst acting as
an effective retention mechanism

Following the cancellation of all previous in-flight awards, The
Committee made Long-Term Incentive awards during the year. The
perormance period for these awards runs to March 2024 and the
perdormance measures are closely linked to the recovery
programme for MAG following the impact of COVID-19. These
awards have an interim measure of performance at March 2023.

The quantum of awards made are representative of the need to both
retain and incentivise key participants during this critical recavery
period. The Committee reserve the discrefion to reduce awards
down to nil where it considers underlying perfermance is net ot a
satisfactory level during the performance period.

Pension

The pension arrangements comprise part of a competitive
remuneration package and facilitate long-ferm retirement
savings for executive directors and senior executives.

The Company provides pension benefits 1o eligible emplayees
through legacy defined benefit arrangements or the MAG Defined
Contribution Pension Scheme, which is a defined contribution {DC)
arrangement. The DC arrangement is available for newly eligible
employees and provides money purchase pension benefits.

Executive directors and senior executives are entitled to receive a

salary supplement in lieu of pension contributions.

Additional benefits

Provide a market competitive benefits package that is
consistent with Group vaiues and suppers executives te
carry out their duties effectively.

Other benefits include a car cash allowance, or an equivalent car,
in addition to permanent health insurance, private health insurance,
critical illness cover and death-in-service life cover.

Directors’ remuneration is set out in note 6 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
How does the Committee give consideration to the wider employee workforce?

The Committee understands the importance of giving consideration to the wider employee warkforce when
making remuneration decisions, in terms of faimess, gender pay and diversity and inclusion. The
Remuneration Committee works closely with the Corporate Sociat Responsibility (CSR) Committee to
understand the positive work being done in this area and the stakeholder engagement undertaken as part of

the CSR agenda.

Mere information about the Group’s Commitment 1o gender pay and diversity and inclusion can be found in
the Sustainability section of the report on pages 43 to 45. Examples of the initiatives MAG have
implemented are:

¢ we gllow cur Colleagues two doys’ paid time off per year to volunteer in the community;

s we continue to offer a Flexible Benefits system that allows employee to choose the benefits most appropriate for
their circumstances;

¢ we have produced o Gender Pay Report as set out in the Gender Pay Regulations; and

s we ensure compliance with the National Living wage.
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Internal controls and risk management

Internal controls

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, which aims to safeguard assets and
shareholders’ investment, and seeks to ensure that proper accounting records are maintained, that statutary
and regulatory requirements are met, and that the Group’s business is operated economically, effectively
and efficiently. It is acknowledged that any system of internal control is most likely 1o manage rather than

eliminate risk, and can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement

o fuss,

The Group's system of internal control has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of this
Annual Report. The key elements of the internal control environment, which includes the pracess for

preparing the consolidated financial statements, are:

clearly defined organisational structures, schemes of delegation and lines of responsibility;

the invalvement of qualified, professianal employees with an appropriate level of experience (bath in the
Group's Finance function and H’]roughouf the business);

regular meetings of the Boord and of the Chiet Executive’s Executive Committee;

Board approval of long-term business strategies, key business objectives and annual budgets (with an annual
review being underfuken to update the business strategies and key business objectives);

preparation, and Board approval, of revised financial forecasts during the year — monitoring financial
performance on a monthly basis against budget, and the benchmarking of key perfermance indicators, with
remedial action being taken where appropriate;

monitoring annual performance against business plans;

established procedures for planning, approving and monitoring capital projects, together with post project

investment appraisal;

regular review by the Group's Finance function of each business unit including a recenciliation to the

management accounts on a segmental basis;

the review by the Audit Committee and the Board of the draft consolidated financial statements, and receipt of
and consideration by the Audit Committee of reports from management and the external auditor, on significant

judgements and other pertinent maters relating to those stotements;
the activities of the Internal Audit function (see below);

implementation of Group-wide procedures, palicies, standards and processes concerning business activities,

including financial reporting, health and safety, and human rescurces.

The Group has an established, independent Internal Audit function, the role of which is to provide impartial,
objective audit, assurance and consulting acivily thal is desigred to strengthen, improve and add value to
core processes and procedures across the Group.

The Internal Audit team takes a disciplined and risk-based approach to evaluating and improving the
effectiveness of risk management, internal controls and governance processes, aimed ot providing assurance
that key risks are being well managed, and controls are adequately designed and operating effectively. Their
approach is based an professional best practice, in particular, the 2020 Infernal Audit Code of Practice.
MAG continues to apply the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors Standards to its Internal Audit
methodology, processes and procedures.
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Internal controls continued

An annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan is developed which provides coverage of the Group's risk profile
over a rolling three year period, with an initial focus on areas of high inherent risk and areas where the
Group is heavily reliant on mitigoting controls to manage the risk to an acceptable level. The plan is
reviewed and refreshed in line with MAG's annual cycle of Audit Committee meetings and according to the
Group's evolving risk profile.

Over the course of the year, the Internal Audit team has carried out 13 reviews across a broad range of
areas including: heclth and safety, specifically COVID-19 control measures and fire safety governance;
airport security and operations; core financial controls; and procurement, including supplier management
and governance. The IT audit plan this year has remained focused on key cyber and information security
risks, and deep dives have been conducted into areas such as MAG Active Directory and Privileged Access
Management.

Specifically this year and in line with Internal Audit standards, Intemal Audit activity has focused on the
adequacy and continuous improvement of MAG’s 2nd line functions and the assaciated controls and
assurance processes that are in pluce across the Group. Where relevant, Internal Audit scopes include o
review of governance arrangements and os appropriate, the reliability and qualily of key business
information which is being provided ‘o support strategic decision-making processes across the business.

The tnternal Audit team carries out an annual self-assessment exercise to establish its effectiveness and any
areas far improvement, based on the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors Standards. The most recent

exercise confirmed full compliance with those Standards and an action plan has been developed to support
the team’s objective for continuous improvement in respect of quality assurance processes and pracedures.

In line with best practice, MAG also cperates an independently provided, confidential reporting telephone
helpline and web portal for employees to raise matters of concern in relation to fraud, dishonesty,
corruption, theft, security and bribery. All claims are fully investigated in lire with MAG’s standard policies
and procedures and a full whistleblowing update is provided at each Audit Commitiee meeting.

As part of Internal Audit's activity in year we have also reviewed the business’s application of policies and
procedures {for areas under review) with the aim of supporting the dissemination and standardisation of
good working practices and raising awareness of any non-compliance and areas for improvement. This
ensures that there is the appropriate tone from the top and consistency of controls and processes ccross the
Group that are aligned to MAG’s Crganisational Design and core objectives. Internal Audit aims to add
value by ensuring that MAG behaviours and culture in respect of risk appetite, risk mitigation and
subsequent controls assurance is instilled across the business.

Based on the Internal Audit work delivered during the year, in the context of materiality, and considering
management's commitment fo implerment agreed control improvement recommendations, the Internal Audit
team concluded that MAG’s internal control and risk activities were operating effectively for the period under
review. On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has received the Chief Audit Officer’s Annual Report
and Opinion and has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal conirol. Regular
reports on control issues are presented to, and discussed with, the Audit Committee, and there is a process
in place to ensure that audit recormmendations are fully implemented by senior executive management. As
such, 98% of recommendations made during the period have now been fully implemented or are on track to
be implemented in line with initial agreed deadlines. There are updated, risk-based deadlines in place for
the 2% of overdue actions.
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Internal controls continued

The Board, having considered the Audit Committee’s review, is able to confirm that no significant failings
have been identified in the system of internal control.

Risk management

At MAG we believe that effective risk management is critical to our success as a business ~ from delivering
safe, secure and efficient operations which provide a great customer experience, to the delivery of our
strategy and business plans, all of which are underpinned by a clear understanding of the risk environment

and robust strategies fo manage and mitigate material risks.

MAG's Risk Management Framework covers the full spectrum of our corporate and operational aclivities —
the framework is embedded in day to-day operations and is characterised by strong management ownership
and engagement.

MAG operates a ‘3 Lines of Defence’ governance model whereby risk is owned and managed by
management within the business ('1st Line’), supported and facilitated by a Risk Management function (2nd
line") and independently assured by functions including MAG's own Internal Audit Department (*3rd Line’).

MAG’s Risk Management Framework is focused on providing management, the Audit Committee and Board
with o clear and current view of the organisation’s risk profile and our strategies to manage and mitigate
material risks and to identify emerging risks. The framework is structured to ensure that all aspects of the
Group’s risk profile are subject to regular review at the strategic, corporate and operational levels, and to
provide for prompt escalation and assessment of material risks and/or those that may be emerging at the
appropriate governance level(s) as they arise or are identified. This assessment process is underpinned
annually through the delivery of an extensive programme of risk review workshops, facilitated by our team of
risk specialists who support management across the organisation in identifying and evaluating key risks and
those that are emerging and developing effective mitigation strategies designed to manage risk exposure to

an acceptable level.

The framework also enables management to identify and evaluate potential business and operational
opportunities, enhancing the ability of the organisation to maximise these at an early stage and in a
controlled manner.

The Risk Management Framework provides a clear and comprehensive basis for a consistent approach to
risk management across the business, This solid foundation means that leaders can respond with agility to
new and emerging risks thanks to a clear understanding of how risks should be identified, measured,
monitered and governed. It has allowed MAG to respond quickly and thoroughly to the risks as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic. This served to ensure the continuity of the organisation through a time of
unprecedented uncertainty with a subsequent strong recovery in operations. Growing back this quickly has
not been withaut its challenges. Having a well-embedded risk management process allows MAG to identify
the key uncertainties and challenges resulting from an upsurge in demand alongside the mitigations and
actions required fo sustain o successful recovery.

Risk appetite is well understood within the business and forms a key element of our risk evaivation
methodology, providing clear boundaries for management on the levels of risk the business is prepared to
accept, and prompting action where risks fall outside our defined appetite. Detined risk tolerances provide
the foundation for consistent evaluation of risk acrass the business and the basis for assessing risks against
our stated risk appetites.
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Risk management continued

The MAG Risk Management Framework establishes a set of key evaluation criteria for risk impact scoring.
Each of these impacts is associated with o relevant appetite. in this way a greater appelite may be attributed
to some commercial risks compared 1o a significantly lower appetite for regulatory and health and safety
risks. Risks are escolated through the reporting process based on whether they are inside or outside of
appetite. This enables a clear differentiation between a higher scering risk for which MAG has a greater
tolerance and a lower scoring risk for which the appetite is low or indeed zero.

This methodology applies to all MAG risks from aperational through to strategic level. This consistent
approach facilitates comparison of risks which means the most significant are escalated to appropriate
governance forums. Risk appetite is considered by the Audit Committee as part of its annual plan of wark to
ensure that it remains fit for purpose.

Strong emphasis is placed on the development and implementation of robust action plans to mitigate or
manage identified risks to a level which is inside MAG's risk appetite. Timely implementation of risk action
plans is monitored by our Risk Team and progress is regutarly reported to senior management and, where
appropriate, to the Audit Committee and Board.

Ownership and accountability are key to the success of any risk framework, and management at all levels
are expected to engage actively in the risk management process and take full ownership of risks within their
areas of responsibility. As a minimum, management are required to engage in risk review workshops in
advance of each Audit Committee meeting, ensuring that the Executive Committee and Audit Committee
have an accurate and up-to-date view of the Group’s risk profile throughout the year. This process is
supported by the regular engagement of MAG's Risk Team with Risk Owners and their teams. This ensures
that risk is considered on a reqular basis and remains at the forefront of business planning and decision-

making.

The Audit Committee and our Executive Team receive regular detailed management information on the
Group's risk profile through risk reports which highlight key risks, material changes to the risk profile and
risks outside appetite. In addition, Airport Leadership Teams receive regular risk reports with a focus on both
the risk profile and management’s progress in implementing agreed mitigating actions. Management is
accustemed to regular constructive chellenge on its strategies to manage key risk exposures and is held to
target deadlines to implement agreed mitigating actions.

Risk management is embedded in MAG's decision-making processes through the requirement to provide
detailed risk assessments within business case submissions and decision papers submitted to the Board and
our various other governance forums. In addition, the Board receives periedic updates on the Group’s risk
profile to support strategic decision-making. This includes the outputs of biannual Stralegic Risk workshops
held with the Executive team to ensure that MAG's strategic and emerging risk assessments remain up to
date and accurate.

At MAG we conlinuously strive to maintain a strong risk management culture which is open and transparent.
It is important that management feel able to discuss risk issues openiy and receive the support it needs to
ensure that risks are aclively managed or mitigated. The Risk Team engages regularly with management
across the business to achieve this, facilitating open conversations around risk, ensuring they have the
knowledge and tools to manage risk effectively within their own areas of responsibility.

The established processes outlined above mean that risk is considered ot all lavels of the organisation.
Regular liaison with senior management provides o basis on which to consider new and emerging risks.
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Risk management continued

Horizon scanning of risks is the responsibility of all senior MAG officers, supported by the Risk team to
ensure that they are recorded in a timely manner to ensure appropriate governance and aftention. Any
significant or strategic risks are supported by the establishment of programmes with their own registers, input

to by the programme team.

Our Internal Andit Team provides management and the Audil Committee with independent assurance over
the management of MAG's risk profile through the delivery of a risk-based Strategic Internal Audit Plan
which assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control environment. The Plan is designed to
provide assurance over the Group's risk profile across a rolling 3 year period with a focus on prioritising the
biggest risks. In this way there is a clear process to ensure that the Strategic Internal Audit Plan is aligned
with the assessment of MAG's key risks. Findings from Internal Audit reports ore reflected in the risk register
to contribute to enhancing the robustness of existing controls, identifying new controls and the actions
agreed by management where areas for development are identified.

Principal risks

The table below summarises the key risks identified during the year, with details of the strategies for
managing them and some of the potential opportunities they present:

Risk

Recruitment of
volume hires

Mitigation strategy

The COVID-19 pandemic had an unprecedented and
sustained impact on the avidtion industry. As a result of this,
many operafional colleagues lefi the business, either to
pursue other opportunities or due fo redundancy.

As travel restrictions have eased and customer confidence has
returned, we have seen a marked increase in passenger
numbers. Whilst this represents a welcome and extremely
positive return towards pre-pandemic levels of activity, it
represents o significant demand on operational colleagues
only a short time after restrictions have eased.

There is currently a significant difference in current availoble
resource and resource required to deliver effective operations
at each airport. This is exacerbated by the competition in the
markel 1o recruit as well as the necessary process MAG
frontline colleagues must underge before they are permitted
to work in the operation.

In order to process increased passenger numbers safely, we
have embarked or a huge recruitment drive to replace the
operational colleagues lost during the panderic, with a key
focus on Aviation Security Officers (ASO). Including:

. A large scale and wide-ranging recruitment
campaign

*  Press releases in all our regions, announcing
hundreds of new roles

*  Aseries of Jobs Fairs across all 3 regions

. Improved the ASO ‘offer’

. An onsite assessment day model

Cpportunities

After the COVID-19 pandemic effectively
ground operations to a halt, the upsurge
in demand represents an opportunity to
engoge MAG’s guests and offer them a
welcome return o air travel,

MAG has reviewed and refreshed core
recruitment and retention policies and
procedures.

Processes have been updated to ensure
that  recruitment and  on-boarding
activities remain compliant but take ploce
in a more timely and efficient manner.

In addition, operaficnal job roles and
activities have been re-visited to ensure
optimum use of avoilable staff that aligns
to their current vetting status  and
avaitability.
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Principal risks continued

Risk

Cyber Security

Mitigation strategy

Manchester Airparts Group fs part of the UK Critical National
Infrestructure (CNI) and under the Security of Metwork &
Information Systems Regulations {NIS Regulations) its airports
are considered to be an essential service and MAG is defined
as an Operator of tssential Service (OES). This change in
legislation now sees cyber security controls being regulated by
the Civil Aviation Authority {CAA) and MAG has to comply
with this regulatory requirement that sees cyber security
associated with aviation safety.

MAG is committed to providing a world-class cyber security
posture and  will continue to take its cyber security
responsibilities with the utmost seriousness. MAG has adopted
a defence in depth approach to cyber security profection and
haos developed an embedded security culivre through
awareness, education and empowerment to ensure we keep
MAG's operafions, customers, employees and stakeholders
safe from cyber threats.

Opportunities

MAG operates an Information Security
Managerent System {ISMS) based on the
recommendations of 15C 27001:2017,
including  risk managemen’, business
continuity, incident management, physical
security, security awareness fraining and
much more.

The MAG ISMS  ensures  securily
governance is in place at the core of the
organisction. The Cyber Security Steering
Committee (CSSC) meets on a bi-monthly
basis to monitor performance; these
meelings include senior stakeholders from
across  cyber  security,  Information
Technology, HR, Finance, Legal, Airport
Operations and relevant business owners.
The CS5C helps to ensure that o wide
security strategy is susfained so  that
MAG's exposure to cyber threats and risks
is reduced.

Long Term
Implications of
Brexit and Wider
Macroeconomic
Rigks

The 2016 “Brexit’ referendum decision continues to bring
challenges regarding the United Kingdom’s relationship with
the EU and in respect of international trading opfions more
generally moving forward. This, combined with a number of
other macroeconomic risks that are currently on the horizon
such as potential loss of trade and the rate of economic
growih, means that MAG, and the aviation industry more
widely, conlinves to face ongeing uncerainly moving
forward.

We monitor the economic environment closely and have
ensured that our business plans are resilient 1o ecanomic
shocks through prudent scenario planning ond  sensitivity
analysis.

MAG will work closely with the aviation industry to ensure that
the longer term implications of current macroeconomic risk
factors are well understood and mitigated where possible.

Whilst carefully monitoring and managing
exposure to the risks, we will seek to
ensure that the business is well positioned
to take opporlunities that changes to
relationships, policy or legislation may
present.

MAG is focused on ensuring our airports
have the capacity and quality of facilities
our customers expect in the medium and
longer term in response to the issues
created hy the COVID-19 global
pandemic.

The uncertainty arcund Brexit and other
potential economic shocks has provided
the opportunity to review our operafing
model, processes, and geographical/
product diversification
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Principal risks continued

Risk

Climate Change

Mitigation strategy

MAG has already taken significant action to reduce emissions
associated with its own operations. Our operations are
carbon neutral and our CSR Sirategy sets out how we will
transition to @ net zero carbon business no later than 2038.
We have wlso infroduced a number of measures to reduce
emissions indirectly associated with our activities, including
from ground transport to our airports and aircraft. To this
end, under MAG's leadership of the Sustainable Aviaticn
coalition, the UK aviation industry became the first in the
world 1o commit to net zero aviation by 2050 and publish @
plan to achieve this goal. MAG continues fo work with
industry partners to achieve this target, playing our full part in
decarbonising the indusiry through membership of the
Government’s Jet Zero Council, girspace medemisation and
our competition incentivising the introduction of zero emission
qircraft on services from MAG airports.

MAG has also underiaken two climate change adaptation
assessments, considering the physical climate risks to MAG's
infrastructure and airport operations. These reports, which
were submitted to Government Jo inform its National
Adagtion Programme, will be updated this yeor as we
complete our third assessment making use of the Met Office’s
latest climate projections.

This year we have enhanced our Annual Repert reportfing to
more closely reflect the recommendations made by the Tosk
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Over
the coming year we will continue to develop cur assessment
of the financial risks posed to MAG by climate change and
publish the findings in future reports.

Opportunities

MAG is well positioned as o climate-
leader in the aviation industry. MAG
airports were the first in the UK to be
carbon  neutral. OQur  CSR - Strategy
presents a pathway 1o net zerc nc later
than 2038 and the Sustoinable Aviation
Decarbenisation Roadmap sefs out how
emissions from aircraft will reduce to net
zero by 2050.

We are in open diclogue with
Government through aclive membership
of the Jet Zero Council. This both
influences Government
action against premises they have made

and  monitors

and is a ferum to demonstrate positive
work undertcken by the aviation sector
and MAG specifically.

Cur mature understanding of physical
climate  risks  directly
stondards  and infrastructure  planning.
Further work to consider the financial
implications  of climate change  wil
position MAG well as economies more
generally decarbonise.

informs  asset

Security Breach

We continue to invest heavily year on year in ensuring our
customers, employees and stakeholders remain safe and
secure at all of our sites in the context of the current threat
environment.

We work closely with the Police and Government security
agencies to ensure that our security faciliies and processes
meet the high standards required to respond lo new and
existing security threats.

Our security faciliies and processes are subject to extensive
internal and external inspections and audits by regulators,
external specialists and infernal teams who regularly test the
effectiveness of our security processes and identify
opportunities for improvement.

Whilst security is paramount, we also
want our customers to continue to enjoy o
positive experience at our cirports.

We look for opportunities o enhance the
customer experience whilst maintaining
the high standards of security our
stakeholders expect, in porticular working
to  minimise security queuing
through confinvous improvement and
innovative approaches to our security
processes and facilities

times
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Principal risks cantinued

Mitigation strategy

Opportunities

Major Health &
Safety incident
affecting our
customers or
colleagues

The Hedlth & Safety of our customers, employees and
stakeholders is o fundamental priority for us. Robust Health &
Safety policies, procedures and processes are in place, and
compliance is monitored by our experienced team of Health &
Safety specialists who undertake a programme ot inspections
and audits throughout the year.

Health & Safely training s provided to all employees and
briefings are provided to contractors and other visitors o cur
sites to ensure that key Health & Scfety risks are understood
and effectively managed.

Our Health & Safety governance siructure is designed to
ensure that there is appropriate aversight of our management
of Heolth & Sofety risk and enobles malerial risks fo be
quickly escalated and addressed. We continue to invest
heavily year on year in ensuring our customers, employees
and stakeholders remain safe and secure at afl of our sites in
the context of the current threat environment.

We work closely with the Police and Government security
agencies to ensure that our security facilities and processes
meet the high stondards required to respond to new and
existing security threats.

Continuous improvement of our Health &
Safety arrangements is a key focus for
each of our operations. This is facilifated
by our specialist Health & Safery Teams
and underpinned by strong ownership
and accountability by our management
teams. Whilst security is paramount, we
alse want our customers to continue to
enjoy o positive experience at our airports

Regulatory risk

Complionce with regulotory requirements is a priority for
MAG, and we invest in extensive internal ond external
assurance fo ensure we continue to be fully compliant across
oll aspects of our aperations.

evaluation
the number

We also deploy risk monagement criteria
specifically for regulatory risk. Given and
complexity of the requlatory requirements we are subject to,
this allows us to ericulate and compare our key regulatory
risks using a comprehensive approach.

We work closely and have

relationships with our regulators te ensure

strong

we understand and can fully comply with
their We
quickly opportunities for
improvement are identified, ond through

requirements. strive to  act

when

our regulator relationships we are able to

plan well in advance for successful

responses to future requirements.

Recruitment,
development and
retention of talented
people

Recruiting and refaining falent is critical to the success of our
business, and this has been an area of significant focus in
recent years. Qur Talent Strotegy gims 1o atiract the best
available pecople in the market and retain employees through
a variety of initiatives including incentive schemes, career
development programmes and mentering 1o help them
contribyte to driving the success of the company, whilst
getting the very best out of their career at MAG.

We are also adapting our recruitment approach in key areas
such as ‘digital’ to reflect the changing external
environment, where the competition for talent is higi‘\.

Regular employee communications and
performance  reviews individually and
collectively  combined  with  regular
communications from management and
the use of employee engagement surveys
enable colleagues to identify
opportunities 1o improve the employee
expetience. MAG is  transparent in
communicating  survey  results  and
proactive in developing initiatives  to
deliver identified improvements.
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Task Force on Climate-Related Financia
Disclosures

2021 marked a pivotal year for determining the future of the global climate. This culminated in the United
Nations Climate Change Conference (COP28) in November, when global leaders reasserted their
commitment to meet the Paris Agreement and limit warming to 2°C, preferably to 1.5°C, compared to pre-
industrial levels. MAG is dedicated to tackling the climate crisis head on and we are committed to
supporting the transition to o low-carbon economy.

We have pledged o making our airport operation net zero carbon by 2038, 12 years in advance of the
national target. For over 15 years, we have been dedicated to reducing the carbon infensity of our airport
operations. Through our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Strategy, “Working together for a brighter
future”, we position climate change at the forefront of our approach to delivering a sustainable business.
This year, the United Nations International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAQ) General Assembly will further
highlight the UK's role as a leader in combatting climate change, with the UK aviation sector’s declaration
to achieve net zere carbon emissions by 2050. MAG recognises the importance of the aviation sector in
realising this goal.

In 2017, the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures {TCFD) published recommendations
against which MAG will be required to report from 2024. Recognising the importance of climate change
and the need lo understand and mitigate climate risk, we began reporting against TCFD recommendations
in our last annual repart. This year, we are further enhancing our disclosures by developing our approach to
further assessing climate-related risks and opportunities, with a particular focus on transition risks. By
evaluating these risks over the short, medium, and long term, we are equipping the business with the tools
and knowledge to inform decision making. We are atso preparing for full reporting against TCFD in line with
regulatory requirements and for our FY24 Annual Report and going forward, we will report against the
disclosures in full.

An overview of cur disclosures against the TCFD recommendations is provided below. This section of our
report also provides detailed coverage on the climate-related issues for MAG in line with the TCFD
recommendations.
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TCFD disclosure recommendation fable

Disclosure recommendation

Governance

Section reference

a)

Describe the Board’s oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

2021/22 Annual Report — {eadership and
Governance (Page 50}

2021/22 Annual Report - TCFD section
{this section)

taking into consideration different future climate
scenarios, including o 2°C or lower scenario

b} Describe management’s role in assessing and managing 2021/22 Annual Report TCFD section

climate-related risks and opportunities {this section)
Strategy

a)  Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the 2021/22 Annual Reporl — TCFD section
arganisation has identified over the short, medium and {this section)
|Ong term

b} Describe the impact of climate-related risks and 2021722 Annual Report  TCFD section
apportunities on the organisation’s businesses, strategy (this section}
and fingncial planning

¢)  Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, 2021/22 Annual Report TCFD section

(this section)

Risk management

managing climate-related risks are integrated into the
organisation’s overall risk management

@) Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying 2021722 Annual Report — Internal Controls and Risk
and assessing climate-related risks Management (Page 73}

b}  Describe the organisation’s processes for managing 2021/22 Annual Report — internal Controls and Risk
climate-related risks Management (Page 73]

¢)  Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and | 2021/22 Annual Repert  Internal Controls and Risk

Management (Page 73)

Metrics and targets

3* greenhouse gas emissions and the related risks

a}  Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess | 2021/22 Annual Report - TCFD section
climate-related risks and opportunities (Page 77)
b) Disclose Scope 1, Scape 2 and, if appropriate, Scope | Scope 1 & 2: 2021/22 Annual Report Corporate

Social Responsibility (Poge 40)
Scope 1, 2 and 3: Annucl C5R Report, to be
published later in 2022/23

Describe the targets used by the organisation fo
manage climate-related risks and eppertunities and
performance against targets

2021/22 Annual Report - Corporate
Social Responsibility (Page 40)

* SECR scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gos emissions are dafined m our latest emissions report, which can be found here.
hiips 7/ wwomagoirgors comdmediaé 173 //mag-emisyons repord-2020-21 pdf
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Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) reporting index

Governance
Governance Board

Climate change is regarded as a principal risk for MAG and forms part of our Strategic Risk register. The
register is considered by the Board through the Audit Committee twice yearly with climate issues also
discussed by the CSR Committee which meets four times @ year. Where relevant, climate-related issues are
presented directly at Board meetings. MAG recognises the financial risk that climate change presents the
business; therefore, specific accountability for climate change has been assigned to our non-executive
director Vanda Murray OBE, in her role as Chair of the CSR Committee (a sub-committee of the MAG
Board).

Climate change is also a strategic priority within our CSR Strategy with performance targets across a number
of topics including quarterly emissions, climate change communications, sustainable surface access, and
airspace modernisation. MAG’s ESG (Environmental, Social, Governance) team provides regular updates to
the C5R Committee at every meeting.

Management

Our Chief Executive Officer, Charlie Cormish, is accountable for the overall defivery of MAG's climate
change strategy. The Group CSR and Future Airspace Director, Neil Rabinson, leads the development and
delivery of our climate strategy, which is one of three strategic priorities detailed in our CSR Strategy. Neil
Robinson reports to Chief of Staff, Tim Hawkins. Tim Hawkins is the Chair of the CSR ExCo Sub-Commitree
which brings together leaders from across the business to deliver cur CSR programmes. In this role, Tim
holds accountability for CSR initiatives and pregress.

MAG has a centralised team of experts to manage, reguiarly review and monitor the delivery of the climate
strategy across our airports and wider business. The team pravides climate chonge reports to senior
leadership which are reviewed and updated annually to provide adequate coverage of pedformance and
ensure progress against the CSR Strategy. The report includes information relating to the responsibility for
driving the reduction of the company’s carbon emissions, guiding the approach to carbon offsetting and
identifying and assessing the physical impacts and transition risks and opportunities of climate change to the

business.
Strategy

Climale change poses a significant set of strategic risks for the avialion sector and for sur business. As an
operator of critical nationat infrastructure, we assess our climate-related risks over the short, medium and
long term: short-term, covering the time period 2020-2039; medium-term, covering the time period 2040-
2069; and long-term, covering the time period 2070-2099. Transitioning to a low-carbon economy poses
a higher risk in the short term, as MAG strives to achieve net zerc carbon operations by 2038, Climate-
related physical risks pose significant business impacts to MAG over the medium to longer term.

Scenario analysis has been used to assess the climate-related physical and transition risks and opportunities
under two distinct climate scenarios for the three identified fime horizons. We have considered two distinet
scenarios, deflined as projected changes based on possible climate cutcomes, in line with the
intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways {RCPs).
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Strategy continued
For both physical and transition risks we have selected the following scenarios.

s A medium-emission scenario: associated with RCP 6.0, this scenario opproximates an ocutcome in line with
2°C warming by 2100. In this scenario, greenhouse gas emissions are mitigated, representing the most

optimistic assumptions in line with current and proposed policy,

s A high-emission scenario: associated with RCP 8.5, this scenario appreximates an outcome in line with a 3-
4°C warming by 2100. In this scenario, greenhouse gas emissions contfinue t& grow unmitigated.

Through our CSR Strategy, we position and deliver our strategic approach to climate change. A fundamental
part of our climate strategy is to proactively contribute towards the decarbonisation of the wider aviation
industry, We recognise that the climate crisis cannot be tackled alone, and we continue to engage direcily
with stakeholders and the wider industry. MAG was a founding member of the UK aviation industry coalition,
Sustainable Aviation, and remains a member of the managing council. Gur CEQ, Charlie Comish, is one of
twa airport members of the Government’s Jet Zere Council, with MAG also an active member of the
environmental committeas of the regional and global environment committees of our rade association
Airpers Council International {ACI).

Our strategy also considers climate change adaptation and resilience. For mere than o decade, MAG has
comprehensively considered climate change adaptation. In December 2021, we submitted our third Climate
Change Adaptation Report ! to the Government, including the results of our third adaptation risk assessment.

Risk management

Climate change is a key risk fo our business and forms part of MAG's organisational strategic (principal) risk
register which is reported to the Audit Committee twice a year. The CSR Committee further engages on the
identification, assessment and management of climate-related risks.

Over tha last decade, MAG has published three Climate Change Adaptation Reports which are required to
be submitted to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural AHairs {DEFRA) and contributes to the
development of the Government’s National Adaptation Programme. In December 2021, following MAG's
latest Climate Change Adaptation Progress Report [see ‘physical risks” below), we revised our approach o
climate-related risk management. The report marked, for the first time, @ holistic review whereby the
approach to climate change adaptation risk assessment was revised in line with MAG's overarching
Management Framework methodology. This year, we further refined our appreach to identitying climate-
related transition risks {see ‘transition risks’ below), adopting the overarching risk methodology. The findings
from both climate change risk assessments contribute to our corporate assessment of risk and ensure that
climate change is discussed af the highest level within the organisation.

Cur climate change risk methodology considers the impact {on a scale of 1 'minimal’ to 5 “critical’) and
likelihood {on @ scale of 1 'improbakie’ to 5 ‘highly probable’} of potential risk consequences. The impact
and likefihood scores for each risk are multiplied to calculate risk exposure, hence the maximum exposure
rating for any risk is 25. The risks with the highest score are, therefore, considered the most significant and
are prioritised for mitigation and management.

Ot Clrneie Change Adepration Report can be found bec: hitps 7pvsea mageneporis.comrosponsible-business, bmate-c hange-ndaptaheasreporting
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Risk management continued

For each climate-related transition risk identified, we assess the risk score against the two chosen climate

change scenarios (see ‘strategy’ section of this report]. Within each climate change scenario, we assess the
risk score over short, medium and long-term time horizons. To best identify areas where further control is
nacessary, aur climate change risk registers baseline future risk against current net risk.

Climate-related physical risks and opportunities

We have published climate change adaptatian risk registers considering the physical risks for each of our
airports. In line with the TCFD recommendations, physical risks are defined as follows,

*  Acute physical risks: event-driven risks, including increased severity of extreme weather events, such as

cyclones, hurricanes, and floods; and

»  Chronic physical risks: longer term shifts in climate patterns {e.g., sustained higher temperatures) that may
cause sea level rise and chronic heat waves.

Owr climate change adaptation risk registers identify a range of risks relating to infrastructure, network
operations and human health and wellbeing. The most signiticant climate-related physical risks and

associated business impacts across our airports are outlined in the table on the next page.

Climate-related physical risk

Business impact to MAG

Current and future actions

Increased frequency and severity
of storm events including high
winds, intense rainfall and icy
conditions.

Operational disruption resulting from
physical impacts to infrastructure at MAG's

airports.

Business disruption and reduced revenue due
to lost time.,

Increased likelihood of aiffield safety
accidents and incidents as a result of
hazardous conditions posing health risks to
MAG's staff and passengers.

Emergency aond business continuity
plans for the loss of services.

Satety measures for ramp workers
in the event of increased storms
and lightning events.

Maintenance of climate-change
watching briefs using the latest
climate change projections.

Increased frequency and
intensity of winter rainfall events
resulting in the refease of
contaminated surfoce water,

Increased likelihoed of contaminated surface
water may lead 1o the overspill of balancing
ponds containing de-icing chemicals.

Negative impacts on the natural environment
around the airports.

Potential healih risks to MAG's airpon
operators, passengers, employees and staff.

Planned full review of the existing
drainage networks to improve
data capture and inform decisions
on future improvements to the
system.

Disruption to flight schedules as
o result of adverse weather
events, sea level rise and storm
surges at and enroute to
destination airports.

Atmospheric disruption may affect the
rouling of aircraft between arrival and
departure.

Delays to landing times and enhanced fuel
burning, resulting in business disruption and
enhanced operating costs for airlines.

Sea level rise and storm surges at destination
airports may reduce the viability of future
destinations being availuble to passengers,
thereby reducing passenger demand,
profitability and revenue for MAG's airports

Performance-based navigation
{PBN} to address the risk of
extremities of wet and dry
conditions affecting ground
reflection or navigational aids.

Engaging with emerging research
through parinerships with
Eurocontral and the Airport
Council International.

A watching brief on sea level rise
and storm-surge risks that will
cause loss of low-lying airport

deslinations.
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Climate-related physical risks and opportunifies continued

Climate-related physical risk

Disruption to flight schedules as
a result of adverse weather
events, seq level rise and storm
surges at and enroute to
destination airports.

Business impact to MAG

Atmospheric disruption may affect the
rouling of gircraft between arrival and
departure.

Delays to lending times and enhanced fuel
burning, resulting in business disruption and
enhanced operating costs for airlines.

Sea level rise and storm surges at destination
girports may reduce the viability of future
destinations being available to passengers,
thereby reducing passenger demand,
profitability and revenue for MAG's airports.

Performance-based navigation
(PBN} to address the risk of
extremities of wet and dry
conditions affecting ground
reflection or navigational aids.

Engaging with emerging research
through partnerships with
Eurocontrol and the Airport
Council International.

A walching brief on sea |evel rise
and storm-surge risks that will
cause loss of low-lying airport
destinations.

Restrictions to airport water
supplies due to prolonged
drought conditions and lowering
of water table.

Potential for water supplier
drought orders 1o limit the
availability or use of mains
water.

Prohibition of cerfain non-criical activities
such as washing of infrastructure and assets.

Financial impact arising from need to obtain
alternative sources of water.

Reputational impact - Asset renewal may be
required to introduce water-efficient
equiprment.

Leak detection and repair
programme — distribution system
mainfenance/upgrade.

Conformance to asset standards
and building regulations - asset
renewal strategy — ongoing

dialogue with water companies.

Future plans to develop an airport
water drought management plan
1o respond to the four levels of
drought trigger.

The following opportunities were identified to MAG in relation to the physical impacts of climate change:

s Improved staff and passenger comfort as well as wellbeing protections delivered through the design of law

carbon buildings with climate-ready heating and ventilation systerns.

e Improved ability to plan and adapt o the physical impacts of climate change and limit disruption te employees
and passengers through the provision of regularly maintained and updated climate change watching briefs.

e Enhanced marketing positioning within the aviation sector through the healthy design of airport buildings which
mitigate against the negative health and wellbeing impacts of climate change such as thermal discomfort and

heat stroke.

e Cost savings as a result of reduced and adjusted de-icing requirements [e.g. through increasing stock and

impraving product performance where necessary] delivered as a result of regular reviews of weather

conditions, including snow events.

Climate-related transition risks and opportunities

in 2022, we conducted detailed analysis of trends in the aviation sector including policy signals, production
and technological drivers, and changes to the price of assets and services within the market to further

advance our approach to climate-related transition risks and opporunities.
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Climate-related transition risks and opportunities continued

TCFD categorises transition risks within four distinct categories:

s Policy and legal — policy measures that seek to mitigate against the adverse effects of climate

change, and those measures which promote adaptation to climate change.

o Technology — technological improvements or innovations (or lack thereof) that impact upon the

transition to a lower carbon, energy-eflicient economic system,

¢ Market — shifts in supply and demand for certain commaodities, products and services.

s  Reputation — changing customer, community and wider stakeholder perceptions of an
organisation’s contribution or detraction from the transition to a low-carbon economy.

The key climate-related transition risks and associated business impacts to our dgirports are outlined below:

Policy and legal

Climate-related transition risk

Failure to reach international
agreement on aviation
decarbonisation, leading to
differentiation between UK, EU
and international policy.

Business impact to MAG

Increased cost of emissions for flights to
and from the UK relative to other countries
leading to competitive disadvantage to
MAG and reduced demand for flying 10
and from the UK. Demand management
measures (those to increase cost and/or
limit cirport expansion) may further limit
future aviation growih.

Reduced competitive positioning of the
organisation.

Reduced access ta competitively priced
finance and investment.

Current and future actions

Participation in UK and international trade
associations {including industry working groups
and those focused on the development of
naticnal and international decarbonisation
roadmaps).

Engagement with UK policy makers through, for
example, the Government’s Jet Zero Council.
Upcoming engagement with the international
aviation comimunity ahead of the International
Civil Aviation Organization (ICAC) General
Assembly and in support of the next ICAC
Commiftee an Aviation Environmental Protection

{CAEP) cycle.

Intraduction of policy measures
by regional stakeholders (such
as shareholder local authorities)
mey result in the differentiation
between national and regional
climate policy. This may require
a greater level of aviation
decarbonisation than nationai
policy; as a greater contribution
to emissions reduction then
currently apportionad within the
UK carbon budget.

Protracted planning applications owing 1o
stringent pelicy and regulations posing
potentially complex legal challenges
relating to expansion and development.

Difficulty in accessing compefitively priced
finance may limit investment opportunities.
A lack of investment may reduce
oppertunities to further tackle climate
change, thereby leading to local
reputationel damage.

Regulor engagement on policy and legislative
changes through participation in regional
collaberations (such as the Manchester Climate
Change Partnership).

Direct engagement with policy officers and
elected members.
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Technology

Climate-related transition risk

The introduction of olternatively
fuelled, zero-carbon aircraft with
different operating characteristics
may reduce aircraft and/or
airport capacity.

Business impact 1o MAG

Reduced paossenger throvghput due to
business disruption resulting from lower
aircraft capacity owing, in turn, to longer
refuelling turnaround times.

The need for increased refuelling safety
zones may reduce the availability of land
for development.

Current and future actions

Padticipation in UK and internaficnal trade
associations, including the focused upan the
development of natienal and international
decarbonisation roadmaps.

Engagement with UK policy makers through, for
example, the Government’s Jet Zero Councll.
Engagement with FlyZero and Connected Places
Catapult projects on the infegration of
alternatively fuelled aircraft for cur future
airspaces. Planned engagement with airlines
and manufacturers on alternative-fuel aircraft
infrastructure and investment as technologies
develop to become commercially viable.

Large-scale, permanent carbon
capture and storage
technologies may nat mature
quickly or at scale to support net
zero avighion by the declared
target dates.

The limited availability of market-based
measures may increase costs and limit
demand.

Limited possenger demand and revenue
potential owing tc increased regulation and
compliance costs from heightened carbon
pricing [resulting, in turn, from limited
carben copture and storage technologies).

Participation in UK and international trade
associations, including those focused upon the
development of national and international
decarbonisation roadmaps.

The Sustainable Aviation Coalition has
expanded its membership to include thase
working on the development of negative
emissions technologies. We are working
collaberatively to further the understanding of
scaling-up carbon capture and storage
technologies. In line with the 2022 Sustainable
Aviation decorbonisation roadmap, we will
continue our focus on impraving market-based
measures to support the transition to net zero.

Market

Climate-related transition risk

Business impact to MAG

Current and future actions

Failure of UK and intemational
policy to deliver effective carbon
markets.

Reduced availability and increased cost of
carbon credits.

Increased airline operating costs may result
n heightened costs of flying for passengers.
Difficulty nccessing competitively priced
finance cs a result of reduced attractiveness
10 prospective investors and shareholders.
Challenges recruiting and retaining staff
owing 1o reduced capital and investment,
reducing MAG’s altractiveness as a current
and future employer within the aviation
sector

Participation in UK and international trade
asscciations, including those focused upon the
development of national and international
decarbonisation roadmaps.

Engagement with UK policy makers through, for
example, the Government’s Jet Zero Council.

Changes in societal behavicurs
and attitudes towards climate
change may reduce passenger
demand due to increased ‘flight
shame’ and wider behavioural
changes.

Reduction in passenger demand {and,
therefore, revenue) may reduce the
attractiveness of MAG to investors and
shareholders, thereby posing challenges to
accessing competitively priced finance.

Challenges for employee retention and
recruitment owing to reduced market
attractiveness.

MAG’s CS5R Strategy places net zero carbon
airports at the forefront of its approach towards
delivering a sustainable business (with a target
for net zero carbon by 2038).

MAG delivers net zero actions and initiatives
including net zero, carbon-neutral operations
across all three airponts, certified through the
Airport Carbon Accreditation.

Continued engogement with the Government's
Jet Zero Council to understand and influence
policy.
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Reputation

Climate-refated transition risk  Business impact to MAG

Investors shifting capital MAG’s feilure to align with changed MAG’s CSR Strategy focuses on the delivery of
allocation and finance in favour | investor pricrities (such as increased focus net zero carbon airports and outlines initiatives
of low-carbon and climate- on climate change) may result in a lack of and commitments 1o the decarbenisation of its
resilient businesses. capital and investment  MAG receives operations and the wider aviation sector.

investment from a number of sources to
ensure aperaling costs are feasible and in

line with MAG's business model. MAG will continue to report progress against

this commitment fo its key stakehclders and
Reduced revenue and associated investors.

reputational risks for the business may
impact upon investment opportunities.

Reduced market attractiveness to the
current and future workforce, as well as
prospective passengers.

The transition to a low-carbon economy poses a number of climate-related oppartunities. We continue to
review and realise opportunities for our business and its stakeholders whilst ensuring a just transition fo a
socially inclusive, low-carbon future. Key climate-related transition opportunities as well as MAG's current
low-carbon actions and initigtives include:

»  Positioning the business as a thought-leader in the eviation sector for decarbonisation through centinued
engagement in palicy dialogue, UK and international trade asseciations and industry working groups.

»  Supporting research, iraining and fechnological innovation te drive the modernisation of airspace and
operating procedures (including hydrogen technolegies and electrification of transport) and support the uptake

and efficiency of sustainable aviation fuels.

e  Delivery of just transition strategies with unians, local communities, and current and fuiure talent to address the
training and skills needs of workers and enterprises in the transition to a low-carbon economy. Plans should
support outplacement activities {to minimise the impacts of adverse shocks to changes in the market as a result
of the transition to the low-carbon economy) by facilitating adjustments in wages and working time to reduce
redundancies and loss of jobs.

Metrics and targets

Since 2007, we have reported our approach to reducing direct carbon emissions. Our airports were the first
in the UK fo achieve carbon neutral status which is certified through participation at Leve!l 3+ {Neutrality) of
the Airport Carbon Accreditation programme. Within cur CSR Strategy, a strategic priority is the commitment
to achieving net zero carbon emissions from our girport operations by 2038 at the latest. To achieve this
commitment, our C5R Strategy is regularly reviewed and reported against the supporting targets and
associated actions that we will take to reduce our absolute and residual emissions.

We measure, monitor and disclose aur Scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions® annually in line with

the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Standard. We disclose absolute greenhouse gas emissions and an
industry-agreed carbon intensity measure, which is emissions per traffic unit (where traffic units are
equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of freight and mail}.

GO CR scope [, 2 and J gresofiouse gun cmssons e defimed s o fatest eonssions repod, whicl carr be foond feres hilps s eenggomports comgnedes T3 ey
cnnsnr pon 2020 pedt
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Metrics and targets continued

We are passionate about ensuring that the reporting of our greenhause gas emissions is insightful and
transparent. We have been publicly disclosing our greenhouse gas emissions for over a decade, with reports
regularly enhanced through methodology improvements and the calculation and disclosure of a wider range
of indirect emissions. QOur greenhouse gas footprint is audited by an independent third party TUV Nord.

The headline target for net zero by 2038 is accompanied by additional commitments to ensure that we play
our full part in addressing airport-related emissions, including from aircraft and surface access transport.
This includes our commitment to ensure that our airport infrastructure will operate on renewable energy by
2030, with new and replacement infrastructure running on renewable energy from 2025 and our fleet
comprising 100% ultra-low emission vehicles by 2030.

When assessing business cases, our considerations include climate-related costs such as those associated
with utilities, carbon offsets and emission trading scheme compliance.

Transitioning to a low-carbon and climate-resilient future

This year, we will continue to review our climate change risks and opportunities, as well as further refine our
approach fo current and future mitigation, We will continue to monitor and identify new and emerging
interdependencies for both the physical and transition climate-related risks and opportunities to our business.
Through our established relationships with local autharities, the Environment Agency, water supply
companies, transport providers and others we are working with, we will endeavour to better understand and
address these interdependencies. We will continue to engage with local resilience forums. On an ongoing
basis, we are reviewing and considering opportunities to extend our partnership working both within and
beyond the aviation sector to lead the transition to the low-carbon economy.

Over time, we will develop metrics that measure our financial risk against the transition and physical climate-
related risks to our business. Progress against these actians will be reported to the Audit Committes and CSR
Committee and included in our next annual report and CSR report.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (‘the
Company’) tagether with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022,

Principal activity

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries {the ‘Group’} during the year were the ownership,
operation and development of airport facilities in the UK. The Group’s revenues were derived from aircraft
and passenger handling charges, airport- based commercial and retail activities, and property.

Review of business and future developments

The consolidated results for the year under review commence on page 117. The Company intends to
continue its development of the Group as an operator of high-quality airports and airport facilities both
within the UK and overseas. As the Group enters a sustained recovery phase after the COVID-19 pandemic
our short-ferm focus changed to preparing the business to accept higher levels of demand aligned with
appropriate levels of service. A more detailed review of the Group’s principal activities, results and future
developments is provided in the business overview, management review and finance review sections of the
strategic report.

Dividends and transfers to reserves

The retained loss for the year of £321.3m {2021: loss of £393.3m) after dividends paid of £nil (2021: £nil)
will be transferred from reserves. In addition, the retained loss reserves also included: a gain of £48.4m
relating to revision of actuarial assumptions relating to the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes net of
tax; £1.3m loss relating to the effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax, and a foreign
exchange gain of £1.2m on MAG’s US investments, net of lax.

Board of Directors
The Company directors during the year are detailed on page 49.
Compliance with Corparate Governance Principles

This Annual Report and Financial Statements have been prepared in adherence with The Wates Governance
Principles for Large Private Companies which can be found at https://www trc.org.uk

Conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place for managing contlicts of interest. Should a director become aware
that they, or their connected parties, have an interest in an existing or proposed transaction with the Group,
they should notify the Board in writing as soon as reasonably practicable. Internal controls are in place to
ensure that any related party transactions involving directors, or their connected parties, are conducted on
an arm’s length basis. Directors have a continuing duty to update any changes to these conflicts.

Indemnity and insurance

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that, to the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, the
Company may indemnify any director, or former director, of the Company or of any associated companies,
against any liability. Directors” and Officers’ insurance has been established to provide cover for all
Directors against their reasonable actions on behalf of the Company.
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Statement of disclosure of informaticon to the auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are
each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each
director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit infermation and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Contracis of significance

Details of contracts of significance with Manchester City Council are set out in note 37 to these financial
statements.

Risk Management

The Bouard as a whole, including the Audit Committee members, consider the nature and extent of the risk
management framework, and the risk profile that is acceptable in order to achieve the Group’s strategic
objectives. The Audit Commitiee has reviewed the work done by management, the Committee itself and the
Board, on the assessment of the Group’s principal risks, including their impact on the prospects of the
Company. The most significant strategic, corporate and operational risks and uncertainties, and the
prevailing approaach to their management, are detailed on pages 69 to /4.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting {SECR)
As detailed on page 48.
Going concern

The directors have prepared the Group and Company financial statements on a going concern basis. In
assessing the going concern position of the Group, the directors have considered the cngoing impact of
COVID-19 on the cash flow and liquidity of the Group, for a period in excess of 12 months, and the
corresponding impact of cash headroom and financial covenants associated with the Group’s financing
arrangements.

In assessing gaing concern the directors have considered: the Group’s business plan forecast {inciuding the
planned mitigating actions that are within management’s control); the successful refinancing of the Group’s
£500m Revolving Credit Facility {{RCF’) and £90m Liquidity Facility and a downside and a severe, but
plausible, downside scenario. The key assumptions under the downside and severe but plausible downside
scenarios are:

Bownside scenario: reduction in passenger numbers to 76% of pre-COVID-19 levels in FY23; and

Severe but plausible downside scenario: a two-month lock-down in Quarter 4 FY23 with an impact similar
to the delta variant reducing passenger numbers for FY23 to 6% of pre-COVID-19 levels.

tn the downside scenario the Group is expected to maintain positive cash headroom in excess of £272m for
the 12-month period beyond the signing date of these financial statements. This headroom reduces to
£232m in the severe but plausible downside scenario. In the base and downside scenario forecasts the
Group would comply with the default provisions of the covenant testing at each reperting date for the 12
months beyond the date of signing the accounts. Under the severe but plausible downside scenario, the
Group would breach its leverage covenant at 31 March 2023 and as a result would need to seek covenant
testing waivers or amendments from its bank and bondholders.
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Going concern continued

The directors have concluded that the Group can maintain sufficient liquidity over the next 12 months from
the signing of the financial statements and will comply with the covenant banking testing at each reporting
date. This, coupled with the successful refinancing of the Group’s Revolving Credit Facility ('RCF') and
Liquidity Facility, have resulted in the directors concluding that it is appropriate to conlinue to account for the
Group as a going concern.

Whilst the release of the travel restrictions and resultant uplift in demand is positive and significantly
improved on this fime last year, there remains uncertairty if a mare virulent variont of COVID-19 were to
arise. It is plausible, that if this were to accur, there could be an extended impact on the aviation industry
that would impact on liquidity, the Group’s bond refinancing in 2024 end the Group’s covenant ratios. The
Group's severe, but plausible, downside scenario models such a case and estimates that whilst the Group
would have significant headroom, there would be an impact upon the Group’s covenant compliance testing
in March 2023. In such a scenario, the Group would lock to obtain consent from both its bank and
bondholders, to waive or amend its covenant testing requirements when next fested.

Whilst the Group has further options to further manage liquidity or address any potential covenant breaches,
this uncertainty represents a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and
Company's ability to continue as a geing concern and, therefore, that the Group and Company may be
unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. These financial
statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets and liabilities
that would result if the financial statements had not been prepared on g going concern basis.

Further detail of the directors’ assessment of going concern is detailed in the Basis of Preparation note in the
accounting policies on page %8,

Viability statement

The directors have assessed the viability of the Group over a three-year period, taking info account the
Group's current position and the potential impact of the principal risks and uncertainties set out on pages
71 to 74. These risks include the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic [and the Group’s business
resiience and business continuity mitigation strategies} and climate change. For the viability period the
directors have concluded that COVID-19 and the aviation sector’s recovery remains the key risk that needs
to be considered for the purpose of assessing viability. Based on this assessment, the directors confirm that
they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due cver the period to 31 March 2025.

The directors have defermined that a three-year period to 31 March 2025 constitutes en appropriate period
over which it is to provide its viability statement. This is the period focused on by the Board during the
strategic planning process, is aligned to our detailed passenger projections and contains the majar
refinancing actions required by the Group in the near term. The directors have no reason to believe the
Group will not be viable aver a longer period, however given the inherent uncertainty involved, we believe
this presents users of the Annual Repart with a reasonable degree of confidence while slill providing
longer-term perspective.

87 Directors’ Report



Viability statement continued

In making this assessment the directors confirm that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group can
continue in operation and mest its liabilities throughout the period. The directors have considered the
potential impeact of the rate of recovery from COVID-19 on the cashflow and liquidity of the Group, over the
period, together with the corresponding impact on the covenants associated with the Group's financing
arrangaments, and the requirement of the Group to refinance o £360.0m bond which matures in April
2024.

The Croup is subject to financial covenants on its secured funding arrangements, being leverage (Net
Debt/adjusted EBITDAY) and interest cover {adjusted EBITDA* less tax/ net finance charges). The covenants
are tested hall yearly on 37 March and 30 Sepfember. As part of the Group’s strategic finance response to
COVID-19 in 2021 MAG had secured waivers for the covenant tests at 30 September 2021 and 31 March
2022 and a modified basis of calculation as at 30 September 2022. The modified basis caiculating
annualised adjusted EBITDA* as 1.54 times the adjusted EBITDA® for the six months ending 30 September
2022.

The economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has progressively eased throughout FY22 with passenger
numbers increasing overall from 10.5% of pre-COVID-19 levels experienced in FYZ1 ta 33% in FY22. The
impact of this gradual recovery has been to see a return o businesses profitability, which when measured at
the adjusted EBITDA* level, has transformed a £14%.4m loss into a protit of £125.6m, with a resuliant
impact upon operating cashflow. The trend of passenger numbers leading into FY23 is positive. The UK
Government's traffic light scheme in summer 2021 and the impact of the Omicron variant in December
2021 impacted passenger numbers adversely earlier in the year. However, the relaxing of all international
travel restrictions in March 2022 has seen passenger volumes increase to 70% of pre-COVID-1 @ levels by
the year end. MAG’s ability to grow back its operating capacity through recruitment and training is now key
1o service the increased level of demand whilst providing customer service in FY23 and beyond.

The Group’s committed facilities at 31 March 2022 comprise: borrowings of £1,460.0m of bonds and
£000.0m of shareholder leans, ¢ £500.0m Secured Revelving Credit Facility ('RCF’), which was fully drawn
at the year-end. fn addition, the Group also has access to a committed £90.0m Liquidity Facility. On 27
May 2022, the Group renegotiated the RCF and the Liquidity Facilities with their maturity date being in May
2027. For the Group's bonds the nearest maturing date relates to a £360.0m bond which matures in April
2024. The remaining £1,100.0m of Group bonds will mature between 2034 and 2044. The improving
passenger profile in FY22 has built on the Group’s key work to improve its liquidity as a result of its strategic
finance responses in 2020 and 2021. As a result, at 31 March 2022 the Group has liquidity headroam of
£472.9m comprising £462.9m nret cash in hand and a £10m undrawn available overdraft facility.

As part of the viability assessment process the directors have considered the industry expectations of
returning passenger lavels in FY23 and beyond. Current expectation are passenger levels will return to 76%
to 90% of pre-COVID-19 levels in FY23 and to pre-COVID-19 levels in FY24 and FY25. The forecasts
estimate covenant compliance throughout the viahility period and a liquidity headroom in excess of the
£100m Treasury Policy throughout. The Basis of Preparation on page 98 sets out that there is a material
uncertainty in relation to the Group’s going concern conclusion. This results from the potential that there is a
case of a more virulent COVID-19 variant in the future that necessitates travel restrictions similar to those
experienced with the delta variant in FY21. Consequently, this is also regarded as a key risk in the Group's
viability assessment.

* As axplamed in the note 40 1 the bnanciot statements *Alternative Padormand e Measures” on page 166
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Viability statement continued

In addition, the Group also recognised the risk that is associated with needing to repay a £360.0m bond
within the viability peried (before it is scheduled 1o mature in April 2024). Management’s current expectation
is that the Group will be able to successfully obtain additional funding at this time and the continued
appetite to provide funding to the sector is supported by both MAG's recent re-financing of the RCF and
Liquidity Facility as well as other debt issuance by comparable UK and European peer airports.

MAG can also consider and address any emerging new or significant risks in relation fo its financial position
or tor future tinancial covenant testing dates throughout the viability period. Potential actions would include
aligning capital investment, operating costs and aviation tariffs with a lower traffic envirenment; sourcing
additional financial support to remedy any short- term shertfalls; or negotiating covenant waivers or
amendments with the holders for any potential breach of future financial problems beyond the current
consent period. Having considered all the relevant requirements; including MAG’s financial position, likely
forecast and reasonable downsides, fogether with actions available to mitigate impacts and the time period
available to act, it is accordingly appropriate that the Group will continue in operation and meets its
liabilities as they fall due over the three year period to 31 March 2025.

Employees
Employment policies

The Group's employment pelicies are regularly reviewed, refreshed and updated where applicable. The
Group is committed to treating all employees and job applicants fairly and on merit, regardless of age,
disability, gender and gender reassignment, marital and civil partnership status, pregnoncy and maternity,
race, religion or belief, and sexual crientation. The Group does not tolerate harassment, discrimination or
victimisation of any kind. As part of MAG's commitment to creating an inclusive environment for all
colleagues, several “Colleague Resource Groups” {Women's Network, LGBTQIA+, Race/Ethnicity and
Men's Mental Health) have been established to form communities of inferest, help inform the business and
support positive change in the organisation. If an employee becames disabled, every effort is made to make
appropriate reasonable adjustments to retain them in their current role or provide retraining or redeployment
within the Gr‘oup,

Apprentices and the National Living Wage

MAG remains fully supportive of apprenticeships. The impact of COVID-19 meant that recruitment into
apprentice programmes was paused but we have now recommenced recruitment of apprentices, with the
design of new programmes, and driven by a dedicated Farly Talent Manager. with the view to building
diverse talent pipelines as part of strategic workforce planning. MAG fully complies with all of its obligations
under National Living Wage.

Consultation and communication

Consultation with employees or their representatives has been critical through this period of uncertainty due
to the business impacts of the pandemic and there has been a continuous diclogue at all levels, with the aim
of ensuring that their views are taken into account when decisions are being made that may affect their
inferests. As part of the Trade Union recognition arrangements, various employee forums exist for each
business areq, and more information on consultation is provided in the annual CSR report.

89 Directors’ Report



Consultation and communication confirued

It has been critical to ensure colleagues and leaders are kept updated through this periad of change and
thera have been regular briefings in relation to key business and operational developments. These are
cascaded throughout the erganisation via multiple communication channels such as weekly newsletters and
online forums.

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

The Group's current policy concerning the payment of the majority of its trade creditors is to follow the CBl's
Prompt Payers Code, copies of which are available from the CBI, Cannon Place, 178 Cannon Street,
London, ECAN 6HN. For other suppliers the Group’s policy is to:

o seifle the terms of payment with those suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction;

o ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant

terms in contracts; and
e pay in accordunce with its contractual and other legal obligations.

These payment practices apply to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and
services without exception. The period of credit taken by the Group at 31 March 2022 was 21 days (2021:
20 days), reflecting the average number of days between receipt of the invoice and its subsequent payment.

Meodern slavery act 2015

Our principal reference point for slavery and human trafficking are the definitions set out in the Modern
Slavery Act 2015, We recognise that slavery and hurman trafficking can occur in many forms such as torced
labour, child labour, domestic servitude, sex trafficking and workplace abuse. We are also aware that forced
labour as a form of slavery includes debt bondage and the restriction of @ person’s freedom of movement
whether that be physical or non-physical, for example, by the withholding of a worker's identity papers. We
use the terms “slavery’ and ‘human trafficking’ to encompass all of these various forms of coerced iabour.
We understand the important role that MAG has to play and as a socially responsible organisation, so we
adopt the highest professional standards and comply with all laws, regulations and codes applicable to our
business. No form of modern slavery is acceptable in our operations, or in those comgpanies who work with
us or on aur behalf.

We continue 1o take steps to improve our practices to ideniify and eliminate modern slavery which may
occur within our business, supply chains and across our airport operations. As our airports are a gateway for
both entry into and exit from the United Kingdom, this presents additional challenges in our approach to
preventing modern slavery. Consequently, we take our responsibilities very seriously and partner with Slave-
Free Alliance, Border and Police forces who support us in our approach fo tackling modern slavery, and our
progress is reviewed with our CSR commitiee to ensure Board oversight. Keeping everyone safe, treating
everyone with respect and doing the right things are three of our values, which underpin everything we do.
All senior leaders have received enhanced iraining and awareness on the various types of Modern Slavery
and Human Trafficking, how to spot the signs and the various routes to report concerns. All colleagues
continue to receive annual education and training which continues to evolve and are expected to report

concerns, and management are expected to act upon them.
Further detailed information can be found using the link below:

hitps://www.nagairports.com/media/1 72 %/mag-modern-slavery-statement-2072 1 pdf
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Charitable and political donations

Charitabie donations made by the Group during the year totalled £0.3m (2021: £0.3m). The donations
were all made 1o recognised local and national charities for a variety of purposes. It is the Group’s policy
not to make contributions to political parties.

Auditor

A written resolutions relating to the authority of the directors to fix the auditor’s remuneration, are to be put

before the Company’s voting shareholders for execution in the short term.

The Group assess the effectiveness of the audit process and the independence of the auditor on an annual
basis. The evaluation of audit effectiveness takes into account the views of both management and the Non-
Executive Directors across a number of attributes. The independence of the external auditor considers both
the quantum and the nature of non-audit services provided by the auditor during the year and ensures that
compliant with both the Group’s policy and the FRC's ethical guidance.

During the year MAG undertook a tender for the audit of its Annual Report and Accounts. The mast recent
previous tender exercise being performed in 2017, A written resolution relating to the appointment ot Ernst &
Young LLP as statutory auditor for the year ending 31 March 2023, was put before the Company’s Board on
15th February 2022 and was duly approved.

The report was approved and authorised by the Board and was issued on behalf of the Board.

- Z
warle> o oS

Charlie Cornish
Chief Executive MAG
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company

6 July 20272
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Annual Report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable low and regulations,

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements for each
financial yecr. Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with UK-adopted international accounting standards and applicable law and have elected to prepare the
Parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law {UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice}, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicakle in
the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company and of the Group's profit
or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company financial statements, the
directors are required fo:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimates that are reascnable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

s for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-
adopted infernational accounting standards;

» for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

» assess the Group ond Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and

s use the going concern hasis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial siatements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general respensibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safegucrd the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and firancial information
included on the Company’s website. tegislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report fo the members of
Manchester Airports Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (“the Company”) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Incame Statement, Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive lncome, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position, Consalidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting palicies.

In &ur opinion:

* the financial statements give o true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent
Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

¢ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards;

® the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK
accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of lreland: and

¢ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act

2006.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“I1SAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled cur ethical responsibilities
under, and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard as applied to other entities of public interest. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty reloted to going concern

We draw aftention to the Going concern section of the accounting policies of the financial statements which
explains that the Group is forecasting a potential breach of a financial covenant at 31 March 2023 under a
severe but plausible scenario. The ability of the Group and Parent company fo continue as a geing concern
is therefore dependent on the lender nat calling in the amount owing to it should the covenant be breached.
These events and conditions, along with the other matters explained in the accounting policies, constitute a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to
confinue as @ going concern.

Qur opinien is not madified in respect of this matter.

Gaing concern basis of preparation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. As stated above, they have
concluded that a material uncertainty related to going concern exists,

Our conclusion based on our financial statements audit work: we consider that the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ahility to detect
Identifying and responding fo risks of material misstatement due fo fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud {“fraud risks”} we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive ar pressure o commit fraud or provide en opportunily to commit fraud. Gur risk
assessment procedures induded:

. Enquiring of directors, the audit committee, infernal audit and other management s to the Group's
high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit function,
and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any
octual, suspected or alleged fraud.

. Reading Board and Committees of the Beard minutes.

. Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for manogement and
directors.

. Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alen to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls, in particular the risk that Group management may be in a position o moke inappropriate
accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements such as going concern,
investment property valuation and pension liability assumptions. On this audit we do not believe there is o
fraud risk related to revenue recognition because there are limited opportunities to fraudulently adjust
revenue. We did not identity any additional fraud risks.

We performed procedures including:

. Identifying journal entries and other adjustments o test based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entfries to supporting documentation. These included those posted by senior finance
management and those posted to unusual accounts,

. Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

identifying and responding to risks of materia! misstaternent due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on
the financial statemenis from our general commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by ouditing standards), from inspection of the Group’s
regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other menagement the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations,

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout cur team and remained alert to any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation}, disiributable prefits legislation,
taxation legislation and pension legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.
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Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations continued

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance
through the imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those mast likely to have
such an effact: laws and regulations of the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) who regulate the UK's aviation
industry. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws
and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of requlatory and fegal
correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of ocperational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fravd or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an gudit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have defected
some material misstaternents in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. Fer example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to defect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Qur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit apinion thereon.

Cur responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors” report and, in doing so, consider whether,
based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent
with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

*  we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directars” report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financicl year is consistent with the
financial statements; and

* in our opinion thase reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report o you if, in our opinion:

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received fram branches not visited by us; or

e the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

s cerain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 92, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being safistied that they give a true and fair view; such
internal contral as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstotement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and Parent Company’s
ability to continue as o going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going coencern; and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’'s responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due te fraud or error, and to issue our opinien in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 15SAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A tuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/ayditorsresponsibilities.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 14
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by taw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

I (o

Michael Froom {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 St Peter’s Square

Manchester

M2 3AE

United Kingdom

6 July 2022
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Accounting Policies

General Information

Manchester Airports Haldings Limited (the ‘Company’) is a private limited liobility company incorporated
and domiciled in England and Wates in the UK. The Company is the Parent company and the ultimate
holding company of the Group. The address of the registered office is Olympic House, Manchester Airpert,
Manchester, M0 1QX.

The principal activities of the Group are set out within the Directors’ Report. These consolidated financia
statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 6th July 2022.

MAG's principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the current year and previous year unless
otherwise stated. These accounting policies apply the historical cost convention modified to include certain
itemms at fair value.

Basis of preparation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the “Group”) and equity account the Group’s interest in associates and Joint Ventures. The Parent
company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its
group. The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and are shown as millions
rounded to the nearest one decimal place, except where otherwise stated.

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with
international accounting standards in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
(“UK-adopted IFRS). The Company has elected to prepare its Parent company financial statements in
accordance with FRS 102; these are presented on pages 170 to 178.

Going Concern

The directors have prepared the Group and Company financial statements on a going concern basis. In
assessing the going concern position of the Group, the directors have considered the angoing impact of
COVID-19 on the cash flow and liquidity of the Group, for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
signing the Group and Company financial statements, and the corresponding impact of cash headroem
and financial covenants associated with the Group’s financing arrangements.

The Group is subject to financial covenants on its secured funding arrangements, being leverage (Net Senior
Debt / adjusted EBITDA on a frozen GAAP basis) and interest cover (adjusted EBITDA on a frozen GAAP
basis less tax paid/ net finance charges on net senior debt). The terms used in the covenant calculations,
including “frozen GAAP basis”, have been defined and reconciled to GAAP measures in the Alternative
Performance Measures note on page 166. The covenants are tested half yearly on 31 March and 30
September. Following the Group’s further strategic financial response in 2021 MAG obtained waivers on its
covenant testing at 30 September 2021 and 31 March 2022 and a modified basis of calculation as at 30
September 2022. The modified basis calculating annualised adjusted EBITDA as 1.54 times the adjusted
EBITDA for the six months ending 30 September 2022,

¢ As explomed in the note A0 b the bnancal statements *Alternative Padormon e tAensures” onooage 166
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Basis of preparation continued
Going Concern continued

At the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had significant financial liquidity available of £472.9m
comprising net cash in band of £462.9m together with £10.0m in undrawn committed overdraft facilities.
The Group also has access to a committed £90.0m Liquidity Facility to ensure interest payment obligations
can be complied with for over 12 months trom the date ot approval of these tinancial statements. lhe
Group does not currently expect to utilise the Liquidity Facility.

Both the Group’s £500.0m Revolving Credit Facility ("RCF”) and £90m Liquidity Facility were due to mature
in June 2023. Subsequent to the year end, an 27 May 2022 the Group successfuily renegotiated both
facilities, on comparable terms, which now have a revised maturity date of May 2027. Of the Group’s
other borrowing facilities, the nearest maturing date relates 1o a £360.0m bond which matures in April
2024. The direclors’ current expectation is that the Group will be able o successfully obtain additional
funding ot that time and the continved appetite of the markat to provide funding to the sector is supported
by both MAG's recent re-financing as well as other debt issuance by comparable UK and European peer
airports.

After two years of pandemic restrictions on the aviation sector, the removal of all international travel
restrictions by the UK Government on 18 March 2022 has enabled a release of the latent demand to travel.
This was evidenced by the strong passenger recovery experienced by MAG with passenger levels reaching
70% of pre-CQOVID-19 levels by the end of March 2022. The ability to grow back quickly is now key and
MAG is working, along with its partners, to recruit in order to service the increased tevel of demand
experienced. The directors’ will continue to closely monitor the economic impacts from the pandemic along
with macro-economic factors such as UK inflationary pressures and the war in Ukraine to assess the impaci
upon demand levels and flex the business response accordingly.

The proportionate but decisive mitigating actions that MAG has taken over the past two years has provided
the Group with the liquidity and stable foundation to deliver growth in a post-COVID-19 environment. The
Group's going concern assessment is based upon the Business Plan approved in April 2022 by the Board of
Directors. Whilst the projections model the expected recovery from the pandemic, the directors will continue
to maintain a close oversight so that deviations from plan can be addressed by mitigation measures
including: capital spend management, cost management, pricing and where necessary through MAG's
irteraction with its sources of funding. Further details of the Group’s management of these areas are
included in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement and the Firancial Review.

The directors’ going concern assessment considers the Group forecasts for the period to 30 September
2023 [the going concern assessment period’) which is in excess of 12 months from the date of signing of
the accounts and represents the next covenant test date. The Group’s forecasts include passenger number
projections include a business plan of 90% of pre-COVID-19 levels for FY23 and returing to pre-COVID-
19 levels in FY24. The levels of passenger demand in the foracast reflects the directors” anticipated rate of
recovery and is aligned with industry expectations.

The forecast still contains cash and cost mitigation measures to remove areas of discretionary spend but
keeping key infrastructure spend in place, such as Future Security Regulatory requirements, which are
essential to the Group's future growth.
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Basis of preparation confinued
Going Concern confinved

The forecasts include the successful refinancing of the Group’s RCF and liquidity facilities and result in a
minimum liquidity headroam of £342m during the going concern assessment period and compliance with
MAG’s banking covenants when tested at: September 2022 {under the maodified cavenant test
methodology); March 2023; and September 2023. In addition to the Group’s business plan forecost of
90% of pre-Covid levels the directors have also considered a downside and a severe, but plausible,
downside scenario:

Downside scenario:

in this scenario passenger numbers are restricted to 76% of pre-COVID-19 levels in FY23 (in line with the
lower level of current indusiry forecasts). In such o case the Group is expected to maintain positive liquidity
headroom in excess of E272m for the going concern assessment period.

Under the downside scenario all testing throughout the going concern assessment period is forecast to be
compliant with the default terms of the Group’s covenants when tested at each reporing date; and

Severe but plausible downside scenario:

In this scenario a new variant of COVID-19 results in a two month lock-down in Quarter 4 of FY23 similar
to the impact of the Delta variant in FY21. The impact upon passenger numbers in FY23 being to restrict
passengers to 66% of pre-COVID-19 lavels. As a result, the Group's positive liquidity headroom is expected
to reduce to £232m for the going concern assessment periad.

Under the severe but plausible downside scenario the leverage test in March 2023 would be expected to
breach the Group’s covenant terms when tested. In such an event MAG would engage with its secured
creditors in order to laok to obtain further covenant waivers or amendments.

Based upon their assessments of the business plan case and the downside scenario detailed abave the
directors have concluded that the Group can meet its covenant requirements and maintain sufficient tiquidity
over the next 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements. This, coupled with the successful
refinancing of the Group’s £500m RCF and £90m Liquidity Facility, have resulted in the directors
concluding that it is appropriate for the Group fo continue to adopt the going concern basis for the
preparation of these accounts.

Whilst the release of the travel restrictions and resultant uplift in demand is positive and significantly
impraved on this time last year, there remains uncerainty if a more virulent variant of COVID-19 were to
arise. It is plausible, that if this were to occur, there could be an extended impact on the aviation industry
that would impact on liquidity, the Group’s bond refinancing in 2024 and the Group's covenant ratios. The
Group's severe, but plausible, downside scenario moedels such a case and estimates that whitst the Group
would have significant liquidity headroom there would potentially be an impact upon the Group's covenant
compliance festing in March 2023. In such a scenaric the Group would look to obtain consent from both
its bank and bondholders, to waive or amend its covenant testing requirements when naxt tested.

Whilst the Group has further options to further manage liquidity or address any potential covenant breaches,
this uncertainty represents a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and
Company’s ahility to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the Group and Company may be
unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business.
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Basis of preparation continued

These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets
and liabilities that would result if the financial statements had not been prepared on a going concern basis.

New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards and changes in accounting policies

There are no new adopted IFRS’s, interpretations issued hy the International Accounting Standards Booed
{'IASB’) or by the IFRS Interpretations Commitree ('IFRIC'), that are applicable for the period that have had a
material impact on the Group's financial statements. During the year the International Accounting Standards
Board issued the following amendments to UK adopted international accounting standards:

e  COVID-19 Rent Concessions  in March 2021 the International Accounting Standards Board extended the
practical expedient to apply to concessions beyond 30 June 2021 up to 30 June 2022. In FY21 MAG chose
not to apply the practical expedient and tfreated as lease modifications. The accounting freafment has been
consistently applied this year, and;

* Inferest rate benchmark reform phase 2 update to IFRS 9 was issued by the Internctional Accounting Standards
Board in response to the announcement in March 2021 the UK Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) that LIBOR
would be discontinued from 31 December 2021 and replacement by the Sterling Overnight Index Average
{SONIA} benchmark, MAG changed the risk-free component of its RCF and Liguidity Facility from LIBOR to
SONIA in June 2021 with no change in the commercial terms.

Neither amendment had a material impact upon the Group's results.

New accounting stundards, interpretations and amendments that are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted by the Group which are to be adopted on accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January

2022
*  Onerous Caniracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);
s Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018- 2020;
*  Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use [Amendments to 1AS 14); and
*  Reference to the Conceptual Framework {Amendments to IFRS 3)

MAG's tinancial reporting will be presented in compliance with the new stondards, amendments and

interpretations above, which are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements, in the
FY23 Annual Repon.

The Group has consistently applied its accounting policies for the current and prior year.
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Basis of consolidation

These consclidated financial statements include the income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of financial position, and statement of cash flows of the Company
and all of its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are enlities controlled directly or indirectly by the Company. Conirol exists when the Company
has the power (directly or indirectly] to Jirecl relevant activities of an entity so as fo obtain beaefits from its
activities. Subsidiaries have been consolidated from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. At such time, any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit and loss.

Interests in associate

Entities, other than subsidiaries, aver which the Company (directly or indirectly) exerts significant influence,
but not control or joint control, are associates. The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for
using the equity method.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the
net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. The Group's
investments in its ossociates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount
of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of nel assets of the associate since
the acquisition date.

Transactions efiminated on consolidation

Infra-group balances and transactions, income and expenses and all profits and losses arising from infra-
greup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements.

Foreign transactions

The results and financial pesition of foreign operations {nane of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

e assels and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the dote of that
balance sheot;

* income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated af average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable appreximation of the cumulative effect of
the rotes prevailing on the transaction dates, in which cose income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions), and

*  The resulling exchange differences are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.

¢ Any exchange differences arising from cther than the transiation of the results and financial position of foreign
operations dare recognised through the income staternent.

Revenue

The Group cperates a number of revenue streams and accordingly applies methods for revenue recognrition,
based on the principles set out in IFRS 15. The revenue and profits recognised in any period are based on
the delivery of performance obligations and ar assessment of when control is transferred to the customer.
Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation in the contract has been performed (so ‘point
in time’ recognition) or ‘over time’ as control of the performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
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Revenue confinued
The following revenue recognition criteria apply fo the Group’s main income streams,
Aviation income:

®  various passenger charges fer handling and security, based upon the number of departing passengers, are
recognised at point of departure

e  aircroft departure and arrval charges levied according to weight and time of departure/arrival, are recognised
at point of departure/arrival.

e  aircroft parking charges based upon a combination of weight and time parked, are recognised ot point of
departure. The contracts entered into are short-term pricing arrangements, which are complex in nature given
the breadth of discounts and rebates that the Group offers. Judgement is applied to assess the impact any
confract amendments have when determining the appropriate contract term.

Retail conceassion income:

®  concession income from retail and commercial concessions is recognised in the period to which it relates on
an accruals basis. The contracts entered into are long-term income-sharing concession agreements, with the
concession fee based on turnover. The Group have considered whether IFRS 15 or 16 applies to refail income
but have determined that MAG controls the retail unit space and as a result applies IFRS 15,

e income from airport launges is recognised at the point of usage.
Cor park income:

e contract parking and pre-bocok parking is recognised over the pericd to which it relates on a straight-fine basis.
The Group considers the performance obligation is satistied through the provision of a car park space for each
day the car is parked.

e car parking income is recognised at the point of exit for furn-up parking.

e where car parking is bocked through o third party, income and related commissions are accounted for en o
gross basis as the Group is acting as a principal, rether than an agent, through its control of the pricing and
availability of car park spaces.

* income and related commissions from the Group’s distribution businesses including: Looking4parking.com;
skyparksecure and the US online aggregator businesses acquired in FY21 are accounted for on o net basis, as
the Group dre acting os the agent in this relationship. However, where the businesses sell on behalf of the
Group’s car parks the revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the booking period.

Froperty income:

* renfal income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
contracts being entered into are long-term lease arrangements.

*  inter-company revenue arising from rental between the Group's operating segments has been eliminated.

Revenue is disaggregated at the income stream level, and all segments generate revenue from all of the
Group's income streams, with the exception of the Group’s US operations, which generates only car parking
and other income, and the Group, consolidation and cther segment, which does not earn aviatien income.,
Far the purposes of the Group financial statements all infer-company turnover is eliminated upon
consolidation, whereas inter-company turnover is recognised in the revenue of individual cormpanies.

All revenue from the Group's income streams is generated in the UK other than some lounge and car park
incame which is generated in the United States of America by the MAG US segment.
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Revenue continued

At contract inception the total transaction price is estimated, being the amount to which the Group expects
lo be entitled and has rights to under the present contract. This includes an assessment of any variable
consideration where the Group's performance may result in additional revenues based on the achievement
of certain pedormance measures or discounts upon achieving certain pre-determined valumes. Revenue is
only recognised to the extert it is not highly prebable to reverse. Allocation of the transaction price to
performance obligations is determined on the basis of standalone pricing.

The Group’s custemer contracts include a diverse range of payment schedules dependent on the nature and
type of services being provided. The Group agreas payment schedules at the beginning of contracts under
which it receives payments throughout the term of the cortracts. These payment schedules may include
performance-based payments or progress payments as well as regular monthly or quarterly payments for
ongeing service delivery. Payments for fransactional goods and services occur either at delivery date, in
arrears or part payment in advance. Where payments made are greater than the revenue recognised at the
period end date, the Group recognises a deferred income liability for this difference. Where payments made
are less than the revenue recognised at the period end date, the Group recognises an accrued income asset
for this difference. All performance cbligations are largely satisfied within the financial year with most
contracts having coterminous year ends. This reduces the amount of judgments or assumptions required to
estimate fransaction price or ollocate revenue to performance obligations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as ai the acquisition date, i.e. when
the Group assumes control. Control exists when the Group has the power to direct relevant activities of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. For acquisitions completed before 1 April 2010, aftributable
costs of the acquisition formed part of goedwill. For acquisitions completed on or after 1 April 2010,
attributable costs of acquisition are expensed in the income statement in the period incurred.

For business combinations with acquisition dates on or after 1 April 2010, the Company has determined
whether o particular set of activities and assets is a business by assessing whether the set of assets and
activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set
has the ability to produce outputs.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration given
over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired entity, Positive goodwill is
capitalised as an asset in the consolidaied statement of financial position and is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses and is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised. It is tested
annually for impairment., or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Group's consolidated income statement and is
not subsequently reversed.

Contingent consideration

The Groug evaluate any confingent consideration payable and apply the application guidance sef out in
IFRS 3 to the particular circumstances of the transaction. The contingent consideration will accordingly be
categorised as part of the consideration of the acquisition or as post-acquisition remuneration. In all
instances where the contingent consideration is dependent upon the continuing employment of the
recipients, the Group will treat the amount as post-acquisition remuneration.
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Contingent considerction continued

Contingent consideration is initially recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. if the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it is not re-mecsured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or
loss as reference,

Inlangible assets
internally generated intangible assers

Develepment expenditure incurred in respect of individual projects is capitalised when the future economic
benefit of the praject is probable and is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

- the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale; and

- the Group can demonstrate how the intangible asset created will generate future economic
benefits; and

- the Group has available the resources to complete the asset; and
- the Group intends to complete that asset and has the future abilily to sell or use the asset; and
- the development cost of the intangible asset can be meosured reliably.

After recognition, the cost medel is applied requiring the asset to be held ot cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Amertisation begins when the asset is ready for use. This type of expenditure
primarily relates to internally developed software, booking systems and website projects for the Group.

Furchased infangible assefs (software costs)

The capitalised computer software casts principally relate to operating and financiol software. There are no
software as a service related assefs included. Where the software is integral to the hardware the software will
be recognised within Property, Plant and Equipment. Customisation/configuration costs of software are
recognised as an intangible asset only where the Group can demonsirate control of the asset.

Useful economic fives

The useful economic lives of the Group’s intangible assets are finite and are detailed below:

Metrolink 20

Customer and operater Relationships 5-10
Brands 410
Software & Intellectyal Property 5-10

Intangible ussets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful economic life. If there are
indications of impairment in the carrying value then the recaverable amount is estimated and compared to
the carrying amount.
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Property, plant and equipment

Praperty, plant and equipment constitutes the Group’s operational asset base, and includes terminal,
aifield, car parking, land, plant, and owner-occupied property assets. Investment propertfies held to earn
rentals or for capital growth are accounted for separately under IAS 40 ‘Investment properties’.

The Group has elected to use the cost model under IAS 16 'Property, plant and equipment’, as modified by
the transitional exemption 1o account tor assets at deemed cost that wera revalued previously under UK
GAAP. Deemed cost is the cost or valuation of assets as at 1 April 2005. Consequently, property, plant and
equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes directly
attributable own labour. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable thet the future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

The Group capitaiises borrowing costs into the cost of praperty, plant and equipmenl, if the criteria under
IAS 23 are met. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of an asset on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful economic life of the relevant asset.

Expected usetul lives are set oul below:

Years

Freehold land Indefinite*

Other land and buildings 10-50

Airport infrastructure.

Rurrways, taxiways and gpron 5-75
Utilities infrastructure and drainage 7-75
Steelwork, civifs and earthworks 30-50

Plant, fixtures and equipment:

Plant and machinety 5-30

AMotor vehicles 4.7

Fixtures, fittings, fools and equipment 5-10
"Moo depreciahon s charged on lreehold lund,

Useful economic lives are reviewed on an annual basis, to ensure the carrying amount remains relevant and
appropriate. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis over the assef's useful economic life. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land. Repairs and maintenance costs are writlen off as incurred. Assets
under construction, which principally relate to airport infrastructure, are not depreciated until such time as
they are available for use and any relevant regulatory approvals relating to their bringing into use have been
obtained. If there are indications of impairment in the carrying value, then the recoverable amount is
estimated and coempared to the carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the value that
will ultimately be capitalised as an asset, based upon AS 16 recognition and capitalisation criteria. Where
indication of impairment occurs, the recoverable amount is determined based upon 1AS 16 recognition and
capitalisation criteria. This carrying amount is assessed for impairment as part of the carrying value of the
assets at each cash generating unit (“CGU") by comparison with the value in use generated by the CGL
from its net cashflows.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly.
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Investment properties

The Group accounts for invesiment properties in accordance with 1AS 40 ‘Investiment properties’. An
investment property is one held to either earn rental income or for capital growth. The Group has elected to
use the fair value model, and therefore investment properties are initially recognised ai cost and then
revalued to fair value at the reporfing date by an independent property valuer.

Investment propartics arc not depreciated. Cuins or losses in the fair value of investment properties are
recognised in the income statement for the period in which they arise. Gains or losses on the disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement on completion. If an investment property
becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed af each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit,
exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverabte amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot ke tested
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets {the
“cash-generating unit’). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment
testing, is allocated to cash-generating units, or {(“CGU").

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications thai the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the esfimates
used lo determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the cartying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was regarded by the directors as an impairment trigger.
Consequently, an impairment review was performed at year end 1o assess the carrying value of the Group’s
assets.

Leases
Review of contracts for leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or confains, a lease if the confract conveys the right 1o direct the use of an identified asset for o period of
time, in exchange for consideration.

The Group has opted to apply the practical expedient not to reassess whather contracts contain a lease/the
Group reassesses existing confracts to confirm that they contain a lease.

107 Accounting Policies



Leases continued
Initial measurement

MAG initially recognise lease liabilities measured al the present value of lease payments, discounting by
applying the Group'’s incremental borrowing rate wherever the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be
determined. Lease payments inciuded in the measurement of the lease liability include:

s fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the prevailing index or rate
as at the adoption date

¢ amounts expected to be payable under o residual value gucrantee
¢ the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reascnably certain to exercise

¢ lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reascnably certain to exercise an extension
option, and

e penalties for early termination of a lease, unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The right-of-use asset is measured at the amount of the lease liahikity, adjusted for any prepayments made,
plus any direct costs incurred to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or rastore the underlying asset
on the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

Subsequent measurement

The lease licbility is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, whilst the
right-of-use asset is depreciated straight line over the remaining lease term as at the date of adoption.

The liability is remeasured when:
e there is a change in future lease payments arising from a charge in index or rate,

e there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee

e if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option, or
e ifthere is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When such o remeasurement occurs, a cerresponding adjustrment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, with any further adjustment required from remeasurement being recorded in the inceme
statement.

Low value and short lease exempiion

MAG has elected to not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities under leases of a duration of
under one year; and low-vaiue leases. The expense recognised in the income staterment relating to such
leases is below the £100,000 used for rounding in these financial statements, and therefore is not disclosed.

COVID- 19 refated rent concessions

MAG has elected to not apply the proctical expedient to recognise COVID-19 related rent concessions as a
variable lease payment, instead opting to account for these as o lease modification in the year. Refer to note
31 to the financial statements where this is discussed in further detail.
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Leases continued

{ease ags lessor

When the Group acts us o lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. if this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; it not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its inferests in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. it assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
frem the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classities the sub-lease as an operating lease. I
an arrangement contains lease and non-lease companenits, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.,

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term as part of property and propery-reiated income.

For finance leases, the Group accrues finance income on a straight-line basis over the lease term based on
the interest rate implicit in the lease, with payments received reducing the lease receivable.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Grants

Grants received and receivable relating to property, plant and equipment are shown as a deferred credit in
current and non-current liabilities on the statement of financial position. An annual transfer fo the income
statement is made on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset for which the grant was
received,

Government grants related to income are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received, and all the grant conditions have been complied with. Grants income related to expense items
are recognised on a systematic basis over the period matching the recognition of the expense in the
financial statemants. The Group has chosen to present grants related 1o an expense item as net deductions
against the related expense.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified at fair vatue, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, Fair Value
through Profit or Loss (FVPL) or Fair Value through Cther Comprehensive Income (FVOCH).

The Group's treatment of financial assets and liabilities:

s trade receivables are recognised initially at their fransaction price with a loss allowance provided based upon
the estimated credit loss. Subsequent measurement reflects any revisions to the estimated credit loss allowance
with any gains or losses being recognised in the income staterent; and

&  all financial liabilities (corporate bonds, bank loans and overdrafts end trade and other payables} within the
scope of IFRS @ are initially measured at fair value and then subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
gains or losses arising are recognised in the income statement.
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Financial instruments confinued
Expected credit loss

The Group applies IFRS 9 1o measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, the Group have grouped trade receivables
based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the customer’s industry and the days past due. The
Group's historical loss rates are considered alongside current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the akility of the customers to settle the receivables and reascnable
forecasts.

The Group's definition of default is based or the ageing of the debts and will also consider the financicl
stotus of the customer.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group holds derivafive financial instruments to its foreign currency exposure where in fine with its
Treasury policies. The Group applies hedge accounting in relation to any derivative where the hedge is in
accordance with the Group's Treasury policies; the appropriate dacumentation related to the hedged
instrument and hedged items are in place; and the hedge has been assessed as effective. Where the
derivative qualifies under the own usage exemption the Group will seek to apply the exemptien as opposed
to apply hedge accounting.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at
fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profit or lass. The Group designates certain
derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable
forecast transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk management objective and
strategy for underiaking the hedge. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item
and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other.

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss
on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of
the hedge is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial itern, the associated
cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the initial carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the associated cumulative gain or loss is reclassified 1o the
income statement in the same pericd or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affects
profit or loss,

When the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of
the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is stilf expected to occur, the cumulative gain or
loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the
fransaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised
gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement immediately.
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Financial instruments continued
Modification of instruments

Modification to the terms of financial liabilities held at amortised cost are assessed, gualitatively and
quantitively to determine whether the modification is a substantial modification or not.

s [fthe modification is substantial then the financial liability will be de-recognised and a new financial licbility is
recognised at fair value; and

e |f the medification is not substantial then revisions to the carrying value of the liability as a result of the revised
cashflow estimate are recognised in the profit and loss account in the period; and fees associated with the
modification are added to the carrying value of the lickility and amortised over the residual term.

Finance income and expenses

Financing expenses include interest payable, finance charges calculated under IAS 19 and finance charges
on lease liabilities recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, and unwinding of the
discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the income statement (see
foreign transactions policy). Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of an asset that takes a substantial time to be prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset.

Financing income comprise interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, interest income on lease
receivables and net foreign exchange gains that are recognised in the income statement [see foreign
transactions policy). Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using
the effective inferest method. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s
right to receive payments is established. Fareign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Centingent assets

Contingent assets are primarily insurance related, and mitigate losses caused by claims against the
Company. Contingent assets are only recognised when they are virtually certain and are presented in other
debtors, separate from the associated provision amount. However, they are presented net in the profit and
loss account.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group accounis for assets held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable, They are measured
ot the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax
and investment property that are carried at fair value.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while
they are classified as held for sale and equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted. The assets
and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in
the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of or is classified as held for
sale and that represents a separate major line of business, is part of a single coordinated plan to disposal of
such a line of business. Wher an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative
statement is profit or loss and OCl is presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of
the comparative year.
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Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank
deposits and short-term deposits ret of bank overdrafts, which have an original maturity of three months or
less. This also includes any held by banks at the year end processing currency exchange contracts where the
amount of funds to be returned to the company are known and have a maturity of three months or less.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, Borrawings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost. Any difference between the amount initially recognised (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowing costs

The Group does not capitclise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of quulifying assets intc the cost of property, plant and eguipment, unless the criteria under [AS
23 are met. Where the criteria is met, borrowing costs are calculated by applying an average interest rate in
the period to the expenditure incurred on qualifying assets.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest methaod.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are defermined by discounting the
expecled future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of
money, and where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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Taxation
The tax charge for the year camprises current and deferred tox.

The charge for taxation is based on the loss for the year and takes into account deferred tax due to
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and the accounting bases of assels and
liakilities in the tinancial statements. The principal constituents of the deferred tax liability in the Group
finunciul slolements are temporary differences on property, plant and equipment, where the carrying value in
the financial statements is in excess of the tax base due to accelerated capital allowances, and the previous

effects of revaluations under UK GAAP.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that the temporary difference
can be utilised against taxable profit in the future. Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity, are olso recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax is based on the tax laws and rates that
have been enacted at the statement of financial position date and which are expected to apply when the
relevant deferred tax item is realised or settled. Current tax has been calculated ot the rate of 19%
applicable to accounting pericds ending 31 March 2022 (2021: 19%). Following the legislation receiving
Royal assent, the impact of revisions to tax rates from 19% 1o 25% effective from 1 April 2023 has been
reflected in the deferred tax charge {and associated deferred tax balances) in the year. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are shown separately in the accounts.

Amendments to [AS 12: Income taxes has been adopted. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption sa that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences. As a result, the Group has recognised a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease. The Group has applied the amendment
retrospectively and updated the prior year numbers in line with the amendments to IAS 12. As allowed by
IAS 12 this amendment has been adopted early.

Employee benefit costs

The Group participates in four defined benefit schemes, which are contracted out of the state scheme, as
well as one defined contribution scheme. The costs of the defined contribution scheme are charged to the
income statement in the year in which they are incurred. Defined benefit schemes are accounted for as an
asset or liability on the statement of financial position, with treatment detailed below. The amount reporied
in the income statement for employee benefit costs includes past service costs, current service costs, interest
costs and return on assets income. Past service costs are charged to the income statement immediately, and
current service costs are charged to the income statement for the period to which they relate.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is inciuded as an employee benefit expense in the
income statement,

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise. The defined benefit asset or liability, together with the current and past service costs, are
calculated at the reporting date by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Under IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction’, surpluses on pension schemes are not recagnised unless there is an unconditional right to
recover or realise them at some point during the life of the plan. The unconditional right would not exist
when the availability of the refund or the reduction in future contribution would be contingent upon factors
beyond the entity’s control (for example, approval by third parties such as plan trustees).
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Employee benefit costs continued

To the extent that the right is contingent, no asset would be recognised. The specific circumstances for
GMPF {as discussed further in note 30 retirement benefits), lead to the surplus on the scheme (£25.0m) not
being recognised. in addition, a liability of £1.6m, reflecting 1 year of contractual minimum future
contributions is recognised in accordance with IFRIC14,

Dividends

A dividend to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements during the period in which the right to receive o payment is established via the declaration of o
dividend approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, or, as the case may be, vofing shareholders.

Alternative Performance Measures {APMs)

The Group uses APMs, which are not defined in iFRS, throughout the Annual Report and Accounts. The
Group’s APMs are defined internally, and therefore may not be comparable to similar APMs in other
companies, but provide additional infermation useful to both management ard the investor community to
assess the Group's performance and liquidity. The key APMs used by the board to assess the Group's
performance are detailed below:

*  Adjusted FBITDA

*  Adjusted result from aperations

¢ Adjusted net cosh generated from operations
¢ Net debt

*  Net cash and cash equivalents

Many ot MAG’s APMs are defined as ‘adjusted’ {such as adjusted ERITDA) signitying that they are calculated
before transacticns that are deemed to be adjusted items. The definition of adjusted items in MAG's
accounting policies is also detailed below. Note 40 on page 166 provides a definition of all APMs; the
purpose for which it is used; and a reconciliation to the nearest IFRS equivalent.

Adjusted items

Applied consistently over time, adjusted items (formerly Significant ltems) are items of income and expense
that, because of their size, unusual nature, or frequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate
presentation, as these are incremental and to allow an understanding of the Group’s underlying financial
performance from its trading activities. Such items include:

¢ Impairment of assets

tmpairment charges related to non-current assets are non-cash items and tend to be significant in
size. The presentation of these as other items further enhances the understanding of the ongoing
performance of the Group. Impairments of property, intangible assets and other fangible fixed
assets are included in adjusted items if related to a significant write off of paused or discontinued
projects, a fundamental transformation project or if infrequent or significant in size. Other
impairments are included in underlying results.
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Adjusted items continued
*  Major reorganisation of businesses and costs associated with acquisitions.

Restructuring costs are clussified as adjusted items if they relate to a fundamenital change in the
organisational structure of the Group or a fundamental change in the operating model of a
business within the Group. Costs may include redundancy, property closure costs and consultancy
costs, which are significant in size and will not be incurred under the angoing struciure or operating
model of the Group. All costs related to the acquisition of businesses will be classified as adjusted.

s  Costs associated with the modification of financial instruments, close out of previous financing
arrangements upon refinancing.

Costs associated with the refinancing and changes to debt facility agreements during the current
and prior year are included within adjusted items as they are significant in size, do nof form part of
the underlying trading activities.

» legal and other items

Legal and other items are recorded in adjusted items where they de not form part of the underlying
trading activities of the Group or are infrequent in occurrence in order to enhance the
understanding of the underlying financial performance of the Group. Such examples would include
early termination of o lease and the curtailment gain due to the closure of the pension schemes and
offsetting costs associated with this.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements the Group has made estimates and judgements and
assumptions that impact the application of the group accounting policies and the reperted amount of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may, however, differ frem the estimates calculated.

A. Judgements

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Group has made key judgements. Management believes
that the assessment of going concern and the treatment of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes
contain the more significant judgements impacting these financial statements.

i. Going concem

The rate of recovery of business activity levels from the COVID-19 pandemic is regarded as the key external
factor in determining the Group’s ability to comply with its loan covenants and ensuring that the Group has
adequate headroom going forward.

The directors have evaluated whether the expected activity levels, coupled with further mitigating actions that
the Group con undertake are suflicient to ensure that MAG will continue as o going concern for plausible
tuture trading scenarios reflecting the likely timing and rate of recovery of the sector. Based upon this
assessment outlined at page 98 the directors have cancluded to regard MAG as a going concern for the
purpose of these financial statements.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements confinued
B. Assumptions and estimation uncertainty

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised. The directors regard that the critical accounting
astimates arise in the areas of: valuation of investment properties; valuation of the Group's net pension
liakility; meditication of shareholder loans; and the impairment of the Group’s non-financial ossets:
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainty at the reporting date is detailed below:

i. Investment properties

investment properties were valued at fair value at 31 March 2022 by JLL, for the Group’s commercial
property portiolio and Fisher German for the Group’s residential portfolio. The valuations were prepared in
accordance with IFRS and the appraisal and valuation manual issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors. Valuations were carried out having regard to comparable market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties, land valuations and discounted cash flow methods. The value of the Group's
Investment Properties has been included at the values advised by its professionat advisors. Further details of
the basis of estimation for the valuation of the Group’s investment properties is detailed at note 15.

ii. Pensions

Certain assumptions have been adopted for fuctors that determine the valuation of the Group’s liability for
pension obligations at year end, future returns on pension scheme assets and charges to the income
statement. The factors have been determined in consultation with the Groug's independent actuary taking
into account market and economic conditions, Changes in assumptions can vary from year to year as a
result of changing conditions and other determinants which may cause increases or decreases in the
valuation of the Group's liahility for pension obligations. The objective of setting pension scheme
assumptions for future years is o reflect the expected actual ouicomes. The impact of the change in
assumptions on the valuation of the net financial position for pension schemes is reflected in the statement
of recognised gains and losses. Further details are ovailable in note 30.
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Total before X Total after  Total before Total after
Note adjusted Ad||‘Js’red adjusted adjusted Adl'_JS?ed adjusted
. items ) ) iterms .
itemns itemms items items
Continuing Operations
Revenue 1 462.1 - 462.1 178.6 - 178.6
Result from operations before adjusted items 4 (113.2) - (113.2) (326.3) - (326.3)
Adijusted itemns
Adjusted items 3 - {17.1) (17.1) (38.3) {38.3)
Result from operations (113.2) {17.1) (130.3) {326.3) (38.3) {364.6)
Share of result in associate 17 0.4 - 0.4 (7.4) {7.4)
.C;ﬂiﬂs and losses cTn sale and valyation of 15 29 6 i 296 1 2 12
investment properties
Finance costs 7 (190.1) 8.8 (181.3) {161.0) 54.2 (106.8)
Result before taxation (280.3) (8.3) {288.6) {493.5) 15.9 (477.6)
Taxation 9 {31.3) 0.3 (31.0) 47.2 {(4.8) 42 .4
Result from continuing operations {311.6) (8.0) (319.6) 446.3) 11.1 (435.2)
Discontinued operations
Result from discontinued cperatians {net of taix) 10 - (1 .7) (1 .7) 2.6 3%.3 41.9
Result for the year’ (311.6) (9.7} (321.3) (443.7) 50.4 (393.3)
Earnings per share expressed in pence per share'
Conlinuing operations (100.9) (137.4)
Discontinued operations 12 (0.5) 13.2

" Basic and fully diluted earnings equate to the same amount.

? Attributable to the owners of the parent.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
lor the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021

Note £m £m
Result for the year {321.3) {393.3)
Other comprehensive income
[terns that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities 30 63.0 (10.4)
Deferred tax on remegsurement of retirement benefit liabilities (14.6) 1.8
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax {1.3) -
ltems that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit ar loss:
Foreign exchange movement 1.3 5.5
Taxalion on foreign exchange movement @ 0. 0.4
Hedging gain - 2.4
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 48.3 (11.3)
Tolal comprehensive loss for the year! {273.0) (404.6)

! Aftributable fo the owners of the parent.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consclidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Aftributable to equity holders of the Group

Forai
Share Share Hedging orelgn Retained
. 1 currency . Total
capital premium reserve 2 eamings
reserves
MNote £m £m £m £m £m £rm
Balance at 1 April 2021 316.%6 743.3 1.0 (3.5) (59.5) 997.9
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Result for the year - - - - (321.3) (321.3)
Foreign exchange movement, net of tax - 1.2 - 1.2
Hedging gain - - {1.0) 1.0 - -
femeusuremeni of defined benefit liabilities, net of 9. 30 i ) i 48.4 48.4
ax
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on ) ) i (1.3) (1.3)
deferred fax
- - (1.0} 22 (274.2) (273.0)
Balance at 31 March 2022 316.6 743.3 - (1.3) {333.7) 7249
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2021
Attributable to equity holders of the Group
) Foreign )
Sh?re Share premiuvm Hedgm? currency Refm‘ned Total
capital reserve b earnings
reserves
MNote £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance ot 1 April 2020 316.6 687.2 0.2 341.7 1,345.7
Tolal comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - (393.3) (393.3)
Foreign exchange movement, net of tax {5.1) (5.1}
Hedging gain 1.0 1.4 2.4
femecsuremenf of defined kenefit liabilities, net of 9,30 i 7.9) 7.9)
QaAX
1.0 3.7) 401 .2} (403.9)
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Issue of C shares - 56.1 - 56.1
Balence at 31 March 2021 316.6 743.3 1.0 (3.5) {59.5) 997.9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

' Cash flow hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash fiow hedging instruments related to hedged

tramsactions that have not yet accurred. Hedging gain transferred to foreign currency reserve following the cormpletion of the foreign currency hedge during the

year and due to having no apen positions.

7 .
Foreign currency reserve

The foreign currency reserve reflects exchange rate differences arising when converting the Group's US cperations results into the reporting presentation

currency using the average rate to translate the income slatement and the spot rate to translate the statement of finoncial position.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 16 207.7 206.2
Imtangible assets 16 88.5 9.9
Property, plant and equipment 13 3,140.9 3.296.5
Right-of-use assets 14 417.7 419.5
Long-term |ease receivable 14 11.2 11.2
Investment properties 15 158.9 166.9
Investment in associate 17 11.8 10.1
C¥ther long term asset 10 4.3 7.1
Retirement benefit assets 30 28.3 -
4,099.3 4,217.4
Current Assets
Assets held for sale 18 2.1 2.0
Inventories 19 4.0 3.5
Trade and other receivables 20 86.3 65.2
Cash and cash equivalents 21 488.6 542.1
581.0 612.8
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and overdrah 23 (25.7) {(11.9}
Liabilities directly associated with assels held for sale 18 {0.5) 0.4
Trade and other payables 27 (189.4) (185.5)
Deferred income 28 (28.2) (16.6)
Pravisions 29 (16.8) [12.6)
Current lease liabilities 31 #.8) 7.9
Current tax liabilities ? {8.9) (10.1)
(279.3) (245.0)
Net current assets 301.7 367.8
Non-current liahilities
Borrowings 22-26 {2,983.2) {2,888.3)
Retirament benefit liabilities 30 (6.2) (54.9)
MNon-current lease liabilities 31 (426.0) (428.4)
Deferred tax liabilities 32 {238.3) (190.6)
Provisions 29 (2.1) (3.0
Other non-current liahilities 33 {20.3) {22.1)
(3,676.1) (3.587.3)
Net Assets 7249 997.9
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 34 316.6 316.6
Share premium 34 743.3 743.3
Hedging reserve 35 - 1.C
Foreign currency reserve 35 (1.3) (3.5)
Retained earnings 35 {333.7) (59.5)
Total equity 724.9 997.9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consclidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 117 to 169 were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 July 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

C\J\ar?eb \/ 6m'qL

Charlie Cornish, Group Chief Executive, MAG
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2022 2022 2027 2021 2021
Em £m £m £m £m £m
odBizi‘:;: Adi ?Sfed ad iui?ej a dBjLeJ ifer: Ad PSted adj u":?eec:
Naote items ftems items iterms Hems iterms
Cash flows from operating activities
Result from continuing operations (311.6) (8.0} (319.4) (446.3) 1.1 {435.2}
Taxation Q 31.3 {0.3) 31.0 47.2) 4.8 (42.4)
Gains on sale and valuation of investment properties 15 {22.6) - (22.6) (1.2) - (1.2)
MNet finonce costs 7 190.1 (8.8} 181.3 lo).0 (54.2) 106.8
Share of profit/{loss) in associate 17 (0.4) - (0.4) 7.4 7.4
Depreciation and amortisation 4 238.8 11.0 24%.8 176.9 176.9
j‘(lnr:,cerne&s:iiDecreuse in frade and other receivables and 19, 20 (20.8) ) (20.8) 343 243
increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 27 61.9 (6.6) 55.3 (69.6) (2.7) (72.3)
Decrease in retirement benefits provision 30 (0.2 (8.1 (8.3) {4.0) 1.9 2.1)
Caosh generated from continuing operations 166.5 {20.8) 145.7 {(188.7} (39.1) (227.8)
Result before taxation  discontinued operations (1.7) 4.3
Finance costs - discontinued aperations - (3.6)
Neon-cash movements  discontinued operatians 1.7 -
Interest paid (83.7) (80.0}
Tax {paid)/refund (0.4) 42.1
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities 61.6 [265.0)
Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (8.3} 1187.4)
Investment in associate 17 (1.3) (4.2)
Proceeds {nef of selling costs) from sale of property, plant, 0.8 i
equipment and investment Properties '
Increase of grants - 1.3
US Acquisition 27 {19.6) (24.3)
Proceeds from sale of shareholding in Airport City - 13.3
Net cash used in investing activities {(118.4) {201 .4}
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation, net of fees - 400.1
Net cash from investing activities - discontinued - 400.1
Cash flows from financing adtivities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital - 37.4
Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings (2.4) (4.4}
Issue of shareholder loans 25 - 300.0
Payment of principal on lease liabilities 37 (8.1) (7.8)
Dividends paid to shareholdsrs 11 - B
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities {10.5) 3252
Net {decrease)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents 38 (67.3) 258.9
Net cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the yecr 530.2 271.3
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21,22 4462.9 530.2

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consclidated financial statements.
During the year the Group's carrying volue of net cash and cash equivalents increased by £0.4m as a result of foreign exchange rate changes upon

translation of the Group's US operations into GBP.

" Net cash and cash equivalents is ret of overdrats of £25.7m {2021: £11.9m).
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022

i Revenue

An anclysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Aviation Income 179.9 74.3
Commercial income
Retail cancessions 81.2 6.2
Car pcrking 126.7 39.5
Property and property related income 21.1 20.5
Other 53.2 28.1
Total commercial income 282.2 104.3
Total income - continuing operations 462.1 178.6
Income - discontinued operations (note ]O]' - 8.5
Total income 462.1 187.1

" All income from the discantinued operation relates fo property and property related income.
Revenue from all income streams is recognised in line with IFRS 15.

Standard payment terms for MAG's revenue streams are typically 28 days.

As at 31 March 2022 there was no revenue recognised relating to performance obligations that were unsatisfied as at the year end. Any billing where

performance obligations were not satisfied are held in deferred income.

The omount of accrued income at 31 March 2022 was £26.1m {2021: £6.2m) and the amount of deferred income at 31 March 2022 was £28.2m
{2021: £16.5m). Both of these balances have increased significantly due fo the return in passenger demand, and balances are expected to selile within the

next 12 maonths.

Signficant movements in accrued and deferred income are discussed in notes 20 and 28 respectively.

Further details of the performance obligations of each revenue stream can be found in the accounting policies on page 105,
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2027

2. Business and geographical segments

For management purposes, The Group is organised into four main operating divisions: Manchester Airport, London Stonsted Airport, East Midlands Airport

and MAG US.

The repertoble segments are consistent with how information is presented o the Group Chief Executive {Chief Operating Decision Maker) o report s primary

information for the purpose of assessment of performance and allocation of resources, with information primarily presented at a segmental operating profit

level,

The primary business of all of these aperating divisions is the operation and development of airport facilities in the UK and US, and accordingly, no separate

secondary segmental information is provided.

Year ended 31 March 2022

London East Group, Consolidated - ) )
B t d
Mun:::ester: Stansted Midlands MAG US consolidation continuing tscon |r\ue \
pe Airport Airport and other?* operations operafions
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 192.0 180.8 57.6 31.4 4.7 466.5
Inter-segment sc:tes3 {3.5} 0.9 {4.4)
External Revenue 188.5 180.8 57.6 31.4 3.8 462.1 -
Result
Segment result from eperations before
aclsted Homs (69.7) @32.1) 10.7 1.0 (23.1) (1132}
Adjusted items - operating costs (15.2) 4.4 ©0.3) (1.8 4.2} (7.1 .7
Segment result from operations after
adjusted items (84.9) (27.7) 10.4 (0.8) (27.3) {130.3) 1.7)
Share of result in associate 0.4
Gains and losses on sale and valuation of o9 &
investment properties '
Finance costs (190.1)
Adjusted items - finance costs 8.8
Result before taxation (288.6) (1.7)
Other information
Segment assets 2,041.9 1,591.7 308.4 109.3 629.0 4,680.3
Segment liakilities 1,351.9)  (254.0) (80.4) (14.3) (2,254.8) (3,955.4)
Capital expenditure 37.6 10.8 57 4.6 10.0 68.7
intangible expenditure 0.5 1.6 - 2.1 3.8 8.0
Depreciation 110.6 81.8 13.3 3.5 10.7 219.9
Amortisation 6.1 2.0 0.2 3.1 7.5 18.9
Taxation (24.8) 31 7.1 (1.7} 0.5) (31.0)
Result - geographical location®
Segment operating {loss)/profit before (69.7) (32.1) 10.7 10 23.1) (113.2) i

adjusted items
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2022

2. Business and geographical segments continued

Year ended 31 March 2021

Manchest London East Group, Consclidated - Discontinued
on;\_es ef: Stansted  Midlands MAG US  consolidation continuing e
e Airport Airport and other’* operations operations
Em £m Em £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 72.2 66.1 36.3 6.0 1.0 181.6 8.5
Inter-segment salss’ (1.1 - (1.0 (3.0 -
External Revenue 70.8 66.1 36.3 6.0 (0.6) 178.6 8.5
Result
Segment operating profit/{loss) before
177.3 . . . . . 7.9
adiusted tems { ) (128.1) (8.8) {6.3) (5.8) (326.3)
Adjusted items - operating cests (F1.9} {15.7} 0.9) (0.5) 9.3 {38.3)
izir:ent operating profit/{loss) after adjusted (189.2) (143.8) (9.7) (6.8) (15.1) (364.6) 7.9
Share of result in associate (7.4) -
Gains and lesses on sale and valuation of 12
investment properties '
Finance costs (161.0) (3.6)
Adjusted items - Finance costs 54.2 -
Result before taxation (477.6) 4.3
Cther information
Segment assets® 2,102.6 1,637.4 274.8 48.7 766.7 4,830.2 -
Segrment liakilities (1,304.1) {336.2) (139.5) {46.8) (2,005.7) (3,832.3) -
Capital expenditure 102.7 23.3 5.5 0.5 22.0 154.0 -
Intangible expenditure 0.3 0.4 - - - 0.7 -
Depreciation 78.9 69.4 4.3 2.7 1.7 167.0 -
Amortisation 6.9 0.3 - 2.3 0.4 .9 -
Taxation 23.0 16.6 1.1 - 1.7 42.4 (1.7)
Result - geographical location?
< : .
egment operating profit/(loss) before (177.3) (128.1) (8.8) (6.3) (5.8) (326.3) 7.9

adjusted items

' MAG's nan-core praperty business was disposed of in FY21 end has been disclosed separately as discontinued operations in FY21 and FY22 (see nate 10).

? Group consolidation and cther includes, Group, Head Office, MAG Property, and other subsidiary companies and balances arising on consolidation, which are net specific to the other main
operating divisions. Assets include goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation. Lisbilites include borrowings, further details of which can be found in Note 22 Borrowings,
o g g 9 g

? Soles between segments are at arm'’s fength.

* The MAG US sagment relates to income generated in the United States All other operaling segments are in the UK. Fram 1 April 2022, MAG amended its reporting segments 1o combine the
MAG US business with the UK distribution business, (currently included within the results of the "Group, consolidation and other’ segment). The results of the combined business, known as
CAVU, ore presented 1o the Group Chief Executive as a single business unit. As a resuft of this change, the Group accaunts for the year ended 31 March 2023 will include CAVU as a reporting
segment, replacing the MAG US segment and the results of the year ended 31 March 2022 will be restated at that time, to ensure consistent presentation between financial years,

*To better reflect the segmental assets of Stansted, £418.7m of segmental assets have been reallocated from the group consolidation ond other' segment to the London Stansted Airport

segment.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 3/ March 2022

3.  Adjusted items

Note 2022 2021
Em £m

Recorded in result from continuing operations
impairment of assets 9.2
Major reorganisation of businesses and costs associated with acquisitions. 3.5 34.6
legal and other items 4.4 3.7
Total adjusted items recorded in result from operations 171 38.3
Adjusted items - finance costs 7 {8.8) (54.2)
Total adjusted items recorded in finance costs (8.8) (54.2)
Total adjusted items recorded in results before taxation from continuing operations 8.3 (15.9)
Recorded in result from discontinued operations
Adjusted items incurred by discontinued operations 10 1.7 -
Profit on sale of discontinuad operation - {39.3)
Total adjusted items recorded in result from discontinued operations b7 139.3)
Total adjusted items (before tax) 10.0 {55.2}

Impairment of assets

Curing the year endsd 31 March 2022, management have carried cut an impairment review of the fixed assets, including the useful economic lives of assets.
Management do not infend to operate the original Manchester Terminal 2 building and have therefore impaired retail fit out costs in the Manchester 72
building that are being removed to make way for the next phase of MAM-TP, with a net bock value of £9.2m.

All of the impairments and write affs are non-cash in nature.

Major reorganisation of businesses and costs associated with acquisitions

Restructuring costs completed in the year for the 2021 business transformation in order to simplify operaticns and reduce costs of £2.6m ccross the Group.
Acquisifion costs relate to the increase in estimate of contingent consideration of £0.9m for the purchase of the 3 online aggregetor and distribution businesses
{(AirportParkingReservations.com LLC, ParkSleepFiy.com LLC and Shuttlefinder.net LLC) acquired in FY21.

Legal and other items

Included in the year is a £10.4m curtailment gain due to the closure of GMPF, STAL and EMIA and o setflement of ligbilities in the GMPF. This is largely offset
by costs of £12.0m which is made up of GMPF setflement loss (£7.5m) and the additional pensions and associated costs of £4.5m relating to the proposed
closure of the defined benefit schemes. Costs of £1.8m have been recognised in relation to a lounge contract in the US which is no longer operated by the

Graup. Legal costs of £1.0m have been recognised in relation to potential ltigation and claims.

Gain associated with the madification of financial instruments
A gain of £8.8m relating to finance costs arese during the period due to the deferral of shareholder loan interest as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic {refer

fo note 7}

Adjusted items within discontinued operations

Adjusted ifems of £1.7m for the year ended 3] March 2022 relofes to an increase in the provision agoinst the rent guorantee receivable, porfially offset by o

reduction in the cost of other post-sale fees and commitments {refer to note 10).
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 37 March 2022

4.  Result from operations before adjusted items

Note 2022 2021

£m £m

Tumover 1 462.1 178.6
Wages and salaries (156.6) (170.2)
Sociol security costs (14.7) (16.2)
Pension costs (11.6) (17.5)
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 18.2 58.9
Employee benefit costs (164.7) {145.0)
Depreciation and amortisation [238.8) 176.9)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.3 {0.1)
Other operating charges' (189.9) (202.4)
Airpart and Ground Operations Support Scheme 17.8 19.5
Result from continuing cperations before adjusted items {113.2) {(326.3}
Result fram discontinued operatians before adjusted items 10 - 7.9
Result from operations before adjusted items - total business {113.2) {318.4)

Orher operating charges includes maintenance, variable rent, rates, utility costs and other operating expenses.

The reduction in wages and salaries is directly linked to the Group's response fo fhe COVID-19 pandemic and fhe cost mitigating actions puf info immediafe
effect including: a reduction of discretionary expenditure, reduction in headcount due to the organisational restructure, with the resiructuring costs being

disclosed within adjusted items, see note 3.

The Group received a reduced level of government support from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme in FY22 of £18.2m (2021: £58.9m), however prudent
cost management has enabled the reduction in employee and other operating expenses to offset this. Consequently almost all of the revenue increase has
flowed through to an uplift in results from operations. Additionally the Group utilised £17.8m (2021: £19.5m) from the Airport Ground Operations Support

Scheme.

5. Employee information

The average number of persons employed by the Company (including directors) during the year, cnalysed by category, was as follows:

2022 2021
Number of FTEs Numb!;rTE:
By location
Manchester Airport 2,148 3,266
London Stansted Airport 1,479 1,655
East Midlands Airport 516 529
MAG US 153 45
4,296 5,495

Manchester Airpert includes Head Office, LookingdParking and SkyParkSecure as well as operational employees, based on where these employees are
geographically located. Group employees are allocated proportionately across the three airports based an headcount. The calculation for the average number

of employees has been calculated for both 2022 and 2021 1o reflect full-time equivalent (FTEs) employees.
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4. Directors' emoluments

Further details of directors’ emoiuments and a description of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out on pages 63 to 66 11 the remuneration repert.

2022 2021
£m £m

Direclors' emoluments
Aggregote emoluments 4.1 7.3

Consistent with the treatment in prior years the amounts above include STIP payments during the year of £0.3m pcid re|ufing to prior periods and LTIP amounts
accrued of £1.8m. The LTIP amount accrued in the financial statements is driven by the Group's FY21 - FY24 LTIP scheme, which was intreduced to closely
align participants to key recovery metrics following COVID-19 over the period to FY24.

2022 2021
£m £m

Key management compensation
Aggregate emcluments 7.4 12.2

Key management for the Group are the Board of Directors ond members of the Executive Committee, including the Managing Directors of the UK Airports, who
control and direct the Group's aperational activities and resources. Consistent with the trectment in prior years the amounts above include STIP payments
during the year of £0.4m paid relating to prier periods. The LTIP amounts included in the current year are accrued in the financial slatements driven by the
Group's FY21 - FYZ24 LTIP scheme, and was introduced to closely align parficipants fo key recovery metrics following COVID- 19 over the period 1o the end of
FY24 and amount te £2.4m.

The key management compensation for the current year comprised: short term employee benefits £4.5m (2021: £6.6m); post employment benefits £nif (2021
£0.4m); ather long-term benefits £2.4m (2021: £3.4m}; and termination payments £0.5m (2021: £1.8m).

2022 2027
£m £m

Highest paid director
Aggregate emoluments 1.9 2.5

The £1.9m (2021: £2.5m) includes salary, benefits, STIP payment of £0.2m during the year relating to a prior period, and an accrued LTIP under the Group's
proposed FY21- FY24 LTIP scheme.
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7. Finance costs

2022 2021

MNote £m £m

Interest payable on bonk loans and overdrafts 7.6 7.8
Interest payable on bonds 56.8 56.2
Interest payable on cther borrowings 103.2 87.2
Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes 30 0.9 1.1
Interest expense on lease liabilities 31 22.7 22.4
Interest income on long-term lease receivable 14 (0.6) -
Capitalisation of borrowing costs 13 (0.6) (10.4)
Unwind of deferred consideration 0.1 0.3
Finance charge fo discontinued items 10 - (3.6}
Total finance costs before adjusted items 190.1 161.0
Adjusted items - loan madification gain 3 (8.8) {54.2)
Total finance costs after adjusted items 181.3 106.8

As part of MAG's strategic financial response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group agreed with its shareholders 1o a deferral of interest charges in relation fo
the shareholder loans.

Under IFRS 9, the change in eslimated cashflows of shareholder loans, as a result of the deferral of inferest payments, gave rise fo £54.2m modification gain in
FY21. The modificalion gain was calculated by the change in amortised cost of the shareholder loans which discount the estimated cashflews at the effective
inferest rate of the loans (between 10% and 12%). As the interest accruing on the deferred interest payments is ot a lower rate (3% over the bank deposit rate)
than the loans the deferral gives rise to a reduction in the carying value of the liability, the modification gain.

In FY22, the directors have calculated o medification gain of £8.8m at the reporting date besed vpon the projected repayment profile of the shareholder loan
inferest in the FY23 business plan. This is not deemed o substantial modification and as such, the change in tming is reflected in the decreased carrying value
of the loan in the pericd with the corresponding gain being recognised in the income statement, To remain consistent with the treatment in FY21 and in line

with accounting policy, management have presented the modification gain within adjusted items {note 3).

The directors are currently expecting the deferred inferest to be repaid between 31 March 2024 and 30 Septerber 2026. The key inpuls into the calculation of
the gain are:

the timing of the payments of the lsan. The payments vary depending upon the period of time that sharehaolder loan interest is accrued and the period of

time that the deferred shareholder loan interest is repaid. Shareholder loan interest can only be paid when, and to the extent that, the Group are in

s compliance with its banking covenants. Accordingly, the timing of the payments are ultimately dependent upen the irading performance of the Group as it

recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic. For the purposes of the estimation the Group has used the business projections from its approved business plan

which are consistent with those used for both going concern and impairment purposes.
o the effective rate of interest of the lean, and;
e the interest rate chargeable on deferred interest payments.

If the trading performance of the Group improved and the board decided to pay the deferred inferest payments 6 months earlier than the modification gain
would decrease by £16.7m.

MAG capitalises borrowing costs in accordance with 1AS 23. Following the COVID-19 pandemic the Group refocused its capital expenditure to completing
existing components of the Group's transformation programmes whilst deferring the commencement of new phases. Most of the existing phases were
substantially completed in FY21 and brought into use in FY22. As a result capitalised interest has reduced to £0.6m (2021: £10.4m). Further details are
provided in note 13.
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B. Result before taxation

The below note shows o break down of key items within the consolidaled income statement oceuring before result before taxation:

2022 2022 2021 2021
Centinuing Discontinued Coentinuing Discontinued
operations operations operations operations
Note £m Em £m £m
Result before taxation has been arrived at after charging/{crediting):
Depreciotion and amortisabion: |
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 209.5 - 157.9 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assats 14 11.0 - 10.1
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 18.9 - 9.9
Releose of capital based grants (0.6} {1.3)
Total depreciation and amertisation 238.8 - 176.6 -
{Profit)/Loss on dispesal of property, plant and equipment (0.3) - 0.1 -
Adjusted tems” 3 8.3 1.7 (15.9) 139.3)
Gains on sales and valuation of investment properties 2,15 (22.6) - (1.2 -
Interest charged on lease liabilities 31 227 - 22.4 -
Interest income on long-term lease receivable 14 (0.6) - -
Em pioyee benefit casts 4 164.7 - 145.0 -
Auditor’s remuneration’
Audit of these financial statements 0.7 - 0.3 -
Amounis receivable by the Company’s Auditor and its associates in respect of:
Audit of subsidiaries’ financial statements 0.3 - 0.3 -
Total auditer’s remuneration 1.0 - 0.6 -

! The overall depreciation charge relating to property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets under IFRS 16 and infangible assets is in aggregate £0.6m higher than the depreciation charge of
£238.8m i the income statement, due to £0.6m of release of capital grants being offset agamnst depreciation in the year.

? Adjusted iterns have been separately disclosed on the lace of the consolidated income statement Further details of these items are shawn in note 3 adjusted items,

¥ A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report and includes an explanation of how Auditor objectivity and independence is

safeguarded when nan-audit services are provided by the quditor.
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9. Taxation

Analysis of charge in the year

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Total befon Totol after | bet Toral af
d'o :’ d i ore Adjusted items adjusted d'ofqd jore Adjusted items di fj ,:] ol
Total adjusted items recorded in result from operations adpusted riems ftems CCIUSIEC flems gejusted frems
Current taxation
UK corporation lax un wiufits for the yoor 3.0 (0.3) 2.7 (38.7) 4.8 (33.9)
Adjustment in respect of prior year (3.4) - (3.4) 0.1 0.1
Tolal current taxation charge/{credit) (0.4) (0.3) {0.7) {38.6) 4.8 (33.8}
Deferred taxation
Temporary differences arising in the year (6.4) - (6.4) {18.3) {18.3)
Adjustment in respect of prior year* (17.4) - (17.4) 11.4 - 1.4
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax 55.5 - 55.5 -
Total ordinary deferred taxation 3.7 - 31.7 (6.9) - (6.9)
Total taxation charge/(credit} 31.3 (0.3) 31.0 {45.5) 4.8 (40.7)
*The adjustments in respect of prior year deferred tax relate to the increase of tax losses in the year ended 31 March 2021.
In the prior year, the credit of £40.7m is comprised of a credit from continuing operations of £42.4m, and a charge for discontinued operations of £1.7m.
Taxation on items credited to equity
2022 2021
£m £m
Deferred taxation an remeasurement of retirement benefit liabil ties 14.6 (1.8
Effect of change in rale of corporation tax on deferred tax 1.3
Deferred tax on foreign exchange movement 0.1 {0.4)
Total taxation charge/(credit) 16.0 {2.2)

Factors affecting the taxation charge for the year

The total taxation charge for the year ended 31 March 2022 is higher (2021: lower) than the standard rate of corporation taxation in the UK of 19% {2021:

19%). The differences are explained below.

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Total after )
Total before Adiusted it diusted Total before Adjusted Total after
adjusted items usted flems @ I?s ® adjusted items iterns adjusted items
itemns
Result before taxation {280.3) (8.3) (288.6) (493.5) 15.9 (477.6]
Result before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of
. . . . 3.0 89.9
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%): 53.3) (1.6) (34.9) (72.9) { )
EHect of:
Non-deducﬁb|e/(fc:xub|e) items 49.9 1.3 51.2 36.0 1.8 37.8
Adjustments to prior year taxation charge {20.8) - (20.8} 1.4 - 11.4
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax 55.5 - 55.5 - -
Total taxation charge/(credit) 31.3 0.3) 31.0 {45.5) 4.8 (40.79)
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?. Taxation continyed

The Finance Bill 2021 was enacted on 10 June 2022 and increased the corporation tax rate to 25%, effective from 1 April 2023. The deferred tax assets and
liability amaunts at 31 March 2022 have therefore been calculated ot 25% (2021: 15%).

10. Discontinued operations

The results of the discontinued operatian, which have been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

Year ended Year ended 31
BT March 7 ch 2021
2022

£m £m

Revenue - 8.5

Operating costs - 0.6}

Result from operations before cdjusted items - 7.9

Adjusted items 1.7 -
Finance income

Finance costs - (3.6)

Attributable tox expense - (1.7

Result from discontinued operations {net of tax) (1.7) 2.6

Profit on sale of discantinued operation - 39.3

Net profit atiributable to discontinued operation (attributable to owners of the Group) (1.7) 41.9

The Group commenced a sales process for ifs non-core property portiolio during the year ended 31 parch 2021 with the sale completing on 7 August 2020,
Non-core properly represented @ major line of business for the Group. Consequently the trading pedormance of the portfolic has been classified as a
discontinued operation since 1 April 2019, Adjusted items of £1.7m for the year ended 31 March 2022 relates to an increase in the provision against the rent
guarantee receivable, partially offset by o reduction in the cost of other posi-sale fees and commitments. As at 31 March 2022 the rent guarantee receivable,
net of provisions and discounting, is £4.3m (2021: £7.1m), disclosed as "other long-term asset” on the statement of financial position.

11. Dividends

2022 2021
£m £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year
Firal dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 of nil pence (2020: nil pence) per share -
Interm dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 of nil pence [2021: nil pence) per share - -

Amounts recognised gs distributions to equity holders in the year

Dividends not recognised ot the end of the reporting year

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the direclors have recommended that there is no payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021 nil) pence per share.
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12. Eamings per share

Earnings per share is the Group's result of the year, after taxation, divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue in the year.

2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
Group profit after tax avarage Group profit after tax average number
number of
C'F shures
shares Per share ameount Per share amount
Continuing Cisconfinued Continuing Discontinued  Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations operations operations operations operotions operations operatfions
£m £m m pence pence £m £m m pence pence
EPS attributable
to ordinary
shareholders - (311.8) - 316.%6 (98.4) - {444.3) 2.6 316.6 1140.9} 0.8
before adjusted
iterns
EPS attributable
to ordinary
shareholders - (319.6) (1.7) 316.6 (100.9} (0.5) (435.2) 41.9 316.6 (137.4) 13.2

after adiusted

iterns

Basic and fully diluted sarnings as colculated above equate to the same amaunt for: A shares; B shares: and non-voting ordinary shares. The 3 C shares issued during the prior period for the

funding of @ new car park, have a loss of £3 . Tm per share [2021: £nil},

Details of classes of shares in issue and their porticulars con be found in note 7 to tha MAHL Company accounts.

13. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold lamd Other land Airport  Plant, fixtures Assels in the
d rt an infrastructure  and equipment course of Total

an propz Y buildings ¢ aup c construction £m
2022 m Cen m m em
Cost
At 1 April 2021} 178.5 676.4 2,386.0 840.8 900.5 4,982.2
Additions - - 887 68.7
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction - 189.1 3301 311.5 (830.7)
Reclassification to intangible assels (note 14) - - (2.0 - {0.7) (%.7)
Disposcls (0.2} [5.6) (178.8) (215.4) - (400.0)
At 31 March 2022 178.3 859.9 2,528.3 936.9 137.8 4,641.2
Depreciation
At 1 April 2021 645 222.6 7553 643.3 - 1,685.7
Charge for the period - 258 1010 B82.6 - 209.5
Reclassifications to intangible assets (note 16) - - 0.3) (10.4) - (10.7)
Depreciation on disposals - {2.5) (176.9) (204.8) - (384.2)
At 31 March 2022 64.5 2459 679.2 510.7 - 1,500.3
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022 113.8 614.0 1,849 426.2 137.8 3,140.9
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 114.0 453.8 1,630.7 197.5 200.5 3,296.5
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13. Property, plant and equipment continyed

Freehold land Other land Airport Plant, fixtures Assets in the
d property on infrastructure  and eguipment course of Total

ance PQ buildlings ¢ o construction £m
2021 " Cm " £m
Cost
At 1 April 2020 179.0 646.4 2,329.8 814.7 937.0 4,906.9
Additions - - - - 154.0 154.0
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction - 41 A 504 64.9 (165.8)
Reclassification to investment properties {nate 153 - - - {0.4} 0.5) {0.9)
Reclassification to intangible assets (note 16) - - - (35.2) (23.8) {59.0)
Disposals {0.5) (11.5) {3.2) {3.2) {0.4) (18.8)
At 31 March 2021 178.5 676.4 2,386.0 840.8 900.5 4,982.2
Depreciation
At 1 Aprl 2020 64.5 2163 671.1 6041 - 1,556.0
Charge for the pericd - 17.7 86.1 54.1 - 157.9
Reclassifications 1o intangible assets {note 14) - - - (1z.nm - (12.1
Depreciation on disposals - (11 .4) (1.} (2.8 - (16.1)
At 31 March 2021 64.5 222.6 755.3 643.3 - 1,685.7
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 114.0 453.8 1,630.7 197.5 900.5 3,296.5
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2020 114.5 430.1 1,658.7 210.6 937.0 3,350.9

The carrying amount of land not depreciated as ot 31 March 2022 is £275.6m (31 March 2021: £213.6m). Where assels have both depreciating and non-

depreciating parts, the asset as a whele is categorised by its nature,

During the year the Group's carrying value of propery, plant end equipment reduced by £0.7m as a result of foreign exchange rate changes upan translation
of the Group's US operations into GBP. The impact of the foreign exchange adjustment is included within the additions and depreciation categories.

Capitalised borrowing costs

During the yeor ended 31 March 2022, borrowing costs of £0.6m were capitalised (31 March 2021: £10.4m), relating to borrowing costs incurred in FY22.
Capitalised borrowing costs were calculated on o manthly basis, by applying the rate of interest for the relevant month to expenditure incurred in that month.
The average rote of interest applied in the year ending 31 March 2022 was 5.58% {2020: 5.56%).

These barrowing costs were capitalised due to the transformational capital investment projects being undertaken at Manchester Airport.

The value of borrowing costs capitalised during the year has reduced substantially in comparison to prior year due to compietion of MAN-TP Phase 1 in July
2021 . Capitalisation of interest on the majorily of the balance was ceased towards the end of FY21 as the project became substantially complete.

The cumulative balence of interest capitalised ot 31 March 2022 is £67.4m (2021: £66.8m). At 31 March 2022, the net book value of the capitalised interest
s £63.Tm (2021: £64.8m).

Specific Impairment Review

During the year ended 31 March 2022, management have carried out on impairment review of the fixed assets, including the useful economic lives of assets. A

total disposal of £11.0m has been recognised in the year:
- £9.2m of retail fit out costs in the Manchaster T2 building that are being removed to make way for the next phase of MAN-TP, (shown within "fmpairment of

assets" in note 3 adjusted items); and
- £1.8m in relation to assets in MAG US lounges where the concession agreement has been ferminated (shown within 'legal and other items in note 3 adjusted

iterns).
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13. Properly, plunt and equipment ¢ontinued

Assets in the course of construction

Assets in the course of construclion is £137.8m ot 31 March 2022 (2021: £900.5m). The reduction in the year is primarily due to the first phase of the
Manchester Transformation Programme being brought into use in the year. Key capital prejects held within this balance are: capital expenditure in relation to
the next phase of the Manchester Transformation Pregramme (£34.5m), copital expendifure in relation to Stansted Transformation Programme (£23.1m),
projects relating to replacement and refurbishment of aifield assets (£18.3m), enhancement of IT infrastructure (£16.4m)}, costs in relation to planning consent
for the 43m passenger cap at Stansted (£8.1m) and fit-out of lounges in the US operated by MAG (£7 7m)

Assets pledged as security:

ihe bonds and bark loans are secured by o fixed and fleating charge over substontially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

Disposal of nil net book value assets no longer in use:

During the year, a review of the fixed asset records was carried out to identify fully depreciated assets no longer in use by MAG with material historical cost, so
the fixed asset balances disclosed above better reflect assets still actively operated by MAG. The result of the review is a disposal of £380.9m of cost and
accumulated depreciation for assets na langer in use. Further review is expected in the next financial year to review the remaining fully depreciated assets within

the fixed asset records.

14. Right-of-use assets

Land and Airport  Plant, hixtures and Total
Buildings infrastructure equipment ¢
2022 Em £m £m i
Cost
At 1 Aprit 2021 226.9 200.8 10.7 438.4
Additions 1.8 - 3.1 4.9
Remedasurements 0.1) 2.7 - 2.6
Modifications’ 2.1 . : 2.1
Disposals’ {0.3) - {0.1) {0.4)
At 31 March 2022 230.4 203.5 13.7 447.6
Depreciation
At 1 April 2021 10.9 6.2 1.8 18.9
Charge for the period 5.7 3.2 2.1 11.0
At 31 March 2022 16.6 2.4 39 299
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022 213.8 194.1 %8 417.7
At 31 March 2021 216.0 194.6 8.9 4195
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14. Right-of-use assets continued

Land and Airport  Plont, fixtures and
. . Total

Buildings infrastructure eguipment c
2021 £m £m £m m
Cost
At 1 April 2020 221.3 198.4 39 423.6
Additions 31 - 7.8 10.2
Remeasurements 14.1 2.4 (1.0 155
Disposals {0.4) - - {0.4)
Transters to long-term lease receivalble {11.2) - - (11.2)
At 31 March 2021 226.9 200.8 10.7 438.4
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 55 3.0 0.3 8.8
Charge for the period 54 3.2 1.5 10.1
At 31 March 2021 10.9 6.2 1.8 18.9
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 216.0 i94.6 8.9 419.5
Ar 31 March 2020 2158 195.4 3.6 414.8

' Modifications
Relating ta a number of lounges leased ond operated by MAG in the US - see note 31 for more detail.
2 Disposals

Disposal of lease asset due to lease termination at Stansted by landlord of break date.

Impairment Review

The carrying value of the right-of-use assels for each cash generating unit {*"CGU") was assessed by management as part of the year end impairment exercise.
The detcils of the this review is detailed at note 16.

Key lease arrangements

Key lease arrangements cre detailed in note 31.

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets

During the year to 31 March 2022, the income generated from subleasing right-of-use assets was £1.3m (2021: £0.7m), generated solely from sublets of
land and buildings.

Gains or losses generated from sale and leaseback transactions
During the year to 31 March 2022, the Group incurred £nil {2021: £0.7m loss) from sale and leaseback transactions.

tong-term lease receivable

As a result of the sale of the non-core portfolio on 7 August 2020, a rent review was triggered on an existing lease between MAG and Manchester City
Council (MCC). The rent increased from £nil to £0.6m per annum from this date, and the lease is in place until 31 Avgust 2288. Further details are disclosed
in note 30.

The £0.6m per annum rental charge is passed on fo the purchasers of the non-core property pertffolio under identical terms 1o the arrangement with MCC.
This represents a scle of the right of use asset arising from the rent review. Therefore, management have ceased fo recognise the right of use asset and
replaced it with a long-term lease receivable. The present value of amounts receivable as at 31 March 2022 is £11.2m. The discount rate used on future
amounts receivable 5.48%. The closing asset would be £9.5m if the discount rate were to increase by 1% and £13.7m if the discount rate decreased by 1%.
The £0.6m pass through is recognised as interest income on the long-term lease receivable and is netted against the interest charge of the associate lease

liability within finance costs.
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14. Right-of-use assets cantirued

The amaunts receiveble under this agreement are as follows:

£'m £'m
Undiscounted Discounted
Within 1 year 0.6 -
1 to 2 years 0.6 -
2 to 5 years 1.8 -
Owver 5 years 157.% 11.2
160.6 11.2

15. Investment Properties

Investment

properties
2022 £m
Valudtion
At 1 April 2021 166.9
Digposals (0.4)
Revaluation 2214
At 31 March 2022 188.9
2021 Em
Valuation
At 1 April 2020 137 5
Reclassification 1o property, plant and equipment [note 13) 0%
Revaluation 1.2
Reclassification from assets held for sale 27.3
At 31 March 2021 166.9

The fair value of the Group’s commercial investment property ot 31 March 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by JLL Ltd.
Fisher German LLP carried oul the voluation of the Group's residential property portfolio at 31 tarch 2022, The valuers are independent and have appropriate
recognised professicnal qualifications, and recent experience in the locations and categories of the locations being valued. The valuations, which conform 1o
International Yaluation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties, land valvations and analysis of demand
within the vicinity of the relevant properties. Under IAS 40 a fair value method has been adopled to revalue investment properties thal become occupied by the Group

and are iransferred to property, plent and equipment.

The fair value measurement for ali of MAG's investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based upon the inputs to the valuation technique used.

The valuers have used the following bases of valuation:
Commercial Property

Valuation Technique

* Investment property - the investment property valuations as lnvestment property

Significant Unobservable Inputs

having been carried out using the comparative and investment * Yields

methods. The valuation of the commercial property has been + Enterprise rental values

assessed using analysis of appropriate comparable investment
and renial trensactions, together with evidence of demand within
the vicinity of the property and taking into account size, location,
terms and other factors.

* land under development residual valuation approach
estimates the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the proposed
development (usually the market volue using the investment
method and making an appropriate deduction for development
costs, finance and developer’s orofit.

* Cther Development land - valuation was bosed upon the net
price per acre in the current market.
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Inter- relationship between key unchservable inputs and fair
valve measurements

The estimated fair value would increase if:

= Yields were lower

» Enterprise rental values were higher

Management have deemed enterprise rental values and yields to

be key inputs into the investment property valuation. Sensitivity

analysis on these mpuis has determined the tollowing:

* A 5% increase/decrease in enterprise rental value gives rise fo
on increase/decrease of £5.6m respectively; and

* A0 25% increase/decrease in yield gives rise to o
decrease/increase of £4.5m respechvely.
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15. Investment Properties continued

Residential P

Inter- relationship between key uncbservable inputs and fair

Voluation Technique Significant Uncbservable Inputs
value measurements
Valuation is completed on o comparable basis of similar Where comparoble evidence is hard to The estimated fair value would increase if the propenty:
properties in the vicinity. obtain, adjusted information is used to * was lurger
reflect differences in location, size, aspect < in g preferred location
and condition. * in a better condition

The rental income earned by the Group from its investment property amounted to £8.5m (2021: £15 8m}, of which £nil was attributable to discontinued operations
{2021: £8.5m). Direct operafing expenses arising on the investment property in the year amounted to £1.9m (2021 £1.4m), all relating te income generating
investment propery.

The group disposed of 2 properties from the investment property portfolio in the year, the combined value of which was £0.4m.

Gains and losses on sale and valuation of investment properties reported in the consolidated income stotement of £22.6m in the yeor {2021: £1.2m) includes £22.4m
of valuation gains on investment property (2021: £1.2m), £0.1m of valuation gains on assets held for sale (2021: £nil) and £0 1m of gains an sale of properties
{2021: Enil).

14. Intangible assets

Cther intangible

Goodwill Software costs assets Total

Note £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2021 206.2 5920 779 3431
Additions in the year - 80 - 8.0
Reclassification from/(to) properly, plant and equipment 13 - 13.5 {3.8) 9.7
Foreign exchange 1.5 - 0.5 2.0
Disposals - (5.7 - (5.7)
At 31 March 2022 207.7 74.8 74 6 357.1
Amortisation
At 1 April 2021 - 16.5 20.5 370
Reclassification fram property, plant and equipment 13 - 10.7 - 16.7
Charge for the year - 12.8 5. 18.9
Amorisation on disposals - (5.7) - 5.7)
At 31 March 2022 - 35.3 25.6 60.9
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022 207.7 39.5 49.0 296.2
At 31 March 2021 206.2 42.5 57.4 3046.1

Goodwill

Gooduwill is allocated to cash generating units based on the benefits to the Group that arise from each business combinafion. For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to the lowest cash generating unit at which management moniter goodwill. The lowest level of cash generating unit is considered to be:
Manchester Airport; London Stansted Airport; East Midlands Airport; MAG US's legacy lounge and car parking business; Lookingdparking.com; SkyParkSecure and
each of the three US based online car-parking aggregator businesses.

Of the goodwill total of £207.7m that has been allocated to each of the Group's CGUs, £166.3m is aftributable to the acquisition of London Stansted Airport, £4.5m
attributable 1o the acquisiion of the UK distribution companies, with the remaining £36.9m afiributoble to goodwill from the acquisttions of
airportparkingreservations.com LLC (£19.6m) and ParkSleepFly.com (£17.1m) and its subsidiary shutilefinder.net (£0.2m). The goodwill relating to the acquisiticns of
the three US based entities is denominated in US dollars and as a consegquence of the USD:GBP exchange rale of the year end, the goodwill offributable to these entities
in the year end accounts has increased from £35.4m to £36.9m.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets with corrying value of £49.0m are atributable to Metrolink (£31.9m, discussed in more delail below), cirspace redesign (£3.6m), the acquisition
of the UK distribution companies (£2 4m) and the remaining £11.1m relates to the operater and trade names acquired in FY21 from airportparkingreservations.com
LLC {APR), ParkSleepFly.com (P5F) and shutilefinder.net (SF).

Software costs

£39.5m of capitalised computer software cosis relate fo operating syslems throughou! the airpors {£17.0m), ERP systems (£14 8m) and car parking booking systems
{£7.7m). During the year, assets with cost and accumulated amorfisation of £5.7m were disposed of, relating 1o legacy ERP systems assets no longer in use.
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16. Intangible assets continved
Impairment

The principal CGUs used in the Group's impairment assessment consisted of:

¢ Manchester Airport where the recoverable amount provided a C1,485.3m headroom over the assets carrying value of £1,857 4m;
* London Stansted Airpert where the recoverable amount provided £1,083.9m of headroom over the assets carrying value of £1,558.8m;
* East Midlands international Airport where the recoverable amount provided £267.6m of headroom over the assets carrying vaiue of £206.4m;

* MAG US, where each lounge and car park constitutes a CGU, the overall recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value of £11.0m by £17.3m;

* MAG's UK Distribution Companies [where the CGU's are the Looking4Parking ond SkyParkSecure businesses) where the recoveroble amount amounts for each
business is £43.3m in excess of the asset carrying values (combined carrying value for both businesses £6.9m); and

* Each of the newly ncquired onling US based war parking aggregator companies constitute a separate CGU. The recoverable omount assessment is based upon the
approved budget from April 2022 bul mancgement have also considered a downside scenario that excludes post-acquisition cperating improvements and limited
growth in the operator relationship base. The impairment assessment for each CGU consisted of:

- Airportparkingreservations.com - where the recoverable amount provided a £38.7m headroom over the asset carrying value of £25.5m {Downside scenarios analysed
would not give rise to impairment);

- Parksleepily.com - where the recoverable ameount provided a £27 .3m headroom cver the asset carrying value of £22.1m (Downside scenarios analysed would not
give rise to impdirment); and

- Shuttlefinder.net - where the recoverable amount provided a £0.3m headroom over the asset carrying value of £0.1m (Downside scenarics analysed would not give
rise to impairment).

The impairment testing calculated the recoverable amount of the goodwill, intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use asset in each cash generating unit by comparing the
carrying value to the calculated value-in-use. Key assumptions for these calculations are those regarding discount rates, terminal value growth rates, expected changes
to passenger and revenue growth rates, EBITDA margin and the level of capilal expenditure reguired 1o maintain the assets.

The Group prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the Board in April 2022 covering five years. Climale change
considerations have been accounted for when arriving at the underlying costs in forecast cashflows. Management have also considered a downside scenario with FY22
passenger levels at 76% of pre- COVID-19 levels, which is in line with the lower end of industry expeciations. The business plan estimates UK passenger levels in FY22 at
90% of pre-COVID-19 levels. No additional impairments arcse as a result of considering this downside.

These projections and downside sensitivities for the timing and rate of passenger volume recoveries are in fine with the projections used for going concem. For the
purposes of the impairment assessment the business reflected the budget for the first 5 years and considered a terminal value for each CGU based upon a long-term
grawth reflecting estimated rates of inflation of 2% The business has used a budget of 5 yeors as recommended under IAS 38 but appreciates that additional forecast
period could be merited 1o reflect the business's return to normal trading levels post COVID-19 recovery. If an additional forecast period was applied in the impairment
assessments this would give rise to an increase in the headroom 1o those quoted.

The discount rates used in the cash flow forecasts have been estimated based on post-tax rates that reflect the market padicipant’s assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit. In determining the discount rates, the Group has sought to arrive at o Weighted Average Cost of Capital
(WACC) using the capilal asset pricing model for a market participant. The discount and long-term growth rates used in the forecast discounted cash flows were
caleulated as:

- UK Airport CGUs: Pre-tax: 14.61% (2021: 13.67%), Post-tax: 7.36% (2021: 6.89%), Long-term growih rate: 2.00% (2021: 2.00%);

- Locking4Parking and SkyParkSecure: Pre-tax: 20.96% (2021. 20.65%), Post-tax: 12.22% {2021: 12.04%), Long-term growth rate; 2.00% (2021: 2.00%),

- US legacy lounge & <ar parking business: Pre-tax: 18.22% (2021 18.22%), Post-tax: 13.00% {2021: 13.00%), Long-term growth rate:N/A due to contracts having
a finite life (Z021: N/A); ond

- US recently acquired online car parking aggregator businesses: Pre-tax: 20.86% (2021: 20.86%), Post-tax: 13.00% (2021: 13.00%], Long-lerm growth rate: 2.00%
(2021: 2.00%).

Metrolink

In 2014 the Group secured rights to ensure that the Greater Manchester Metrolink light rail system was extended to Manchester Airport, connecting the cirport
to the wider Metrolink network. The contractual agreement ensures that the Metrolink service, which commenced in November 2014, will be operaled for a
pericd of 30 years. The cost of securing the rights has been capitalised and is being ameortised over 20 years from November 2014 (and has a remaining
useful life of 13 years), which the directors believe to be the foresesable period over which the majority of the benefits from the service will accrue to the
Airport. Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has reduced passenger numbers on the Metrolink system the expectation is that the use of the rail system will
subsequently return to more normai levels of activity as passenger numbers return in FY22 and beyond. Consequently the Metrolink intangible asset has not
been impaired. Management have assessed the recoverable ameunt of the carrying value of the Metrolink contribution as part of the impairment assessment of
the Manchester Airport (CGU), as the cashflows relating fo the Metrolink asset are not independent fram those of the airport, which is detailed above.

Remaining amortisafion far material intangible assets
Metrolink 12.5 years
ERP system 5 years

Software and intellectual property from acquisition of APR, PSF and SF 4 years
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17. Investment in associale

2022 £m
Cost and carrying value

At 1 April 2021 10.1
Investment 1n associate 1.3
Group's share of associate’s result 0.4
At 31 March 2022 11.8

The investment in associate relates to the Group’s 20% investment in Airport City.

included within the investment in associate balance is an amount of £0.7m (31 March 2021: £0.7m) relating to MAG’s own costs incurred in the sefting up of
its share in Airpart City. This will be released to the consclidated income statement on a proportional basis on the sale of plots within the Airport City
development.

Airport City, & partnership with three other partners to develop part of the land around Manchester Airport for hotels, offices and logistics and advanced
manufacturing, was formally constituted on 8 October 2014.

Airport Cily's year end date is coterminous with the Group's year end, and the financial information detailed below is consistent with the Airport City financial
statements prepared to the same date. Summarised financial information of the Group's investment in Airport City is as follows.

2022 2021

£m £m

Current assets 61.4 48.9
Current liabilities 6.2) (4.2)
Net gssets 55.2 44.7
Group's share of associate's net assets 11.0 9.4
Revenue 36.1 19.1
Result for the period 2.0 2.3
Share of profit in associate for the year 0.4 0.6
Loss on disposal of 50% shareholding - {8.0)
Share of result in associate 0.4 i7.4)

As part of its investment in Airport Cily, the Group has agreed fo pay an equity contribution up to o meximum of £12.0m if required, of which £8.2m was
drawn down at 31 March 2022. Airport Cily has no significant contingent liabilities to which the Group is exposed, and there are no restrictions that would

prevent the transfer of funds to the Group (2021: none).
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18, Assets held for sale and associated lighilities
31 March 31 March

2022 2021
£m £m
Assets held for sale
Current assets
Investment properties 2.1 2.0
Total 2.1 2.0
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
£m £m
Associated ligbilities
Current liabilities
Deferred tox liabilities (0.5} (0.4)
Total (0.5) (0.4]

Assets held for sale as at 31 March 2022 represent the retained investment property at Bournemouth Airport. The directors regard it as highly probable that the
asset will be disposed of during FY23.

The basis of fair value measurement and valuation of the Group’s commercicl investment property, including assets held for sale, ot 31 March 2022 has been
disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. The valuation o 31 Merch 2022 resulted in an uplift of £0.1m in the asset held for sale (2021: £nil).

12. Inventories

2022 2021
£m £m
Consumables 4.0 3.5
Total 4.0 3.5
Amount of inventory charged 1o cost of sales in the yeor amounted to £2.0m (2021: £2.1m).
20. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£m £m
Trade receivables 47.5 22.6
Other receivables 3.8 30.6
Prepayments 8.9 5.8
Accrued income 261 6.2
Total 86.3 65.2

The average credit period taken on sales is 38 days (2021: 46 days). Provisions for expected credit losses within trade recevables have been made, totalling
£5.8m (2021: £8.0m). This includes reserves against specific debts estimated as irrecovercble and additionally o provision of £0.5m {2021: £5.8m). The
significant increase in accrued income versys 2021 is attributable to the signif\canf increase in passenger volumes.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables are at amortised cost.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. The level of past due debt over 90 days old has been recaleulated to reflect age

based upon due date.

2022 2021

Em £m

Debt due over 90 days 0.7 17.9
Total 0.7 17.9
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20. Trade and other receivables continued

Maovement in the expecied credit loss of trade receivables is as follows:

Em

Balance at 1 April 2021 8.0

Decrease in allowance for impuaired receivables (47)

Additional provision during the year 2.5

Balance ot 31 March 2022 58

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in ‘operating expenses’ in the consclidated income statement.

Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovery. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Less than 60 days 0.6 1.2

60 to 90 days 0.3 0.3

Over 20 days 4.9 6.5

Total 5.8 8.0

The Group has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange risk with trade and other receivables including £2.7m held in US dollars by the MAG US
business. All other receivables amounts are dencminated in pounds sterling. There are no credit quality issues with receivables that are not past their due date.

Additional disclosure on financial risk is included in note 26.

21. Cash and cash equivolents

2022 2021

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 488.6 5421

Total 488.6 542.1
The directors consider that the carrying value of net cash and cash equivalents are at amortised cost.

22. Borrowings

2022 2021

Note £m £m

Cverdraft 23 25.7 1.2

Current borrowings 25.7 11.9

Bank loans 23 483.2 482.6

Bonds 24 1,438.0 1,438.2

Other borrowings 25 1,062.0 967.5

Non-current borrowings 2,983.2 2,888.3

Total borrowings 3,008.9 2,900.2
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22. Borrowings centinued

Borrowings are repayable os follows:

In one year or less, or on demand

Overdraft 23 25.7 11.9
25.7 11.9
In more than one year, but ne more than twe years
Bank loans 23 483.2 -
483.2 -
In more than two years, but no more than five years
Bank loans 23 - 482.6
Bonds 24 358.1 357.7
Other borrowings' 25 221.7
57¢%.8 840.3
In more than five years — due other than by instalmenis
Bonds 24 1,079.9 1,080.5
Other borrowings 25 840.3 867.5
1,920.2 2,048.0
Non-currenf berrowings 2,983.2 2,888.3
Total borrowings 3,008.9 2,900.2

' The accrued deferred interest of £221.7m is repayable to the shareholders anly when MAG can make payment and still remain compliant with the leverage
ratios as stipulated within the bunking covenants, Management hove estimated (as parl of the Board upproved business plan) that the full batance of accrued
interest should be repaid in the period starting 31 March 2024 and ending on 30 September 2026, therefore the balarce has been clossified as due affer two

years, but within five years.

The Group is party o a Common Terms Agreement [CTA) where bank and bond creditors benefit from the same suite of representations, warranties and
covenants. The CTA was signed on 14 February 2014.

The CTA, together with & Master Definitions Agreement, covers inter alic The Amended and Restated Initial Authorised Credit Facility Agreement [ACF), The
Amended and Restated Liguidity Facility Agreement (LF}, and the Group'’s issue of publicly listed fixed rate secured bonds in February 2014 and April 2014
respectively.

The Group issued a £450.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 14 February 2014 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2034.

The Group issued a £360.0m publicly listed fixed rate securad bond on 16 April 2014 with g scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2024. All proceeds
from the issue of the bonds {net of certain issuance fees) were used to repay c large portion of the Secured Senior Term Facility.

The Group issued a £300.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 15 November 2017 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 203%. All
proceeds from the issue of the bonds [nel of certain issuance fees) were used to repay the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Group issued o £350.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 9 May 2019 with a scheduled and legal matunty of 31 March 2045, All proceeds

from the issue of the bonds (net of cerfain issuance fees) were used 1o repay the Revalving Credit Facility.

The Group's bank loans and bonds are all secured by a fixed and floating charge over substanticlly all of the assets of the Group.

As parl of the Group's strategic finance response to the COVID pandemic during 2020 the Group secured £300.0m on 2 July 2020 in the form of
shareholder loans. These loans have a coupon value of 10% and a malurity date of 30 September 2058.

As set out in the Baosis of Preparation on page 98, the Group is subject to financic! covenants on its secured funding arrangements. The covenants are tested
half yearly on 31 March and 30 September. As part of the Group's strategic finance response to COVID-19 in 2021, MAG had secured waivers for the
covenant tests as ot 30 September 2021 and 31 March 2022 and a modified bosis of calculation as at 30 September 2022,

Subsequent to the year end, on 27 May 2022 the Group completed the refinancing of its revolving credit and liquidity facilities, comprising a £500m revolving
credit facilily and £90m in standby liquidity facilities, each with  five year term, maturing in May 2027, with optional extensions. The liquidity facility is sized to
cover 12 months interest on secured debt ond 1s o 364-day revalving facility with o five year ferm on ecch annual renewal. The facilities replace similar facilities
that were due to mature in June 2023. These new facilities ensure sufficient headroom throughout the business plan period to ensure compliance with the

Group's internal treasury policy.
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23. Bank loans and overdrafts

2022 2021

£m £m

Overdraft 25.7 11.9
Bank loans and overdrafts - current 25.7 11.9
Secured revalving credit facility 484.0 484 .0
Less: unamortised debt issue costs' {0.8) {1.4)
Bank loans and overdraffs - non-current 483.2 482.6
Bank leans and overdrafts - total 508.9 4945

Issue costs arising in relation to obtaining finance are amortised over the duration of the financing as part of the effective imterest rate.

At 31 March 2022 the Group had £nil (31 March 2021 : Enil} undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been
met al that date. The committed borrowing facilities consist of @ £500.0m secured revolving credit facility (E484.0m drawn at 31 March 2022), less certain
carve-ouls in respect of ancillary facilities of £16.0m. The Group also had cccess to £10.0m of additional overdraft facilities, separate to the overdreft balance

above.
Interest on the Secured Revolving Credit Facility is linked to SONIA plus @ margin.

In March 2021 the UK Financial Conduct Autherity (FCA) fermally anncunced that LIBOR would be discontinued by 31 December 2021, LIBOR was the risk-
free rate component of the interest calculation in the RCF. The risk-free rate alternative will become the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) benchmark.
MAG executed the required changes to its Revolving Credit Facility and Liquidity Facility to transition from LIBOR to SONIA in June 2021 with no changes fo

commercwal terms.

See note 22 for further information on financial liabilities, including maturity analysis.

24. Bonds
2022 2021
£m £m
Repayable other thun by instalments
MAG bond 4.125% £360.0m due 2024 360.0 360.0
MAG bond 4.75% £450.0m due 2034 450.0 450,0
MAG bond 2.875% £300.0m due 2039 300.0 300.0
MAG bond 2.875% £350.0m due 2045 350.0 350.0
Less: discount on issue {9.8) {10.2)
Less: unamortised debt issue costs {12.2) 111.6)

1,438.0  1,438.7

See note 22 for further information on financial liabilities, including maturity analysis.

25. Other borrowings

2022 2021
£m £m

Repayable other than by instalments
Shareholders’ loan af an interest rate of 12% expiring on 9 February 2055 303.5 278.6
Sharehalders” loan ot an inferest rate of 10% expiring an 30 Septemnber 2056 207.9 189.5
Shareholders” loan at an interest rate of 10% expiring on 30 September 2057 207.9 189.5
Shareholders” loan at an inlerest rate of 10% expiring on 30 September 2058 343.1 310.3
Less: unamertised debt issue costs (0.4) (0.4)
1,062.0 967.5

The shareholders' loans are unsecured. The table above includes the modification gains recognised in FY21 and FY22. The principal values of the loans
equate fo £901.9m (2021: £901.9m), with accrued interest of £221.7m as at 31 March 2022 (2021: £122.0m).

143 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the yeor ended 31 March 2022

25. Other borrowings continued

As part of MAG's strategic financicl response 1o the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group agreed with its shareholders to a deferral of interest charges in relation to
the sharehclder loans. Deferred interest incurs an interest rale of 3% over the bank deposit rate and the directors currently estimate that the deferred interest will
be repaid between 31 March 2024 and 30 Seplember 2026. Under IFRS 9, the change has resulted in a modification of the estimated cashflows, however this
is not deemed a substantial modification. As such, the change in timing of the estimated future cashflow has been adjusted in the period of charge, with the
corresponding income being recognised in the income statement. The modification of £8.8m (20271: £54.2m) has been reflected in the interest payable on

other borrowings.

On 2 July 2020, £300m of shareholder loans were issued with an interest rate of 10% and a malurity of 30 September 2058.

26. Financial instruments

Risk management

The Group's activities expose it to o variety of financial risks. The Group's funding, liquidity, foreign exchange and exposure to interest rate risks are managed

by the Group’s treasury function.

Treasury operotions are conducted within a framework of policies, which are approved and subsequently monitored by the Board. These include guidelines on

funding, interest rate risk management and counterparty risk management.

Interest rate risk

The Group actively manages its exposure to interest rate risk through determining the optimum profile and mix of funding behween fixed and floating rates that
is most appropriate to the Group's cashflows, up te a maximum of 100% fixed. Where necessary, the Group uses derivative financial instruments such as
interest rate swaps to generate the desired inferest rate profile and te manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations, but based on the current debt
profile there are no instruments in place at the year end. Tha cash balances attract interest at floating rates.

Liquidity risk

The principal sources of the Group's liquidity risk are the ability to refinance debt facilities as they fall due, ensuring cash and cash equivalents are accessible
when required and borrewing facilities are sufficient for the future needs of the Group. Although there can be no certainty that financing markets will remain
open for issuance at all times, debt maturities are spread over a range of dates, thereby ensuring that the Group is not exposed o excessive refinancing risk in
any one year. The Group's key guideline in managing liquidity risk is 1o limit the amount of borrowings maturing within 12 months 1o 35% of gross borrowings

less cash and cash equivalents. All cash and cash equivalents are held on short-term deposit within term limits set by the Board. Marecver, debt facilities are
maintained at a level that is sufficient to provide a reasonable surplus beyond the future needs of the Group.

At the year ended 31 March 2022, MAG had £2,845.9m (2021: £2,845.9m) of committed facilities {excluding the Initial LF Agreement) and a net debt
position of £2,520.3m {2021: £2,358.1m). MAG had financial headroom of £472.9m (2021: £540.2m) at the year end, end, camprised of nel cash of
£462.9m (2021: £530.2m) plus £10m of available averdraft facilities (2027: £10m}. This represents a level comfortably in excess of the internal complience
targel. Under existing facilities and based on the board approved business plan MAG is forecast to have financial headroam in excess of the minimum Treasury
Policy target of £100m throughout FY23. Post year end, the Group completed the refinancing of its revolving credit and liquidity facilities {see nofe 22). These
new facilities ensure sufficient headroom throughout the business plan period to ensure compliance with the Group's internal treasury policy.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is nat materially exposed to foreign exchange risk as all material transactions and financial instruments are in pounds sterling. As the Groug lock to
grow operations in the USA in the future, where the income and expenditure do not naiurally offset, the Group may consider the use of currency hedges to

manage any exposure to foreign exchange. At the reporting date the Group has no foreign currency hedge contracts in place.

Capital Management

The Group’s abjectives when managing capital are te safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order fo provide returns for shareholders

and to maintain an opfimui capital structure.

In addition, the Group alse monitors capital on the basis of the Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio as defined in the Common Terms Agreement dated 14
February 2014 between, among others, Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited as Security Group Agent and Citicorp Trustee Company Limited as the
Obligar Security Trustee on behalf of banks and bondholders,

in June 2020 banks and bondholders voted to approve a STID Proposal which included waiving of the Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio for calculation
periods up to and including 31 March 2021, On 3 june 2021 banks and bondholders agreed to extend these waivers until 31 March 2022, Conseguently,
the Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio have not been calculated for the period ended 31 March 2022. The Group will next report an interest Cover Ratio
and Leverage Ratio for the period ending 30 September 2022, As at 31 March 2020 the Interest Cover Ratio was 5.6x and the Leverage Ratio was 4.5x. This
compares to Default Ratios of 1.4x and 7.5x respectively.

The Group regularly reviews and meintains or adjusts the capital struclure as appropriate in order to achieve these objectives.
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26. Financial instruments continued
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The Group's exposure to credit related losses, in the event of nan-performance by counterparties to financial instruments, is mitigated by limiting exposure

to any one party or instrument and ensuring only counterparties within defined credit risk parameters are used.

The Group maintains a prudent split of cash and cash equivalents across a range of market counterpariies in order to mitigate counterparty credit risk. Board
approved investment policies provide courderparty investment limits, based on credit ratings. Investment activity is reviewed on o regular basis and no cash or
cash equivalents are placed with counterparties with short-term credit ratings lower than the prescribed limits. The Group monitors the credit rating of market

counterparties on a regular basis.

The Group’s expasure to credit risk on trade receivables is mitigated by limiting exposure to any one counterparly. Risk reports and available avistion and
financial information updates used by the Group provide valuakle information in relation to any changes in the credit risk profile of our customers or within the
market and allow the Group to ake a flexible approach to the management of risk. Credit risk exposures in relation to ad hoc customers are mitigated, where

necessary, using prepayments or the request of deposits.

{a) Interest rate profite of financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as ot 31 March 2022 was as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Fixed rate financial liakilities 2,500.0 2,405.7
F|oafing rate financial lichilities 508.9 4245

3,008.9 2,900.2

The revolving credit facility bears an interest rate based on SONIA at the Group’s discretion, between 1 week and 6 months, plus a credit margin. The

overdralts bear inferest at Bonk of England Base Rate plus a credit margin.
The Group has prepared an analysis of the impact of potential, likely changes in inferest rates.

The result of an increase in inferest rates of 1% per annum would be to (decrease)/increase income and equity for the year by the following amounts:

2022 2021
£m £m
impact on income statement (0.2} 0.5
impact on equity - -
(0.2} 0.5

{b) Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial liabilities
2022 2021
Weighted average annual interest rate 6.36% 6.36%
Weighted average period for which inferest is fixed 2Tyr 5m 22yr S5m

The weighted average period for non-interest bearing liabilities as at 31 March 2022 was 86 days (2021: 86 days).
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26. Financial instruments continued

{c) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The table below shows the gress undiscounted contractual cash outflows/(inflows) on the Group's financial liabilities and the net settled derivative financial

instruments as at 31 March 2022 1o the contract matunty date.

2022 2021

£m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 634.1 6341
In more than one year, but no more than two years 150.1 150.1
In more than two years, but no more than five years 287.5 780.7
In more than five years — due other than by instalments 5,257.5 5,392.8

7,029.2 6,957.7

This maturity profile represents the fair value of all financial liakilities, as notated in table [d] below,
Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had an undrawn committed borrawing facility available amounting to £nil (2027: £nil)

(d) Fair values versus carrying amounts of financial instruments

The following table provides o comparison, by category, of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s financial instruments as at 31 March 2022
and 20Z 1. Fair value is defined as the amount at which a finoncicl instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length fransaction between informed and willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale and excludes accrued inferest. Where available, market values have been used to determine fair values.

Where market values are not available, fair values have been calculcted by discounting expected cash Hlows at prevailing interest rates.

2022 2021
Carrying 2022 Carrying 2021
amount Fair value amgunt  Fair value
MNote £m £m £m £m
Financial liabilities:
Instruments held at amortised cost
Bonk loans and overdrafis 23 (508.9) (508.9) (494.5) (494.5)
Trade payables 27 (35.7) (35.7) (33.0) (33.0)
Deferred consideration* 27 (7.8) (7.8) (25.8) {25.8)
Bonds 24 (1,438.0) (1,458.2) {1,438.2) (1,567.9)
Other borrowings 25 (1,062.0) {1,001 .4) (967.5) (1,121.6)
(3,052.4) (3,012.0) (2,959.0) (3,242.8)
Financial assets:
tnstruments held at amortised cast
Cash at bank and in hand 21 4B88.4 488.6 542.1 542.1
Trade receivables 20 47.5 47.5 22.6 22.6
Contingent consideration - - 7.1 7.1
536.1 536.1 571.8 571.8
Net financial liabilities (2,516.3) (2,475.9) (2.387.2) (2.671.0)

*At 31 March 2022, the carrying value of the deferred consideration represents actual amounts paid post year end converted from USD to GBP at the year end spot
rate.

Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments carried at fair value are required to be measured by reference to the following levels:

* level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or lighilities;

* level 2 - inpuls other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly [i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

* level 3 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Bonds are measured by a level | valuation method.

All financial instruments carried at fair value have been measured by o level 2 valuation method.

Investment properties carried at fair value have been measured by a level 3 valuation method.
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24. Financial instruments continued

{d) Fair values versus carrying dmounts of financial instruments continued

Summary of methods and assumptions used for determining fair values
Financial Instrument Level Estimate Basis

The fair value of publicly listed bonds is based on market prices or, if net available, brokers' quotes.

Bonds ! The carrying value is net of unamortised issue costs,
) ) The fair value of deferred consideration is based upon the final seftflement amount in USD in April
Delerred consideration A
2022, converted at the year end USD/GBP spot rate.
The fair value of the bank loans approximates to the carrying value given their floating rate basis
Bank loans 2 . . : . o
and interest setting frequency. The carrying value is net of unamortised issue costs.
‘ The fair value of other borrowings is based on a discounted cash flow methodalogy thot reflects
Other Borrowings 2 ) ”
movements in underlying market rates.
Cash af bark and in hand 9 The fair value of cash at bank and in hond approximates to the carrying value as all deposits have
same day access.
Trade receivables and 5 The fair value of trade receivables and trade payables approximates to the carrying value given their
payables short-term nature.
Investrnent Properties 3* The fair values of investment preperties are based on an incame capitalisation methodelegy.

* Deferred consideration has moved from a level 3 liability fo a level 2 fiability in FY22, following observable cash setilement of the balance in April 2022,

** Refer to note 15 for valuation }echniqueg Qpp“ed,

(e) Credit risk exposure

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2022 2021

Carrying Carrying

amount amount

£m £m

Trade receivables 47.5 22.6
Cash at bank and in hand 488.6 542.1
Credit exposure 536.1 564.7

Further anclysis on the credil risk, ageing and impairment of trade receivakles can be found in note 20,
() Hedging on acquisitions

On 22 lJune 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of US companies AirportParkingReservations.com LLC, ParkSleepfly.com and
ShuttleFinder.net (subsidiary of ParkSleepFly). Under the share purchese agreements, all three acquisitions had nen-contingent deferred payments due in April
2021. In line with Group risk management strategy, management opted to toke out forward contracts to purchase USD at a closing rate of 1.3125 in order to
eliminate the foreign exchange risk on the payment. Following payment of these amounts, there are no open contracts as af 31 March 2022.

27. Trade and other payables

2022 2027

£m £m

Trade payables 35.7 33.0
Other taxation and social security 10.3 0.5
Other payables 2.0 1.7
Accruals 133.0 123.2
Deterred consideration 7.8 25.8
Capilal-based grants Q.6 1.3
189.4 185.5

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

Deferred consideration relates 1o amounis payable fo the vendors of the acquired businesses AirportParkingReservations, ParkSleepFly and ShuttieFinder.
Under the share purchase agreements, all three acquisiticns had non-contingent deferred payments due in April 2021, A payment of £19.6m, classified within
"purchase of US business" in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows was made in relation to this, with £19.0m relating to payment of the deferred
consideration made on 1 April 2021, and £0.6m relciing to associated fees. The deferred consideration balance has reduced accordingly following the

payment.
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28. Deferred income

2022 2021

£m £m

Deferred income 28.2 16.6
Total 28.2 16.6

Deferred income primarily relates to cash receipts for car park bockings not yet consumed, and cash receipts on property income billed in advance.

The significant increase in delerred income versus 2021 is aftributable to a large increase in car park bookings, following a significant increase in passenger

vo]umes.

29. Provisions

Post sale Other

commitment provisions Total
£m £m £m

1 April 2021 3.0 12.6 15.6
Charged o income statement - 7.0 7.0
Utitised 0.9 (2.8) (3.7)
31 March 2022 2.1 16.8 18.9
Current - 16.8 16.8
Non-Current 2.1 - 2.1
31 March 2022 2.1 16.8 18.9

Post sale commitments

As part of the Group's dispasal of its non core property portfolio in August 2020, the Group entered info commitments for the provision of certain
commitments to third parties as a result of the sale, post completion under the sale and purchase agreement. Manogement has estimated the cost of providing
these services 1o be £2.1m. Management anticipate that the satisfaction of the provision will be achieved within the next 2 to 4 years, as such the provision has
been disclosed as being non-current. The estimated cashflows have been discounted based upon initial estimated cash outlay less future income stream
discounted at 10%, based on the Group cost of cup[fol.

Other provisions

The other provisions balance includes a provision in relafion to insurance claims liabilities from incidents which have occurred at either Manchester Airport,
Stansted Airport or East Midlands International Airpert, and provisions relating to potential litigotion ocross the Group including legal fees. Management
anticipate that the satisfaction of the provision will be achieved within the next 12 months, as such the provision has been disclosed as being current.

Management has estimated the cost of satisfying the provisions within this category to be £16.8m.

None of the provisions are materially sensitive.

30. Refirement benefit liabilities
Curtailment —Scheme Closure

Over the pericd GMPF, STAL and EMIA have closed o future acerual of benefits, including breaking the link to future Increases in pensionable salaries,
Overall, the total curtailment impuact across the schemes is a gain of £10.4m {2027 Loss of £1.9m).

Settlement

On 22 March 2022, MAG agreed pay a one-off contribution of £5.2m 1o seftle the histarical liabilities of three MAG subsidicries within GMPF:
* Manchester Airport Aviation Services Lid {"FAAS"}

* Manchester Airport Ventures Lid ("MAY™); and

= Ringway Handling Services Lid (“Ringway”).

The settlement has had the fol\owing impact:
* Reduction in 1AS 19 liabilities of £26.5m due to their transfer to the main fund of GMPF;
* Reduction in assets of £34.0m including the one-off contribution of £5.2m due 1o their transfer to the main fund of GMPF; and

Oweroll this has resulted in o net sefflement loss of £7.5m.

148 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2022

30. Retirement benefit liabilities continued

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operales a defined contribulion schere for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme is held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees. Where there are employees who lecve the scheme pricr 1o vesting fully, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by

the amount of foreited contributions.

The total cost charged 1o income of £9.9m (2021: £10.3m) represents contributions payable te the scheme by the Group af rates in the pension scheme's
contribution schedule. As at 31 March 2022, there was Enil (2021: Enil} of contributions due in respedt of the current reparting period that had not been paid

over o the scheme.

Defined banefit schienes

The Group cperates four defined benefit pension schemes as follows:
* The Greater Manchester Pension Fund {GMPF].

* M.A.G (STAL Pension Scheme.

* E.AMI.A Pension Scheme.

* The Airport Ventures Pension Scheme [AVPS).

collectively the "Schemes"

Under the Schemes, the employees are entitled to retirement benelits based on final salary and length of service at the time of leaving the Schemes, payable on
cHainment of refirement age [or earlier withdrawal or death). No other posi-retirement benefits are provided. All Schemes are closed to new entrants. AVPS was
previously closed fo the future accrual of berefits, and GMPF, STAL and EMIA were closed to the future accrual of benefits during the year to 31 March 2022,

The Group operates the Schemes under the UK regulatory framework. Benefits are paid to members from trustee-administered funds, and the trustees of each
scheme are responsible for ensuring that each respective scheme is sufficiently funded to meet current and future benefit payments. Scheme assefs are held in

trusts separate to the Group. If investment experience is worse than expected, the Group's obligations are increased.

The nature of the relationship between the Group and the trustees of each scheme is also governed by UK regulation. The trustees must agree a funding plan
with the Group such that any funding shortfall is expected te ke met by additicnal contributions and investment performance. In order to cssess the level of
contributions required, triennial valuations are carried oul, with eoch scheme’s obl]gaﬁons being measured using prUdem ossumptions freloﬁve to those used to

measure accounting liabilities).

The trustees’ other dufies included managing the investment of scheme assets, administration of scheme bensfits and exercising of discretionary benefits. The

Group works closely with the trustees to manage eoch scheme.

Total employer’s pension contributions for defined benefit schemes across the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 emounted to £8.5m (2021:
£11.0m) and there were £6.3m of one-off contributions during this period (2021: £nil).

Total employees’ pension contributions for defined benefit schemes across the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to £0.6m (2021:
£1.2m) and there were no one-off contributicns during this period (2021: £nil).

Actuarial gains or lesses are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income, included within remeasurements.

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund {GMPF)

The Scheme was closed to future acerual during the year and a Deferred Debt Agreement (DDA) was entered into. Following the signing of the DDA, the
Group continues to fund obligations in relation to assets and liabilities in the GMPF in respect of Manchester Airport Ple on an ongeing basis. The Group
continues to contribute to support the GMPF in future (with no immediate exit debt). Certain employees of the Group participate in the GMPF, administered by
Tameside Borough Council. Of the total Group pension contributions noted above, seme £2.3m (2021: £3.7m| relaled to poyments info the GMPF and fhere
were £6.3m of one-off contributions during this period {2021: £nil).

The securities porifolio of the fund is managed by two external professional investment managers and the property porffolio is managed internally by GMPF.

Participation is by virtue of Manchester Airport Plc’s status as an ‘admitted body’ to the fund.

The last full valuation of the fund was undertaken on 31 March 2019 by an independent actuary. The Fund was valued using the attained age method. The
purposes of the valuation were to determine the financial position of the Fund and to recommend the contibution rate to be paid by Menchester Airport Ple
and the other participoting employers. The market value of the whole of the Fund's assets for all employers at 31 March 2019 was £23,845m [previous
valuation in 2013: £17,325m). The funding level of the scheme as measured using the actuarial methed of valuation was 102% (previous valuation in 2016:

93%).
The principal assumpticns used in the 2019 valuation were as follows:
Salary increase 3.10% per annum

Pensions increase/price inflation 2.30% per annum
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30. Refirement benefit liabilities continued

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) continued

The costs of providing pensions are charged to the income statement on a consistent basis over a term agreed betveen the GMPF and the employer. These
costs are determined by an independent qualified actuary and any variations from regular costs are spread over the remaining working lifetime of the current
members. The expected future contributions for the year-ended 31 March 2023 is £2.1m.

MAG [STAL) pension scheme

The Scheme was closed to future accrual during the year. On 28 February 2013, the Group acquired the entire share capitel of Stansted Airpart Limited. A
condition of tha purchase was that a new defined benefit pension scheme was set up to provide comparable benefits to those employees who had previously
participated in the BAA pension scheme prior to the acquisition. Current employees transferred their accrued benefits to the MAG (STAL) Pension Scheme, but
no liability for pensioners or deferred members was transferred. The last full actuarial valuation of the MA.G [STAL} pension scheme was carried out by the
scheme actuary on 30 September 2019, The aggregate market value of the assets in the scheme at the date of that actuarial valuation wes £198.8m (previous
valuation £153.0m),which represented approximalely 8%.3% (previous valuatian 87.9%) of the present value of the liabilities. The scheme was valued using
the projected unit method. The expected future contributions for the year-ended 31 March 2023 is £3.2m.

Other schemes

Full actuarical valuations were carried out on the other defined benefit schemes as follows:
* E.M.LA Pension Scheme (EMIA) - 8 April 2020 (The Scheme was closed to future accrual during the year); and
* Airport Ventures Pension Scheme 1 August 2019

The aggregate market value of the assets in the EMIA scheme during the year was updated by full valuation and at the date of that actuarial valugtion was
£60.6m [previous valuation £59.8m), which represented approximately 67.0% {previous valuation 74.0%) of the present value of the liabilities. The scheme
was valued using the projected unit method. The expected future contributions for the year-ended 31 March 2023 for EMIA is £2.6m.

The other schemes are not significant to the Group and details of their valuation are included in the relevant entity’s tinancial siatements.

The naumerical disclosure provided below for the defined benefit schemes is based on the most recent actuarial veluations disclosed abeove, which have been

updated by independent qualified actuaries to take account of the requirements of 1AS 19.

The key assumptions used are as follows:

GMPF MAG (STAL) Emia AVPS

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Discount rate 2.65% 1.95% 2.60% 2.00% 2.60% 2.00% 2.65% 1.95%
Future salary increases n/a** 3.05% n/a** 3.00% nfa** 2.00% n/a n/a
RPI inflation 3.50% 3.05% 3.30% 3.00% 3.45% 3.00% 3.50% 3.05%
CPl inflation 3.00% 2.55% 2.60% 2.30% 2.75% 2.25% 2.95% 2.45%
Increases to pensions in payment
RPI fmax 5%) n/a n/a 3.20% 2.95% 3.30% 2.95% n/a n/a
RPI {max 2.5%) n/a n/a 2.20% 2.10% 2.25% 2.10% n/a n/a
CPI 3.00% 2.55% n/a n/a nfa n/a nfa n/a
CPl (max 3%) n/a n/o 2.20% 2.00% 2.25% 2.00% 2.35% 2.10%
RPI n/a n/a 3.30% 3.00% nfa n/a 3.50% 3.05%
Life expectancy from 65
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners
Males 20.1 years 20.1 years 21.6years 21.5years  22.0 years 22.0 years 22.0 years 21.9 years
Females 23.1 years 23.0years 23.6years 23.5years 23.7 years  23.7 years 24.3 years 24.3 years
Longevity at age 45 for current members
Males 21.0years 20.9years 22.6years 22.5years  23.0 years 23.0 years 23.0 years 22.9 years
Females 24 4 years 24.3years 24.8 years 24.7 years 249 years  24.9 years 25.5 years 25.4 years

The longevity assumptions for the MAG (STAL) scheme reflect the higher age profile of active scheme members, compared to other pension schemes, as the scheme

commenced in 2013,

The RPI inflation assumption is set by extrapolating the Bank of England implied inflation curve out 1o longer terms and using the same projected cashflows to derive a
single equivalent RPI inflation assumption. CP! inflation is set by reference to RPI inflation s no CPl-linked bonds exist. Management have revised their basis of

estimaling the inflation assumption based upon this data as set oul in the section on RPI Reform.

**Scheme closed to future accrual during the period.
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30. Retirement benelit liabilities continued

Risk and risk management

Through its defined benefil pension schemes the Group is exposed o a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below.

Asset volatility

Changes in bond
yields

Inftation risk

Life expectancy

For the purpose of setting the contribution requirements, the calculation uses a discount rote set with reference to government bond yields,
with allowance for additional return to be generated from the investment portfolio - whereas under IAS 19 (R), the defined benefit
obligation is calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields. GMPF, MAG (STAL) and EMIA hold a significant
proportion of their assels in return-seeking funds. The refurns on these assets may be volalile and are not closely correlated to the value
placed on the figbilities. This means that the deficit may be volatile in the shorter term, which may result in an increase in the contribution
requirements and an increase in the net defined liability recorded on the statement of financial position. However, the Group believes that
return-seeking assets offer an appropriate level of return over the long term for the level of nsk that is taken. Furthermore, the schemes’
other assets are well-diversified by investing in o range of asset classes, including diversified growth funds, government bonds and
corporate bonds.

A fall in bond yields increases the value placed on the liabilities for reporting purposes and for setting the Group’s contribution
requirements. However, in the scenario the schemes’ investment in corporate and govemment bonds 1s expected to increase and therefore
offset some of the increase in the value placed on the ligbilities.

The maijority of the schemes’ benefit obligations are linked to inflation and higher out-turn inflation will lead to a higher benefit cbligation
{although in most cases caps an the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The majority
of the schemes’ assets do nol provide a direct hedge ogainst changes in inflation as they are either fixed-interest in nature e.g. corporate
bonds and government bonds, or have an indirect link to inflation e.g. equities.

The majority of the schemes’ obligations are to provide a pension for the life of the member, so increases in life expeciancy will result in
an increase in the schemes’ liabilities. This is particularly significant where the longer duration and inflation-linked nature of the payments
result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy. The schemes do nof confain a hedge against increases in future life expectancy.
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country. COVID-19 has caused a short term increase in
deaths in the UK but the excess deaths 1o date have not generally had a material impact on UK pension scheme liabilities. The future
impact of COVID-19 on long-term morality improvements is cumrently uncertain with potential adverse implications of delayed medical
interventions and “long COVID” along with potential positive implications if the surviving population is less “frail” or the pandemic causes
improved healthcare initiatives and lifestyle changes. Overall, the Group believes there is insufficient evidence to require an explicit
adjustment to the mortality assumption for COVID-19 at this time.
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30. Retirement benefit liahilities continued

Present value of {Deficit)/
Fair value of  defined benefit surplus in the
scheme assets obligations scheme”
£m £m £m
GMPF'
2Q22 466.9 {468.5) {1.6)
2021 4852 (526.3) 41.1)
2020 408.9 {(441.3) (32.4)
2019 4657 (503.9) (38.2)
2018 437.5 (483.5) (46.0)
2017 435.2 489.4) (54.2)
2016 3431 (402.6) (39.5)
MAG (STAL)?
2022 228.9 {200.6) 28.3
2021 217.5 (218.8) (1.3)
2020 184.8 (182.1 2.7
2019 185.0 (209.8) (24.8)
2018 172.5 (195.0) (22.5)
2017 161.4 (189.2) (27.8)
2016 131.8 (133.4) (1.6}
EMIA
2022 73.3 (77.9) (4.6)
2021 69.7 (82.2) (12.5)
2020 60.7 (77.2) (16.5)
2019 461.9 (82.8) (20.9)
2018 61.3 {80.1) {18.8)
2017 59.9 (82.5) (22.6)
2016 52.9 (64.7) (11.8)
AVPS®
2022 2.7 (2.7 -
2021 3.5 (3.5)
2020 3.4 (3.4)
2019 3.7 3.7)
2018 3.9 (3.9)
2017 4.0 (4.0)
2016 3.5 (3.9)
Total*®
2022 771.8 (749.7) 22.1
2021 7759 (830.8) (54.9)
2020 657.8 (704.0) {46.2)
2009 716.3 {800.2) {83.9)
2018 675.2 {762.5) (87.3)
2007 660.5 {765.7) (104.6)
2016 551.3 {604.2) (52.9)
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30. Retfirement benefit lickilities conlinued

NOTES:
" The figures as shown represent the properion of the scheme that is aitributable to the Group. £5.0m (2021: £5.4m) of the liabilities are unfunded.

? STAL has a surplus of £28.3m which would be in the form of refunds. The Groups’ assessment is that it has a right to a refund of surplus under the IFRIC 14
requirements based on the scheme rules. Since the scheme has closed in the current year, the surplus can only be recognised as a right to refund.

* The AVPS has a surplus of £0.5m (2021: £0.5m). This surplus has not been recognised in line with ‘IFRIC 14" as the surplus cannot be recovered by reducing future
confributions

" GMPE has a surplus of £25 0m (2021: £41_1m deficif). Since the scheme has closed in the current year, the surplus can no longer be recognised based on future
contributions. Further, the LGPS regulations do not aliow the recognition of a surplus and as a consequence the Group’s assessment is that it does net have a right to
the surplus. Accordingly, the surplus has not been recognised in line with IFRIC 14 requirements. In addition, o further adjustment of £1.6m has been made fo reflect
the present value of future agreed deficit recovery contributions into GMFF in line with ‘IFRIC 147, Therefore the impact of the asset ceiling is £26.6m.

*The tetal of £22.1m shows the net position across the Group, however the surplus in Stansted cannot be offset against the deficit of the other schemes, so these are
presented separately.

® There have been no other adjustments made in line with ‘IFRIC 14"

Plan assets
GMPF* MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS TOTAL
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2027 2022 2021
£m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities and
other growth 334.6 339.1 137.6 132.7 41.4 41.4 - - 513.6 513.2
assets
Corporate and
governmeant 73.0 69.9 72.8 73.8 16.8 168 3.1 3.4 145.7 163.9
bonds
Property 40.0 33.0 - . 6.0 49 - - 46.0 379
Other 45.9 43.2 18.5 11.0 9.1 66 0.1 0.1 73.6 60.9
:’;;;“'“’ of 493.5 4852 228.9 2175 73.3 697 3.2 35 798.9 775.9

* The asset values for GMPF and AVPS do not include the impact of the asset ceilings of £26.6m and £0.5m respectively.

Both the EMIA and GMPF pension schemes contain Level 3 assets where valuation is not based upon observable market data. The valuations, which conform to
Internafional Valuation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar assets and discounted cash flow metheds.
The valuation technigues applied to the Level 3 assets within the Group’s pension schemes are:

GMPF pooled investment vehicles - as determined by relevant fund managers including market prices; quetations; discounted cashflows; comparable
transacticn pricing or industry multiples; or other pricing methodology;

+  GMPF investment properlies - estimales of open market value reflecting ussumplions on: rental growth; void rates; and discount rates;

EMEA Annuities (to discharge liability relating to specific scheme members) valued at the corresponding amount of the relevani scheme member’s
scheme obligation; and

*  EMIA with profits insurance policies  cumulative reversionary bonuses declared and current terminal bonus,
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30. Retirement benefit liabilities continued

Movement in net defined benefit liability - All schemes

Defined benefit Fair value of scheme assets Net defined benefit liability

cbligation
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m Em £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (830.8) {703.3) 775.9 657.8 (54.9) (45.5)"
Included in the income statemant
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme (1.9) {5.7) (1.3) (1.7) 3.2) (7.4)
Past service cost - - - - -
Curtailment gain/{loss) 10.4 (1.9 - - 10.4 (1.9
Settlements 26.5 - (34.0) - (7.5)
Interest {cost)/income (14.5)  {16.3] 13.6 15.2 (0.9) a.m
205 (23.9) (21.7} 13.5 (1.2) (10.4)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income {SOCI)
Actual return less expecled return on pension scheme assets - - 56.2 121.4 56.2 121.4
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities (3.7) 7.6 . - (3.7) 7.6
Remeasurement gain/{ioss} due jo financial assumplion changes 36.9 (142.6) - - 36.9 (142.6)
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 0.2 3.7 - - 0.2 3.7
Reclassification 05 . (0.5) : -
Impact of change in the asset ceiling - 0.5) {26.6) - {26.6) 0.5}
339 (131.8 29.1 121.4 63.0 (10.4)
Cash flows
Contributions (0.4) (1.2) 15.8 12.6 15.2 11.4
Benefils paid 27.3 29.4 27.3) (29.4) ;
Closing position as at 31 March (749.7) (830.8) 771.8 775.9 22.1 (54.9)

The total of £22.1m shows the net position across the Group, however the surplus in Stansted cunnot be offset against the deficit of the other schemes, so
these are presented separately.

* The FY21 opening positien excludes the impact of the asset ceiling of £0.7m. The amount going through the SOCIE in FY21 is £9.7m.
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30. Retirement benefit liabilities continued

Movement in net defined benefit liability - GMPF Scheme

Defined benefit

Fair value of scheme assets

Net defined benefit liability

obligation
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m Em £m
Opening position as at 1 April (526.3) (441.3) 485.2 408.9 41.1) {32.4)
Included in the income statement
Current service cost of defined benelit scheme {0.B) (2.5) - 0.8) (2.5)
Curiailment gain/{loss) 4.8 0.7 - 4.8 ©.7)
Settlements 26.5 - (34.0) (7.5)
Interest (cost)/income (2.2) (10.2) 8.4 2.4 (©.8) 0.8)
213 (13.4) (25.6) 04 4.3) @.0)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 44.3 81.4 44.3 81.4
Experience (loss}/gain arising on scheme liabilities {1.8) 4.7 - (1.8) 4.7
Remeasurement gain/(loss) due to finoncial assumption changes 18.8 5.1 - 18.8 {25.1}
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 0.1 0.2 - 0.1 0.2
Impact of change in the asset ceiling - {26.6) (26.6) -
171 (90.2) 17.7 81.4 34.8 8.8)
Cash flows
Contributions {0.4) {0.6) 9.4 4.7 2.0 4.1
Benefits paid 19.8 19.2 (19.8) (19.2) - -
Closing position as at 31 March {468.5) 6526.3) 466.9 485.2 {1.6) 41.1)

The schemne lighilities have a duration of approximately 16 years [2021: 16 years)
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30. Retirement benefit liabilities continued
Movement in net defined benefit liability - MAG (STAL) Scheme
Defined benefit

Fair value of scheme assets

Net defined benefit liability

obligation
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (218.8) (i82.1) 217.5 184.8 (1.3} 2.7
Included in the income statement -
Current service cost of defined benefil scheme (1.0 2.9 (0.8) 0.9 (1.8} (3.8)
Curailment gain/(loss) 5.9 (1.2) - 59 (1.2)
Interest (cost)/income (3.9 4.2 3.9 4.3 - 0.1
1.0 8.3) 3.1 3.4 4.1 4.9)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - 8.2 30.8 8.2 30.8
Experience (|OSS]/9C|“1 arising on scheme lichilities (1.1} 1.4 - (1.1 1.4
Remeasurement gain/(loss) due to financial assumption changes 147 (35.9) - - 14.7 (35.9)
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 01 02 - - 0.1 0.2
13.7 (34.3) B.2 30.8 21.9 {3.5)
Cash flows
Contributions (0.2) {0.9) 3.8 4.9 3.6 4.4
Benefits paid 3.7 6.4 (3.7 (6.4) - -
Closing position as at 31 March {200.4) (218.8) 228.9 217.5 28.3 (1.3

The scheme fiabilities have a duration of approximately 22 years (2021: 22 years).

Movement in net defined benefit liability - EMIA scheme
Defined benefit

Fair value of scheme assets

Net defined benefit liability

obligation
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (82.2) (77.2) 69.7 60.7 {12.5) {16.5)
Included in the income statement - -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme {0.1) 0.3 {0.4) {0.8) (0.5) (1.1
Curtailment loss (0.3) - - (0.3) -
Interest {cost)/income (1.4} (1.8) 1.2 1.4 (0.2) (0.4)
(1.8) 2.1) 0.8 0.6 (1.0) (1.5)
Amount recognised in the slatement of comprehensive income (SOCI)
Actual retumn less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 3.8 9.1 3.8 g
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities (0.8) 1.3 - (0.8) 1.3
Remeasurement gain/{loss) due to financial assumption changes 3.3 (11.2) - 3.3 {11.2)
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes - 3.4 - . 3.4
2.5 (6.5) 3.8 o.1 6.3 2.6
Cash flows
Contributions - on 2.6 3.0 2.6 2.9
Benrefits paid 3.6 3.7 (3.6) {3.7) -
Closing pesition as ot 31 March (77.9) (82.2) 73.3 69.7 (4.6) (12.5)

The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 17 years (2021:18 years).
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30. Retirement benefit fiabilities continued

Movement in net defined benefit liability - AVPS Scheme

Defined benefit

Fair value of scheme assets

Net defined benefit liability

obligation
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Em £m £m £m Em £m
Opening unrestricted position as at 1 April (3.0) (2.7) 3.5 3.4 0.5 0.7
Asset restriction ; (0.5) (0.7) (0.5) 0.7)
Opening restricted position as at 1 April (3.0) {(2.7) 3.0 2.7 (0.0) -
Included in the income statement -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme - 0.y 0.1
Interest {cost)/income - 0.1} 0.1 0.1 0.1
} ©.1) } 0.1 : -
Amount recegnised in the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - @n 0.1 {0.1) 0.1
Experience gain/{loss) arising on scheme liabilities - 0.2 - - 0.2
Remeasurement loss due to financial assumption changes 0.1 0.4 - 0.1 {0.4)
Remeasurement gain/{loss) due 1o demographic assumption changes - o.n - - {SRY
Impact of the asset ceiling - - 0.2 - 0.2
0.1 ©.3) (0.1) 0.3 - -
Cash flows
Benefits paid 0.2 01 {0.2) (0.7) -
Closing position as at 31 March 2.7 (3.0) 2.7 3.0 - -

The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 16 years (2021: 16 years).

Total assets amount te £3.2m; however after applying the asset ceiling, as the entity is not entittled do recognise the surplus, total assets amount to £2.7m.

The unrecognised surplus amounts to £0.5m (2027: £0.7m).

History of experience gains and losses

GMPF MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Difference between actugl and expected 44.3 a1 4 8.2 30.8 38 o1 ©.1) 01
returns on assels

% of scheme assets 9.5% 16.8% 3.6% 14.2% 5.2% 13.1% (3.7)% 3.1%

Experience (loss)/gain on liabilities amount (1.8) 4.7 (1.1} 1.4 {0.8) 1.3 - 0.2

% of scheme liabilities 0.4% {0.9)% 0.5% {0.6)% 1.0% {1.6)% - {7.11%

Total amount recognized in SCCI 34.8 (8.8) 21.9 (3.9 6.3 2.6 - -

% of scheme liabilities (7.4)% 1.7% (10.9)% 1.6% {8.1)% (3.2)% - 0.3%
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30. Refirement benefit liabilities continued

Sensitivity analysis

continued

GMPF  MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS TOTAL

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

£m £m £m Em £m

0.5% increase in real discount rate (35.0 (12.7) (5.7) (0.2) (60.0)
0.5% decrease in real discount rate 393 23.1 6.8 0.2 69.4
0.5% increase in RPi inflation” 38.8 18.3 4.6 0.2 41.9
0.5% decrease in RPl inflation* (35.0) (17.4) 4.4) {0.2) (57.0)
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate** N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
0.5% decrease in the salary increase rate** N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1 year increase in life expectancy 18.9 5.8 3.1 0.1 27.9
1 year decrease in life expectancy (18.9) (5.8) (3.1} 0.1) (27.9)

*Including other inflatian linked assumptions such as CPl inflation, solary increases and pension increases. Flease note that a 0. 1% increase in RPI may have a lower impact due to rounding and
g P ry P ¥ p 9

the effect of the caps and floors on pension increases.

** over the FYZ2 period GMPF, STAL ond EMIA were closed to future accrual.
For all schemes, for the morality assumption for the future improvements 1o life expectancy, the actuanies hove used CHi 2021 projections model, 1% long-term frend rate, an initial addition

parameter of O 25% ond detault smoothing, 2020 and 2021 weight parameters.

Mortality base tables have been set as follows: GMPF: Fund-specific Club Vita curves; STAL: 102%/108% of the SAPS Series 3 lables {males/females); EMIA: 96%/106% of the SAPS Series 3

tables fmales/females).

31. Lease liabilities

Land and Ajrport Plant, fixtures
. . . Total

BUI|dmgs infrastructure  and equipment
£m

£m £m £m
At 1 April 2021 227 .6 199.8 8.9 436.3
Additions 1.8 1.5 3.3
Interest charge for the peried 11.8 10.4 0.5 22.7
Payments of liabilities (17.6) {(11.0) 12.2) (30.8)
Remeasurements 0.1 2.7 2.6
Medifications 2.1 2.1
Disposals (0.4) - {0.4)
At 31 March 2022 225.2 201.9 8.7 435.8

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities - discounted

Land and Airport Plant, fixtures
o : ) Total

Buildings  infrastructure  and equipment
£m

£m £m £m
Within 1 year 7.0 0.7 2.1 2.8
Within 2 to 5 years 14.2 3.1 6.0 23.3
ARer 5 years 204.0 198.1 0.6 402.7
Total 2252 201.9 8.7 435.8
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31. Lecse liabilities continued
Maturity analysis of lease ligbilities - undiscounted

The table below shows the gross undiscounted contractual cash outflows in relation to the Group's lease fiabilities as ot 31 March 2022 to the confract

maturity date.

Land and Airport Plant, fixtures
O . . Total

Buildings  infrastructure  and equipment
£m

£m £m £m
In one year or less, or on demand 17.7 11.0 2.2 30.9
In more than one year, but not more than two years 16.8 11.0 2.1 209
In more than two years but not more than five years 446.2 33 4.5 83.8
In more than five years 580.3 602.8 0.4 1,183.5
Total 661.0 657.9 9.2 1,328.1

The expense relating 1o varigble lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities is £0.7m {2021: £0.7m). Expenses relating to both short-

term leases and low-value leases 1s £nil (2021: £nil).

Key lease arangemaents
Monchester City Council fheld within lond' and buildings)

The Group has a commitment in respect of o land lease with Manchester City Council (MCC), a related parly as described in note 36. Ground rent leases are
a base fee of £2.8m, and this elemenl of the lease contribuled £52.4m to the closing lease liability in land and buildings.

Further minimum amounts are payable under the mein lease agreement with MCC, one element variable based on turover, and cne element based on rental
value of a number of properties at Manchester Airport. Tha minimum amounis due on the turnover element are based on a percentage of the prier rent paid.
Management have concluded that these minimum percentage poyments gualify as an in-substance fixed lease payment, contributing £49.9m to the closing
lease liability. These payments are variable depanding on an index or rate and contribute £86.3m to the closing lease liability. The discount rate implicit in the

lease is 5.29%.

The sale of non-core properly in the year represented a tngger event on an additional supplementary lease to the main agreements, where rent was previously
peppercarn. The lease is 275 years from 1 September 2013 and the review resulted in the rent charge increasing lo £0.6m per annum, effective from the
completion date on 7 August 2020. This has resulted in o remeasurement adjusiment of £11.2m in the land and buildings category and the lease contributes

£11.2m to the closing lease liability.

In total, all arrangements with MCC contributes £199.8m of the closing lease liability in land ond buildings, and no element of the annual rent is excluded

from the measurement of the lease liabifity.

UK Power Networks fheld within airport infrastruciure):

A significant portion of the airport infrastructure lease liakility relates to an electricity distribution agreement with UK Power Networks. Included in the
measurement of the lease liahility are minimum amaunts payable under the agreement, relating to a base fee of £8.7m, and £2.4m for copital investment in
the network, contributing £201.9m to the closing lease liability. Remaining amounts of £0.4m are due, relating to a volume and recharge element. These are

variable in nature with no minimum commitment, and therefore excluded in measurement of the lease liability.

Aberdean Standard (held within land and buildings):

The Group has a commitment in relation to a lease of office propery at Manchester Airport with Aberdeen Standard. Included in the measurement of the lease
liability is fixed rent due under the lease, currently £1.0m ond reviewed five-yearly 1o reflect prevailing market rates. The obligations under this lease have
contributed £13.9m 1o the closing lease liobility.

MAG US lounges fheld within fand and buildings):

During the prior year, the Group agreed waivers of the base renf payable at @ number of lounges leased and operaled by MAG in the US. In FY22, a number
of these waivers were remaoved due to improvements in the level of passengers, as well as extensions agreed to concession arrangements. The impact of these
changes was accounted far as a lease modification in the year and the lease liability was increased by £2.1m as a result of the change. We have not applied
the practical expedient in FY21 and FY22.

159 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2022

32. Deferred taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilties and assets recognised by the Group and movements in relation to them during the current and prior years.

Investment Retirement Fair value Short-term

Accelerated properties benefit acquisition timing
capital allowances obligations Tax Losses adjustment differences Total
£m £m Em £m £m €m £m

Total adjusted items recorded in result from

operulions 132.8 32.0 (10.6] 8.7 35.8 9.3 190.8
Charge/{credit) to income 355 15.1 {26.8) 4.8 3.1 31.7
Charge/{credit) to equity - - 15.9 o 16.0
At 31 March 2022 168.3 47.1 5.3 (35.5) 40.7 12.4 238.3
At 1 April 2020 122.5 84.3 {8.8) 33.7 9.5 241.2
Charge/{credit) to income 10.3 6.0) (8.7} (2.7} 0.2 (6.9}
Charge/{credit) to equity - - {1.8) - - .9) (2.2}
Reclassified to assets held for sale - (46.3) - - - (46.3)
Deferred Tax on acquisitions - - - 4.8 4.8
At 31 March 2021 132.8 32.0 {10.6) {8.7) 35.8 2.3 190.6

Deferred tox charge/{credit) includes the impact of @ change in rate of carporation tax of £55.5m {2021: nil).

The deferred tax asset and liability amounts at 31 March 2022 have been calculated at 25% {2021: 19%). Deferred tax assets and liahilities have been offset in
the disclosure above. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balance for financial reporting purposes:

2022 2021
£m £m
Deferred tax iabilities (273.8) (209.9)
Deferred tax osset 35.5 19.3
{238.3) (190.6)

33. Other non-cutrent lichilities
2022 2021
£m £m
Accruals and deferred income 3.9 6.6
Capital-based grants 16.4 15.5
20.3 22.1

Capital based grants relate io funding provided towards airport infrastructure and airspace research at Manchester and Stansted Airports, Amortisation of these
grants begins when the underlying asset they relate to is brought info use, with the amortisation period aligning to the useful life of the asset, At 31 March
2022, the remaining amortisation period for the amortising capital based grants, as a weighted average, is approximetely 25 years,
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34, Share capital and share premivm

Ovrdinary shares of £1 each

Number of Share
shares' Share capital premium Total
m Em £m £m
Issued, called up and fully paid
At 31 March 2022 316.6 316.6 743.3 1,059.9
At 31 March 2021 316.6 316.6 743.3 1.0R9 @

' The shares have a nominal value of £1.

Details of classes of shares in issue and their particulars can be found in note 7 to the MAHL Company accounts.

35. Reserves

Foreign
Hedging currency Retained
reserve reserve earnings Total
£m £m £m £m
At T April 2021 1.0 (3.5) (59.5) (62.0)
Result for the year - - (321.3) (321.3)
Foreign exchange movement, net of tax - 1.2 - 1.2
Transter from hedging reserve to foreign currency reserve’ (1.0} 1.0 - -
Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities, net of tax - - 48.4 48.4
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax - - (1.3) {1.3)
As at 31 March 2022 - (1.3} {333.7} (335.0}
2022 2021
£m £m
Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' funds
Opening shareholders’ funds 297.9 1,345.7
Total recognised income for the year (272.9} {401.2)
Foreign exchange movement, net of tax 1.2 5.1
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax (1.3)
Hedging gain - 2.4
Share issue - 56.1
Dividends paid in the year - -
Equity shareholders' funds as at 31 March 724.9 997.9

" The hedge brought forward frem FYZ21 relales to the net investment in an overseas operation. This forms part of the foreign currency reserve where movements are
recognised through the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. Therefore the hedge movement has been linked to the underlying transaction which formed the

reserve,

161 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2022

36. Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

2022 2021
£m £m
Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not been provided for in the financial statements 21.8 18.4

The Group has performance bonds and other items arising in the normal course of business amounting to £2.9m of 31 March 2022 {2021: £2.8m). As part
of its investment in Airport City the Group has agreed to pay a further equity contribution up to a maximum of £12m if required.

Additionally as part of the Group's net zero 2038 cammitment the Group has committed to provide £10m of funding for a sustainable transport fund.

37. Related party transactions

The ultimate parent entity is Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, a company registered in England and Wales. The ultimate controlling entity is Manchester
Airports Holdings Limited.

In FY21 as port of MAG's strategic finance response ta the COVID-19 pandemic the Group secured an injection of £300m cash in the form of shareholder
loans. In FY22 there were no new or additional shareholder loans scught or granted, and interest payable upon those shareholder loans has continued to be

deferred until it can be paid and covenant compliance permits payments to be made.

Transactions involving Manchester City Council and the other council shareholders

Manchester City Council (MCC is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited as MCC owns 35.5% of the share capital of the Company.

As ot 31 March 2022 the amount of loans outstanding owed to MCC by the Group was £313.9m (2021: £313.9m]. Manchester Airport Finance Heldings
Limited made loan repayments of £nil (2021 £nil) to MCC during the year and paid interest of £nil (2021: £nil).

As at 31 March 2022 the amount of icans outstanding owed to the other nine councils (each of which is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings
Limited by virtue of its shareholding) by the Group was £267.9m (2021: £268.0m). Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited made loan repayments of
£nil (2021: £nil) 1o the other nine councils during the year and paid interest of £nil (2021: £nil).

Interest during the year has been accrued on the shareholder loans 1o the value of £34.6m (2021: £28.8m) for MCC and £29.7m (2021: £27 5m) for the
other nine councils. The cumulative interest accrual on the shareholder loans is £76.8m as at 31 March 2022 (2021: £42.2m) for MCC and £66.2m (2021:
£36.5mj} for the other nine councils.

Included in external charges are charges for rent and rates amounting to £36.5m (2021: £32.2m) and other sundry charges of £1.0m (2021: £0.3m). The
majority of these amounts are due to MCC. The remainder are collected by MCC and distributed to other local autherities.

Curing the year, amounts of Enil (2021. £37.4m) were received from MCC and the nine borough councils.

Transactions involving IFM

The IFM Glokal Infrastruciure Fund (IFM GIF) (which is advised by IFM Investors PTY Ltd) is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited as IFM owns
35.5% of the share capital of the Company. During the year, the Group was party to the following transactions with IFM.

As at 31 March 2022 the amount of loans cutstanding owed to IFM by the Group was £320.1m (2021: £320.1m). Manchester Airport Finance Holdings
Limited made loan repayments of £nil {20271 Enil) to IFM during the year and paid interest of Enil {2021: £nil).

Interest during the year has been accrued on the shareholder loans to the value of £35.4m (2021: £31.0m). The cumulative interest accrual on the foan as at
31 March 2022 15 £78.7m (2021: £43 3m).

Transactions involving associate

As at 31 March 2022 the amounts owing from the associate were £nil {2021: £nil) and amounts owed to the associate were £nil (2021: £0.1m). Net ossets of
£nil (2021: Enil}.

During the year, transactions amounting o £1.3m {2021: £0.8m) were mode with MAG's associate.

Transactions with pension schemes

The Group operates one defined contribution pension scheme and four defined benefit pension schemes. The contribuiions made by the Group to those
schemes during the yeor are detailed in mote 30.
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38. Reconciliation of net cash flow to mavement in net debt

Foreign Other Other
exchange Cashflow non-cash
2021  movement Movements  movements 2022
£m £m £m £m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 5421 0.4 (53.9) - 488.6
Cash on short term deposit - - - - -
Ccéb and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of financial 5491 0.4 (53.9) i 488.6
position
Overdrafts 11.9 - {13.8) - (25.7)
Total cash and cash equivcﬂenfs (including overdrcﬁs) 530.2 0.4 (67.7) - 462.9
Current debt - - - - -
Non-current debt (2,888.3) - 2.4 (97.3) (2,983.2)
Met debt [2,358.1) 0.4 [65.3) {97.3) {2,520.3)
IFRS 16
Current debt (7.9} - 6.1 {8.0) (*.8)
iNon-current debt (428.4) - 2.0 0.4 (426.0)
(436.3) 8.1 {7.6} {435.8)
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39. Impact of IFRS 16 upon primary statements

The purpose of these pages is to provide a reconciliation from the financial results to the pro-forma statements with the previous IAS 17 policies adopted by the
Group {including key APMs such as adjusted EBITDA*}). The Group APMs remain identical to those prior to IFRS 16. Whilst IFRS 16 comparatives are now
available, management still produce the reconciliations below to give the reader greater insight inlo the impact of IFRS 16 on the reporting of Group results.

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2022

Continuing
Centinuing operations
operations Rent and finance 2022 under
2022 as reported costs  Dapraciation IAS 17
£m Em £m £m
Revenue 462.1 . - 462.1
Operating charges excluding depreciation (336.5) (30.8) (367.3)
Adjusted EBITDA* 125.6 (30.8) - 94.8
Deprecialion {238.8) 11.0 [227.8)
Result from operations before adjusted iterns* {(113.2) {30.8) 11.0 {133.0)
Adjusted items
Adjusted items (17.1 - {(17.1}
Result from operations (130.3} (30.8) 11.0 (150.1)
Share of result in associate 0.4 0.4
Gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment properties 7.6 22.6
Finance costs after adjusted items (181.3) 22.1 (15%.2)
Result before taxation (288.6) (8.7) 11.0 (286.3)
Consolidated statement of cashflows for the year ended 31 March 2022
Continuing Payment Centinving
operations recognised as operations
2022 as operating lease 2022 under
reported charge Interest charge repayment IAS 17
£m £m £m £m £m
Cash generated from continuing operations* 145.7 (30.8) 114.9
Result before taxation - discontinued operations (1.7 - 1.7
Finance income - discontinued operations -
Non cash movements - discontinued operations 1.7 1.7
Interest paid {83.7) 22.7 {61.0)
Tax paoid {0.4) - i0.4)
Net cash used in operating activities 61.6 (30.8) 22.7 53.5
Net cash used in invesfing activities {118.4) - (118.4)
Net cash from/(used in} financing activities (10.5) - - 8.1 (2.4)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (67.3) (30.8) 22.7 8.1 (67.3)

*As explained in nole 40 Allernative Performance Measures',
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39. Impact of IFRS 16 upon primary statements continued

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022

Additions,
Rent and medifications
2022 finance Opening and 2022 under
as reporfed costs  Depreciclion balance  remeasurement Disposals IAS 17
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-current assefs
Goodwill 20/ 207.7
Intangible assets 88.5 - 88.5
Property, plant and equipment 3.140.9 3,140.9
Right-of-use assets 417.7 11.0 {419.5) {9.6) 0.4
Long-term lease receivahle 11.2 - (11.2)
Investment properties 188.9 - 1889
Investment in associate 11.8 - 1.8
Other long-term asset 4.3 - 4.3
Retirement benefit assels 28.3 - - 28.3
Deferred tax assets - - -
4,099.3 1.0 (430.7) (?.6) 0.4 3,670.4
Current Assets
Assets held for sale 2.1 - - 2.
Inventories 4.0 - - 4.0
Trade and other receivables 36.3 - 86.3
Cash and cash equivalents 488.6 - 488.%6
581.0 - - 581.0
Current Liabilities
Bank overdratt (25.7) (25.7)
Lighilities directly associaled with assets held for sole {0.5) (0.5
Trade and other payables (189.4) (1894}
Deferred income (28.2) (28.2}
Provisions (16.8) (156.8}
Current lease liabilities 2.8) 6.1} 7.9 8.0
Current tax liabilities 8.9 (8.9)
(279.3) 6.1} 7.9 8.0 - {269.5)
Net current assets 301.7 (6.1} 7.9 8.0 311.5
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings [2,983.2) (2.983.2)
Retirement benefit liabilities 6.2) (6.2}
Non-current lease liabilities {426.0) 2.0) 428 4 {0.4)
Deterred tax liabilities (238.3) (238.3)
Provisions 2.1 - - 2.1
Other non-current liabilities (20.3) - - {20.3)
(3.676.1) (2.0 428.4 (0.4) (3,250.1}
Net Assets 7249 8.1 11.0 5.6 {1.6) - 731.8

165 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2022

40. Alternative Performance Measures [APMs)

Overview

The Annuat Report contains cerain alternative performance measures 'AFMs') that are not required under International Financial Repoding Standards (IFRS)
which represents the GAAP under which MAG presents its Group Financial Statements. The Group befieves that these APMs, which are not considered to be a
substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, provide stakeholders with additional helpful information and enable an alternative comparison of performance over

time. APMs may not be considered comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies.

These APMs are primarily used to:

-

-

Provide management with a basis of planning and assessing Group performance;
Set levels of management performance based remuneration;
Calculate covenant compliance; and

Explain Group performance with MAG’s investor base.

Adjusted items
Many of the Group’s APMs are measures prior to the impact of adjusted items.

Applied consistently over tfime, adjusted items are items of inceme and expense that, because of their size, unusual nature, or frequency of the events giving rise
to them, merit separate presentation, as these are incremental and to allew an understanding of the Group’s underlying financial perdformance from its trading

activities. Such items include:

Impairment of assets

Impairment charges related 1o non-current assels are non-cash items and tend to be significant in size. The presentation of these os adjusted items further
enhances the understonding of the ongoing performance of the Group. Impairments of property, intangible assets and other tangible fixed assets are
included in adjusted items if related to a fundamental transformation project or if significant in size. Other impairments are included in underlying results.

Major reorganisation of businesses and costs associated with acquisitions

Restructuring costs are classified as adiusted items if they relate to o fundamental change in the organisational structure of the Group or a fundamental
change in the operating model of a business within the Group. Costs may include redundancy, property closure costs and consultancy costs, which are
significant in size and will not be incurred under the ongoing structure or operating model of the Group. All costs related to the acquisition of businesses

will be classified as adjusted.

Costs associated with the modification of financial instruments, close out of previous financing arrangements upon refinancing

Costs associated with the refinancing and changes to debt facility agreements during the current and prior year are included within adjusted items as they
are significant in size, do not form part of the underlying Irading activities.

Other specific items

Other specific items are recarded in adjusted items where they do not form part of the underlying trading activities of the Group in order to enhance the

undersiqnding Of fhe fincmciql per{ormance of the Group_

Table of definitions for Alternative Performance Measures [APMs) used by MAG

An explanation of the relevance of each APM, and their limitations, is presented in the table below.

Closest Equivalent

Definition
Statutory Measure Purpose i

APM

Income statement measures

The Group's adjusted EBITDA measure is
consistent with the way that Executive Earnings before interest, tax, depreciction and amortisation
tManagement and the Board assess the 1prior to the impact of adjusted items.

Group’s financial performance.

Additionally, it is o key metric used by the

) i Reconciled to GAAP from Result from operaticns measured in
investor community to assess performance

Adjusted EBTDA Result from operations
. accordance with IFRS excluding:
of the Group's operations.

* Depreciation and amortisation (note 4), and;

* The impaoct of adjusted items (note 3).
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40, Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) continued

Table of definitions for Alternative Peformance Measures [APMs) used by MAG continued

APM

Closest Equivalent
Statutory Measure

Purpose I

Definition

Income statement measures

Adjusted EBITDA cn a
frozen GAAP basis

Resull from cperations

Adjusted EBITDA on a frozen GAAP basis is
a core componen! of the Group's leverage
and inleresi cover banking covenants.

Earnings belore interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
prior to the impact of adjusted items and the adoption off
IFRS 16.

Reconciled to GAAF from Result from operations measured in
accordance with IFRS excluding:

* Depreciation and amortisation [note 4);
* The impact of adjusted items [note 3), and;
*  Add back lease charges excluded from

operating expenses as a result of the adoption
ot IFRS 16.

Adjusted Result from
operations

Result from operations

Adjusted

medsure

5 a
whils

result from operations
the GAAP  metric
adjusting for adjusted items.

of

Result from cperations measured in accordance with [FRS
excluding the impact of adjusted items [note 3).

Earnings per share -
aftributable to ordimary,
shareholders before
odjusted items

Basic earnings per
share

per share - afiributable tol
ordinary sharehalders before adjusted items|

provides the Group’s equity holders with o

Earnings

post-tox measure of profitability split by,

class of shares,

Calculated as profit after tax adjusted for the impact off
adjusted items divided by the weighted average of ordinary]
shares (A, B & C shares).

Cashflow measures

Adjusted cash
generated from

operations

Net cash trom
operating activities

This is a a measure of the Group’s cash

from operaton  and and

working capital efficiency ofter adjusting fo

generation

the impact of adjusted items.

Net cash frem oparaling activities before the cash impact of
adjusted tems.

Other measures

Net Debt

Borrowings

Net debt is a prominent metric used by
credit rating agencies and investors o
assess the strength of a company’s balance
sheet.

Borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, The measure
excludes financial lease liabilities calculated under IFRS 16.

Where the Annual Report references ‘Net Debt (including]
IFRS 16)" this aggregates the Net Debt amount and the]

carrying value of lease liabilities

Net Finance Charges
on Net Senior Debt

Finance costs

Met finance charges on net senior debt it's
a core components of the Group's interesj|
cover covenant.

Net finonce costs from the Group’s bonds and RCF less any
finance income from cash and cash equivalents.

Reconciled to GAAP measure Finance costs by excluding:
interest on shareholder loons; pension interest; IFRS 14

inferest (see note 30}

Net Senior Debt

Borrowings

Net Senior Debt is used in the calculation
of the Group's leverage covenant,

Comprising the Group’s Secured funding arrangements
{Bonds and drawndown RCF) less cash and cash equivalents.
Reconciled to GAAP measure Borrowings (by excluding the
carrying value of shareholder loans) less cash ond cash

equivalents.

Calculated from Result

Return on Capital

Employed {{ROCE’)

for the year and Net
Assets

ROCE is a commenly used profitability
metric to assess the efficient allocation of
the Group's resources irrespective of capital

structure.

ROCE is calculated from adjusted operating profit as a
percentage of average capital employed, and on a histerica
cest basis.
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40. Alternative Parformance Measures (APMs) continued

The following analysis provides a reconciliation of each APM to their nearest equivalent statutery measure.

Reconciliation of APMs to Statutory Measures

Note 2022 2021
£m Em
Adjusted result from operations (113.2) (326.3)
Adjjusted ifems deducted fo arrive at APM:
Impairment of assets (%.2) -
Major reorganisation of businesses and cests associated with acquisitions. {3.5) (33.4)
Legal and other items (4.4} (4.9)
(17.1) (38.3)
Result from operations 4 {130.3) (364.6)
Adjusted result from operations (113.2) (326.3)
Add back: Depreciation and amortisation 4 238.8 176.9
Adjusted EBITDA® 125.6 (149.4)
*See next page for reconciliation by segment
Cash generated from continving operations 145.7 (227.8)
Total adjusted iterns in results for continued operations before tax (8.3) 15.9
(8.3) 15.9
Add back of non-cash adjusted items:
Shareholder loan modification gain {8.8) (54.2)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 11.0
Working capital movements, relating to adjusted items (6.6) {2.7)
Curailment {gain)/loss {10.4) 1.9
Non-cash pension settlement losses 2.3 -
Non-cash adjusted items: (12.5) {55.0}
Cash impact of adjusted items to be added back {20.8) (39.1)
Adijusted cash generated from operations 166.5 (188.7}
Result from continuing operations (319.6) {435.2)
Add back: Finance casts 7 181.3 106.8
Add back: Taxotion 9 31.0 {42.4)
EBIT (107.3) {370.8)
Total assets 4,680.3 4,830.2
Current liabilites (279.3) (245.0)
Capital employed 4,401.0 4,585.2
ROCE (EBIT/Capital employed) (2.4)% {8.1]%
Total cash and cash equivalents (including cverdrafis) 462.9 530.2
Non-current debt 29 (2,983.2) [2,888.3)
Net Debt (excluding IFRS 16) (2,520.3) {2,358.1)
Cash at bank and in hand 21 488.6 5421
Overdraff 22 (25.7) {11.9}
Net Cash 462.9 530.2
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40. Altemative Peformance Measures {APMs) continued

Mum;:;?;:; S:::sdt:g Bast Mii:?::: MAG US consolﬁgotropr; Conzzlll-:::j i:g
Airport and other operations
£m Em £m £m £m £m
Results from operations (69.7) (32.1) 10.7 1.0 {(23.1) {113.2)
Adjusted items deducted to arrive at APM: -
Impairment of assets (9.2) - (9.2)
:l:i:;rﬁ;)r:ganisa’rion of businesses and costs associated with (3.5) (3.5)
Llegal and other items (6.0) 4.4 0.3} {1.8) (0.7} (4.4
Total adjusted items {15.2) 4.4 (0.3) {1.8) (4.2) (17.1)
Adjusted result from operations {84.9) (27.7) 10.4 (0.8) (27.3) (130.3)
Adjusted result from operations
Add back: Depreciation and amortisation 116.7 83.8 13.5 6.6 18.2 238.8
Adjusted EBITDA 47.0 51.7 24.2 7.6 4.9 125.6
Note 2022 2021
Finance costs before adjusted items (190.1) (161.0}
Add back:
Interest on shareholder loans 7 103.2 87.2
[FRS 16 interest 22.7 22.4
Pension interast 7 0.9 1.1
Net finance charges on net senior debt (63.3) (50.3)
Note 2022 2021
Borrowings (2,983.2) {(2,888.3)
Add back:
Carrying value of shareholder loans 25 1,062.0 967.5
Cash and cash equivalents 21 462.9 530.2
Net Senior Debt {1,458.3) (1,390.6}

41, Post balance sheet events

Subsequent to the year end, an 27 May 2022 the Group completed the refinancing of its revelving credit and liquidity facilities, comprising o £500m
revolving credit facility and £90m in standby liquidity facilities, each with a five year term, maturing in May 2027, with optional extensions. The liquidity
facility is sized to cover 12 months interest on secured debt and is a 364-day revolving facility with o five year term en each annual renewal. The facilities
replace similar facilities that were due 1o mature in June 2023. These new facilities ensure sulficient headroom throughout the business plan period to

ensure compliance with the Group’s internal treasury policy.
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Company Financial Statements
Accounting policies

Manchester Airports Heldings Limited [the ‘Company’) is @ company limited by shares and incorporated and demiciled in England and Wales in the UK. The
address of the registered office is Olympic House, Manchester Airport, Manchester, M0 1QX.

These financial stalements present information about the Company as an individual undertcking and not about its Group,
These financial staternents were prepared in accordance with Finencicl Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reperting Standard applicable in the UK and

Republic of Ireland {‘FRS 1027 as issued in August 2014. The amendments to FRS 102 issued in July 2015 and effective immediately have been applied. The

preseniation currency of these financial statements is sterling. All amounts in the financial stulements have been rounded to the nearest £million.

in these financial statements, the Company is considered to be o qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 102, and has applied the exemptions available

under this FRS in respect of the following disclosures:
Total adjusted items recorded in result from operations
» statement of cash Hlows and related notes;

* key management personnel compensation;

Total adjusted items recorded in result from continuing operations

Furthermore, as the consolidated financial staterments of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited incfude the equivalent disciosures, the Company has also

taken the exemptions under FRS 102 available in respect of the following disclosures:

* The disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12 Other Finencial Instrument Issues in respect of financial instruments

not felling within the fair value accounting rules of Paragraph 36(4) of Schedule 1.
The cccounting policies set out, unless otherwise stated, have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financicl statements.

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

Functional currency

The Company’s functional ond presentation currency is the pound sterling.

Investments in subsidiaries

These are separate financial statements of the Company. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings

Infercompany balances are staled at historic cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cosh and cash eguivalents comprise cash in hand, bunk deposits and short-term deposits net of bank overdrafts, which have an original maturity of three

manths or less.
Interest payable

Interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
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Statement of financial position
as af 31 March 2027

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments 4 2,352.7 2,352.7
Trade and other receivables 2456
2,598.3 2,352.7
Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 5 247.0 0143
Cash and cash equivalents -
247.0 514.3
Liabilities
Current labilities 6 {252.0) 1271.3)
Net current liabilities/assets (5.0} 243.0
Total assets less current liabilities 2,593.3 2,595.7
Net assets 2,593.3 2,595.7
Capital ond reserves
Share capital 316.6 316.6
Share premium 743.3 743.3
Retained earnings 1,533.4 1,535.8
Total equity 2,593.3 2,595.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 170 to 178 were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 July 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

G\n(?@b l/ 6ML;L

Charlie Cornish, Group Chief Executive, MAG
er o
Iy

Sir Adrian Montague CBE, Chairman, MAG
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Share Share Profit and
Note , R Total
capital premium loss account
Em Em £m Em
Belance at 1 April 2021 316.6 743.3 1,535.8 2,995.7
Result for the year - - (2.4} (2.4)
Balance at 31 March 2022 316.6 743.3 1,533.4 2,593.3
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 3T March 2021
Share Share Profit and loss
; . Total
capifal premium account
£m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2020 316.6 687.2 772.4 1,778.2
Total comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - 765.6 765.6
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Dividend in kind 29.6 29.6
Impairment - (31.8) (31.8)
Share issue in the year 56.1 56.1
Balance at 31 March 2021 316.6 743.3 1,535.8 2,595.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financicl staterments.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 37 March 2022

1. Notes to the income statement

Amounts receivable by the Campany’s auditor and the auditor’s associates in respect of services to the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries, have
not been disclosed as the information has been disclosed on a censolidated basis as noted on page 129. The Directors of Manchester Airports Holding
Limited during the year and their aggregate remuneration is disclosed on a consolidated basis in note & to the consolidated financial stalements, on page

127. The highest paid director disclosed within this note is the highest paid director of the Company.

2. Profit on ordinary activities after taxation of the company
As permifted by Section 408 of the Companies Act, the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account. The result

attributable to the Company is a loss of £2.4m (2021 profit of £765.6m) which is due to inferest payable [note 3). The average number of employees
employed by the Company in the year was nil {2021: nil).

3. Finance Costs

2022 2021

£m £m

Intercompany interest payable 3.2 5.8
Total finance costs 3.2 5.8

Interest payable on intercompany loans was £3.2m {2021: £5.8m), a reduction from prior year as a result of setflements of payable balances, reducing

principal amounts remaining on interest bearing intercompany loans.

4, Investments

Subsidiary undertakings

£m
Cost and net book value

At 1 April 2021 2,352.7
At 31 March 2022 2,352.7

5. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£m £m
Amounts due from subsidiaries - non-current 245.6 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries - current 247.0 514.3
492.6 514.3

Settlement terms on all amounts due to subsidiaries are at o date mutually agreed by both perties to the balance. As ot FY21, the Board approved an
exercise to settle amounts owed by group undertakings across the Group and as they expected these balances to be seftled over the next 12 months,
classified them as ‘current’. The exercise was ongoing at the year end and balances are presented in line with their planned seftlement {within the next

twelve months) and classified as ‘current’ or classified as ‘nan-current’ where settlement is not expected within the next 12 months.

The directors consider that the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates to their fair vaive.

173 Group Financial Statements



Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 Muarch 2022

6. Trade and other payables

2022 2021

£m £m

Amounts due to subsidiaries - current 252.0 271.3
252.0 271.3

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings include an interesi-bearing loan of £250.0m (2021: £270.5m) at 31 March 2022, with interest charged ot an
annual rate of 1.5% (2021: 1.5%) cbove the Bank of England base rote, and all other remaining balances are interest free. Settlement terms on all
amounts due to subsidiaries are at a date mutually agreed by hoth perties to the balance.

As at FY21, the Board approved an exercise fo sellle umounls owed by group undertakings across the Group and as they expected these balances to be
seftled aver the next 12 months, classified them as ‘current’. The exercise was ongoing cf the yeor end and balances are presented in line with their
planned settfement (within the next twelve months) and classified as ‘current” or classified as ‘non-current” where seltlement is not expected within the

next 12 months.

7. Called up share capital

Share Share
Number of shares capital premium Total
m £m £m Em
Issved, called up and fully paid
At 31 March 2022 316.6 316.6 743.3 1,059.9
Al 31 March 2021 316.6 316.6 743.3 1,059.9

Details of shares are given helow:

Share fype Total nominal value Premium
£ £

204,280,000 Ordi Non-Voti i i

' rdinary Non.Voting Shares, issved at £1 nominal 204,280,000 )
value
112,354,000 Ordinary Non-Voting Shares, issued at premium 112,354,000 687,157,064
10 x "A" shares, issued at £1 nominal value 10 -
10 x "B" shares, issued at £1 nominal valve 10
30 x "C" shares, issued at premium 30 56,099,970

Particulars of each class of share:

Voting - each holder of A shares shall be entitied to receive notice of, to attend, speak at and vote at general meetings of the Company. All other classes

of shares do not carry voting rights.

Capital - on a winding up or other return of capital, the assets of the company available shall be applied in the following order of priority:

{A) first, in paying to each holder of A shares, B shares; and non-voling ordinary shares the nominal amount of the aggregate of such shares held by
each such holder pro-rata to their holdings of shares; and

(B) second, in paying the balance to the holders of non-voting ordinary shares pro-rata to their holdings of non-voting ordinary shares.

Income - C sharehclders and ordinary shereholders shall be entitled to dividends, which shall be paycble to the holders pro-rota to their heldings of C
shares/ordinary shares respectively.
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for the year ended 3] March 2022

8. Reserves

Retained
Eamings
Em
At 1 April 2021 1,535.8
Result for the year (2.4)
At 31 March 2022 1,533.4
2022 2021
£m £m

Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' funds
Opening shareholders' funds 2,595.7 1,776.2
Result for the year 2.4) 765.6
Issue of shares in the year - 56.1
Dividend in kind - 29.6
Impairment - (31.8)
Equity shareholders' funds as ot 31 March 2,593.3 2,595.7

9. Subsidiary undertakings

Description of shares

Name of undertaking held Group Company  Principal activity
e
Agency of the Morth Limited® Ordinary £1 shares 100% Holding company
Airportparkingreservations.com® MN/A 100% Trading company
Airport Advertising Limited”™” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Airport City {Assel Munqger} Limited'"? Ord'\nary £1 shares 20% Property h0|diﬁg company
Airport City {General Partner) Limited '’ Ordinary £1 shares 20% Propeny holding company
Airport City Limited Partnership'~ Ordinary £1 shares 20% Praperty holding company
. P rt t
Airport City Management Company [South) Limited' Ordinary £1 shares 100% repeny managemen
company
Airport City (Manchester) Limited'? Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property holding company
Airport City (Manchester) Investments Limited ' Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property holding company
Airport Petroleum Limited®’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% Nen trading
Airport Services International Limited? Ordinary £1 shares 100% Holding company
Bainsdewn Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Property holding company
CAVU Disfribuﬁon (AMER) LLCé' : ({ormeriy Pgrks\eepﬂy,com LLC N/A -‘OO% Trcding company
CAYL ECommerce (EMEA) Limited” {formerly Lookingdparking L Ordinary £1 shares 100% Trading company
5 ‘
CAVU eCommerce (AMER) LLC™  (formerly MAG US Parking N/A 100% Non trading
Management LLC)
. r
CAVU Experiences {(AMER} LLC™  {formerly MAG US Lounge N/A 100% Non frading
Management LLC]
CAVU Holdings (AMEA) Inc®" fformerly MAG US Holdings Inc)  Ordinary $0.01 shares 100% Investment holding company
CAVU Group Limited’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% Trading company
East Midlands Airport Core Property Investments Limited?’ Crdinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Intermediate holding
- company of East Midlands
East Midlands Airport Nottingham Derby Leicester Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% |nter20ti:;nc| Airport
Limited
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Hotels) Limited? Ordinary £1 shares 100% MNon trading
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limited”  Ordinary £1 shares 100% MNon trading
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9. Subsidiary undertakings continued

Description of shares

Name of undertaking held Group Company  Principal activity
el
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Nen trading
Ordinary £1 shares 100%
East Midlands International Airport Limited” 9% cumulative Airport operator
redeemable preference 100%
shares
EMIA Pension Trustee Limiied” Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Pension frustee
1 Investment haldin
Manchester Airpert Aviation Services Limiied‘g'i Ordincry £1 shares 100% 9
company
Investment holdi
Manchester Airport Finance Heldings Limited’ Crdinary £1 shares 100% 100% nd
COmpGny
. Investment holdin
Menchester Airport Graup Finance Limited? Ordinary £1 shares 100% 9
company
Investment holdin
Manchester Airport Group Funding Plc’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% 'ng
compuny
Investment holdi
Manchester Airport Graup Investments Limited’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% N e
company
. Property development
Manchester Airport Group Property Developments Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% pery P
company
Manchester Airport Graup Property Services Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% tNon trading
MAG Airport Limited” Ordinary £) shares 100% Trading company
Manchester Airport Car Park (1 L[mifed? /A 100% Trading company
. Investment holdi
Manchester Airport Graup US Holdings Inc™ Ordinary $0.01 shares 100% covr'npony 9
Manchester Airport Pl Ordinary £1 shares 100% Airport operator
Investrent prope
Manchester Airport Property Investments {Hotels) Limited”” Ordinary £1 shares 100% holding Comp;;yﬁy
. . Investment property
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Industrial} Limited®”  Ordinary £1 shares 100% holding company
. Investment property
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited”” Ordinary £1 shares 100% holding compqpny
Intermediate holding
. . . company for Airport
Manchester Airport Ventures Limited®’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% Advertising  Limited  and
Airport Petroleum Limited
; Investment holdin
MAG Investments US Limited? Ordinary £1 shares 100% g
company
MAG Overseas Investments Limited® Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% MNon trading
MAG US Terminal Management LLC® MN/A 100% Nan trading
MAG DC Pension Trustee Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Pension trustee
MAG Pension Trustee Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Pension trustee
MAG US (Apollo) Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Holding company
MAG US (Apollo) Inc® N/A 100% Non frading
Ringway Developments L1d”” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Ringway Handling Limited™’ Ordinary £1 shares 100% Nen trading
Ringway Handling Services Limited® Ordinary £1 shares 100% Non trading
Shuttlefinder.net LLC™ N/A 100% Trading company
Sirmerdown Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Holding company
Skyparksecure Limited? Ordinary £1 shares 100% Trading company
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9. Subsidiary undertakings continued

Name of undertaking hDelzc"phon of shares Group Company  Principal activity
e
Stansted Airport Limited” Ordinory £1 shares 100% Airport operalar
The Escape Lounge FLL LLC* N/A 100% Trading company
Travel Parking Group Limited” Ordinary £1 shares 100% Holding company
7% cumulative
. d bl ! 100%
Worknorth Limited”’ ;ic‘:sma © preference 0 MNon frading
Ordinary £1 shares 100%
7% cumulative
; b f 100%
Worknorth Il Limited®” ;iifz?a © preference ’ MNon trading
Ordinary £1 shares 100%

' These reflect the Group's 20% investment in Airport City shown within the Group financial statements as an investment in associate,
TI'Ie reg\sfered OHiCe addreSSES {Of eoch O[ rhe Gbo\.’e COmpGﬂieS are IIS*ed bEIOW

- Olympic House, Manchester Airport, Manchester, MO0 1GIX

3 PO Box 532, Town Hall, Albert Square, Manchester, M60 2LA

* Building 34, East Midlands Airport, Castle Donington, Derby DE74 25A

® Enterprise House, Bassingbourn Rood, Stansted Airport, Essex, CM24 1QW

4 251 Litle Fails Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808, United States of America

? Dormant and exempt from preparing and filing individual accounts by virtue of 5394A if the CAO6
All the above companies operate in their country of incorparation or registration, which is England and Wales except where indicated {*} is United States

of America.

10. Parent Guarantee
The subsidiary undertakings listed below are exempt from the Companies Act 2006 requirements relating to the audit of their individua! accounts by

virtue of Section 479A of the Act as this company has guaranteed the subsidiary company under Section 479C of the Act:

Name of undertaking Registered company

number
Agency of the North 07761704
Airport Advedising Limited 02688267
Airport City (Manchester) Investments Limited 08721435
Airport City {(Menchester) Limited 08385545
Airport Petrofeum Limited 02714831
Airport Services International Limited 11415904
Bainsdown Limited 01633068
East Midlands Airpert Investments [Hotels) Limited 07088376

East Midtands Airport Property investments (Industrial) Limited 07088412
Eost Midlunds Airpert Property investments (Offices) Limited 07088415

MAG Overseas Investments Limited 09434983
Manchester Alrport Aviation Services Limited 04160059
Manchester Airport Group Propery Develepments Limited 07088164
Manchester Airport Group Property Services Limited 07088135
Manchester Airport Ventures Limited 04160075
Ringway Handling Services Limited 02638238
Travel Parking Group 072357764
Warknorth |l Limited 03152115
Worknorth Limited 01793483
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2022

10. Parent Guarantee continued

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Cautionary Statement: The Annual Report and Accounts contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the operations, performance and
financial condition of the Group. By their nature, these stafements involve uncertainty since fulure events and circumstances can cause results and
developments to differ materially those anticipated. The forward-locking statements reflect knowledge and infermation avaitable at the dale of
preparation of this Annual Report and the Company undertakes no obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this Annual Report
should be construed os a profit forecast. Unless expressly siated otherwise, the ‘Group’, '"MAG', ‘Manchester Airports Group’, ‘"MAHL or 'the Company’
means Manchester Airports Holdings Limited and its subsidiary underiakings.
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